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A. REPLY TO ECOLOGY'S ARGUMENT REGARDING THE 
SUPERIOR COURT'S DENIAL OF ATTORNEY'S FEES TO 
KPM-NW AND MCNAMARA AS PREVAILING PARTIES ON 
THE UNLAWFUL PROCEDURE ISSUE (RECEIPT OF 
DANGEROUS WASTE WITHOUT A PERMIT). 

Summary of KPM-NW's and McNamara's Proposition on Appeal: 

RCW 4.84.350 requires that the court award attorneys' fees to a 

prevailing party in a judicial review of agency action. KP McNamara 

NW, Inc. ("KPM-NW") and Kerry McNamara prevailed on their claim 

that the Pollution Control Hearings Board ("PCHB") engaged in an 

unlawful procedure or decision making process. The Superior Court erred 

when it declined to award attorneys' fees pending outcome of the matter 

on remand and pending the court's ruling on an unrelated claim. 

Summary of KPM-NW's and McNamara's Argument: 

This issue is addressed at pages 25-27 of Appellants' Opening 

Brief. KPM-NW's and McNamara's argument is that the statute says 

"shall" and that the Superior Court expressly stated that Appellants 

"prevailed". Whatever the PCHB may do on remand, the Board erred in 

failing to follow an established procedure at the first hearing and 

Appellants are entitled to an award of attorneys' fees having successfully 

appealed to the Superior Court. 



Summary of Ecology's Response: 

This issue is addressed at pages 42-48 of Ecology's Opening Brief. 

Ecology claims that the Superior Court erred on the underlying issue of 

unlawful procedure, but that if the Superior Court's holding is affirmed at 

the Court of Appeals that the Superior Court did not deny costs and 

attorneys fees but merely "reserved [its] decision". As additional grounds 

for its opposition, Ecology argues in succession: First, that because KPM­

NW and McNamara prevailed on a "procedural issue" that they did not 

obtain relief on a "significant issue"; Second, that KPM-NW and 

McNamara did not "brief' the court on the basis for an award of attorneys' 

fees; Third, that KPM-NW and McNamara have not shown that they are 

"qualified parties"; Fourth, that KPM-NW and McNamara have not 

proven that their attorneys' fees are "reasonable"; Fifth, that it would be 

unjust to award attorneys' fees against Ecology when the error was the 

Board's; and Sixth, that the Board's error was "substantially justified" and 

in "good faith". 

KPM-NW's and McNamara's Reply: 

KPM -NW and McNamara filed a Motion for Reconsideration 

Regarding Award of Attorney Fees (CP 49) and supporting Memorandum 

(CP 48) with the Superior Court in which they requested "leave to file a 

cost bill with the court for an award of attorneys' fees and expenses 
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relating to the legal issues pertaining to the receipt of non-"RCRA empty" 

totes. CP 49 The Superior Court denied KPM-NW and McNamara leave 

to file their cost bill. CP 51 

Ecology's argument that KPM-NW and McNamara did not obtain 

relief on a significant issue, based on the fact that KPM-NW and 

McNamara prevailed on a "procedural issue", is specious. KPM-NWand 

McNamara did not prevail because of a "procedural issue" at the Superior 

Court - they prevailed because of an unlawful procedure at the PCHB. 

The basis for an award of attorneys' fees was fully briefed to the Superior 

Court. KPM-NW and McNamara were denied the opportunity to file a 

cost bill. This matter should be remanded to the Superior Court for 

submission and review of a cost bill, including a determination of whether 

KPM-NW and McNamara are "qualified parties" and whether the fees 

incurred were "reasonable." 

B. REPLY TO ECOLOGY'S ARGUMENT REGARDING THE 
SUPERIOR COURT'S DECISION IN FAVOR OF ECOLOGY 
ON THE RINSE-WATER ISSUE (WHETHER THE RINSE­
WATER WAS A DANGEROUS WASTE). 

Summary ofKPM-NW's and McNamara's Proposition on Appeal: 

Because the evidence introduced by KPM-NW and McNamara in 

response to Ecology's Summary Judgment motion was sufficient to meet 

their burden on Summary Judgment, and because the Superior Court relied 
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on evidence introduced by Ecology at hearing to uphold the Board's 

decision, the Superior Court erred in failing to remand the issue to the 

Board for an evidentiary hearing to determine whether the rinse-water 

actually met the criteria of a dangerous waste. 

Summary of KPM-NW's and McNamara's Argument: 

This issue is addressed at pages 28-36 of Appellant's Opening 

Brief. KPM-NW and McNamara focus on Ecology and the Board's errant 

premise that "designation as" a dangerous waste (by the generator or by 

Ecology) does a dangerous waste make. Appellants point out that the 

definition of a "dangerous waste" references certain "criteria", and that a 

generator's duty is "to determine" whether the solid waste at issue meets 

any of those criteria (as set forth in WAC 173-303-081, -082, -090 and -

100.) Whether KPM-NW had "identified", "designated", "characterized" 

or "declared" it as such is immaterial for purposes of Ecology's 

jurisdiction. 

Because Ecology bears the burden of proving that the rinse-water 

met the definition of a dangerous waste (a question of fact), and because 

KPM-NW and McNamara met their burden of production on that issue, 

the Court of Appeals should reverse the Board's ruling on Issue #3 and 

remand the matter to the Board for an evidentiary hearing and findings of 
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fact as to whether the rinse-water that was shipped without a UHWM met 

the definition of a dangerous waste. 

Summary of Ecology's Response: 

This issue is addressed at pages 20-30 of Ecology's Opening Brief. 

Ecology argues that Appellant's "determination" based on "process 

knowledge" is controlling (relying in part on language in EPA's December 

18, 1978 rule proposal that "If a person believes his waste to be hazardous, 

he may also simply declare it to be so ... "). To its list of words describing 

the "Policies and Practices" that KPM-NW adopted with respect to the 

rinse-water ("identified", "designated", "characterized" and "declared") 

Ecology adds "certified" at page 27 of its Brief. 

KPM-NW's and McNamara's Reply: 

Ecology continues to conflate the definition of a dangerous waste, 

which is the subject of WAC 173-303-081 (listed discarded chemical 

product), WAC 173-303-082 (listed dangerous waste source), WAC 173-

303-090 (exhibits any dangerous waste characteristic) and WAC 173-303-

100 (meets any dangerous waste criteria aka "toxic" or "persistent 

dangerous waste") with the procedures "for determining" whether or not a 

solid waste is a dangerous waste, which is the subject of WAC 173-303-

070. All of Ecology's arguments regarding "declaration", "designation 

as" and "process knowledge" relate to the procedures for determining 
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whether or not a solid waste is a dangerous waste. None of Ecology's 

arguments address the fundamental jurisdictional question of whether a 

solid waste - in this case KPM-NW's rinse-water - meets the definition of 

a dangerous waste as set out in sections -081, -082, -090 and -100. "If a 

person has checked the waste against each [of sections -081, -082, -090 

and -100] and the waste is not designated, then the waste is not subject to 

the requirements of chapter 173-303 WAC." WAC 173-303-070(3)(b). 

The Washington Supreme Court's decision in U.S. v. Hoffman, 

154 Wn.2d 730, 116 P3d 999, 1003 (2005) is 100% in accord with the 

above paragraph. The court stated: 

For a material to "designate" as dangerous waste, it must 
either be specifically listed as a dangerous waste under WAC 173-
303-081 through -082, exhibit one offour characteristics 
(ignitability, corrosivity, reactivity, or toxicity) under WAC 173-
303-090(5)-(8), or meet the criteria of toxicity or persistence under 
WAC 173-303-100(1). 

It is true that the procedures for determining whether or not a solid 

waste is dangerous waste, WAC 173-303-070 "Designation of dangerous 

waste", give a generator the choice of testing the waste or "apply[ing] 

knowledge of the waste in light of the materials or the process used." 

WAC 173-303-070(3)( c )(ii). But "Evidence that the knowledge or test 

results a person has regarding a waste is not sufficient for detem1ining 

whether or not it designated and/or designated properly." WAC 173-303-
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070(4)(e). In other words, a generator's reliance on "process knowledge" 

would no more capture a waste that does not meet the definition of a 

dangerous waste than it would exclude a waste that does meet the 

definition. 

Appellants KPM-NW and McNamara did not use "process 

knowledge" to determine whether the rinse-water that was shipped 

without a manifest met the definition of a dangerous waste. In fact, the 

record clearly reflects that KPM-NW and McNamara had tested rinse­

water generated in previous years to establish that its rinse-water did not 

meet the criteria of toxicity (the only basis for jurisdiction over the rinse­

water alleged by Ecology) and at most had relied on "process knowledge" 

to determine that its rinse-water continued to be non-toxic. 

Disappointingly, Ecology relies on a December 18, 1978 

U.S.E.P.A. draft rule proposal (Exh. 1) in support of its argument that a 

person may make a solid waste a dangerous waste by simply "declaring" it 

to be a dangerous waste. The quote itself does not support Ecology's 

position; EPA was merely clarifying that it is lawful for a generator to 

"declare" its waste to be a hazardous waste for purposes of making the 

Generator's/Offeror's Certification required as part of a complete a 

Uniform Hazardous Waste Manifest (e.g., "I hereby declare that the 

contents of this consignment are fully and accurately described above ... ") 
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(Exh. 2) if the person simply believes the waste is hazardous. The greater 

problem with Ecology's argument is that EPA subsequently abandoned 

the 1978 rule making (proposed 40 CFR Part 250) in favor of the 

regulatory regime in effect today, first promulgated May 19, 1980. 45 FR 

33066 et seq. (Exh. 3) In its final rulemaking the EPA placed the 

definition of a hazardous waste in an entirely separate "Part" (40 CFR Part 

261.3 "Definition of a hazardous waste") from a generator's duty to 

determine whether his solid waste is a hazardous waste (40 CFR Part 

262.11 "Hazardous Waste Determination"), thus clarifying the distinction 

between the "definition" of a hazardous (or dangerous waste) and the duty 

"to determine" upon which Ecology bases its arguments today. 

Even more disappointing is Ecology's failure to provide any 

authority for its statement (at page 23 of its Opening Brief) that "[O]nce 

waste is designated as dangerous, its management must comply with the 

state's dangerous waste regulations." Ecology draws this most important 

conclusion from United States v. Hoffman, 154 Wn.2d 730, 116 P.3d 990 

(2005), but the extrapolation is a bridge too far. The Washington Supreme 

Court in Hoffman was asked to interpret the Clean Priority Act, 

RCW 70.1 05E, relating to management of so-called "mixed waste", 

meaning in part dangerous waste mixed with radioactive waste. The Court 

ruled that the requirement for "actual characterization" in the CPA - a 
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term not found in the dangerous waste regulations at issue in this case -

could be satisfied through use of "process knowledge." But nowhere does 

the Court hold that once waste is designated as dangerous that its 

management must comply with the state's dangerous waste regulations. 

Every federal case that Appellants have reviewed included as an 

element of the State's or EPA's claim of hazardous waste violations that 

the State or EPA prove that the material at issue was a hazardous waste 

identified or listed under subchapter III of the Resource Conservation and 

Recovery Act ("RCRA"). For example, see U.S. v. Self, 2 F3d 1071 

(C.A. 10, Utah 1993) (Exh. 4): 

SCGC erroneously believed (which we understand) that the 
natural gas condensate was a hazardous waste and, therefore, 
prepared a manifest for the shipment. SCGC was only required to 
ship the natural gas condensate under a RCRA manifest if it was, 
in fact, hazardous waste. * * * Because the natural gas condensate 
was not a hazardous waste, the manifest was not required "for 
purposes of compliance with [RCRA} regulations." 42 Us.c. Sec. 
6928(d)(3) . Therefore, the government'sfailure to prove that 
natural gas condensate was a hazardous waste renders its proof 
on count 3 insuffiCient as a matter of law. 

Self, 2 F3d at 1083. In fact, U.S.E.P.A. was rebuked by a federal 

Administrative Law Judge in the earliest days of RCRA enforcement for 

advancing the same argument that Ecology now urges on the Washington 

Court of Appeals. In In Re Quaker State Oil Refining Corp., reported at 

1986 WL 69020 (February 6,1986) (Exh. 5), U.S.E.P.A. took the position 
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that "if a facility mistakenly identifies a waste managed by its facility as a 

hazardous waste, it must live with that decision forever more even though 

subsequent evaluations determine that the material should never have been 

listed in the first place." The ALJ found this approach to be "illogical" . 

The ALJ wrote in his opinion: 

Under the circumstances in this case, it occurs to me that the 
Respondent 's conduct in regard to this material was certainly 
consistent with one who wanted to take every precaution to assure 
itself that no harm to man or the environment would occur and 
chose to take the conservative approach and handle this material 
in a way which is mandated by the regulations as though it were, 
in fact, a hazardous waste. Certainly, the Respondent should not 
be punishedfor its honest mistake and its zeal in electing to abide 
by what it perceived to be applicable regulations and requirements 
in regard to the material in question. 

Based on the entire record before me, I am of the opinion that the 
solid waste in question is not, in fact, a hazardous waste as defined 
by the regulations either as to its source of generation under the 
listing requirements nor as to its constituents by their 
characteristics. Having determined that the material in question is 
not K049 and is not, in fact, a hazardous waste of any description, 
there is no necessity to make a determination as to what penalty 
would be appropriate since there was no violation of RCRA. 

All that Ecology's evidence establishes is that KPM-NW adopted 

"Policies and Practices" (Exh. 1 of Appellants' Opening Brief) in which it 

promised to "designate" future rinse-water "as dangerous waste" as an 

"additional protective measure" to address concerns that Ms. Williams had 

about variability of toxicity of the rinse-water. CP 13 (Adm. Record-

PCHB Hearing Transcript pp. 292, 11. 16-19.) It was a "best management 
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practice". CP 13 (Adm. Record - PCHB Hearing Transcript pp. 294, 11.5-

6.) At most, the "Policies and Practices" is evidence that the rinse-water 

that was shipped without a UHWM could have been a dangerous waste. 

In opposition to this evidence KPM-NW submitted Mr. McNamara's 

Declaration (Exh. 2 of Appellants' Opening Brief) in which he testified 

"The rinse-water generated by KPM-NW is not dangerous waste" and 

explained in detail why the rinse-water could not have been a dangerous 

waste. KPM-NW and McNamara do not believe that the evidence offered 

by Ecology (e.g., that the rinse-water could have been dangerous waste) 

was sufficient to meet Ecology's burden on this element of its claim, but if 

Ecology's evidence was sufficient to shift the burden of production to 

KPM-NW and McNamara then the evidence offered by KPM-NW and 

McNamara was sufficient to create a genuine issue of fact as to whether 

the rinse-water that was shipped without a UHWM met the definition of a 

dangerous waste. 

The Superior Court made two alternative rulings in upholding the 

Board's decision against KPM-NW and McNamara on the rinse-water 

issue, neither of which should be upheld by this court. One ruling was that 

"Inspector Williams' positive dangerous waste test post dated [the earlier 

toxicity tests] and establishes a new foundation for future action." CP 51 

As Appellants noted in their Opening Brief at page 36, the Superior Court 

11 



erred in this regard because the test referenced by the Court was of a 

different waste and for a characteristic that was not at issue with respect to 

the rinse-water. The Superior Court's other alternative ruling was that 

Mr. McNamara's Declaration was not "admissible at trial". CP 51 The 

Superior Court erred in this regard because the Declaration was 

admissible, as it was based on Mr. McNamara's personal knowledge, and 

at a minimum was admissible given the low bar for admissibility set by 

the Board. In any event, it was not proper for the Superior Court to make 

these evidentiary rulings; rather, the Superior Court should have remanded 

the matter to the Board just as the Court of Appeals must remand for 

findings of fact by the Board. 

Given the posture of this case, the Court of Appeals should dismiss 

Ecology's claim regarding the rinse-water entirely because Ecology failed 

to offer sufficient probative evidence that the rinse-water met the 

definition of a dangerous waste. In the alternative, the Court of Appeals 

should remand the rinse-water issue (Issue #3 - "Did the appellant 

"inappropriately dispose of' dangerous waste ... ) to the Pollution Control 

Hearings Board for an evidentiary hearing and decision regarding whether 

the rinse-water actually met the definition of a dangerous waste. 
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c. REPLY TO ECOLOGY'S ARGUMENT REGARDING THE 
SUPERIOR COURT'S DECISION IN FAVOR OF ECOLOGY 
ON THE ISSUE OF KERRY MCNAMARA'S PERSONAL 
LIABILITY. 

Summary of KPM-NW's and McNamara's Proposition on Appeal: 

The Superior Court erred in finding Kerry McNamara personally 

liable with respect to the alleged rinse-water violations because the 

standard ofliability is established by RCW 70.1 05.080(1) ("procures, aids 

or abets") or alternatively because liability under the "responsible 

corporate officer doctrine" requires more than the "ability to control the 

facility" and "knowledge of the violation" upon which the Superior Court 

based its ruling. 

Summary of KPM-NW's and McNamara's Argument: 

This issue is addressed at pages 37-40 of Appellant's Opening 

Brief. KPM-NW's and McNamara's first argument is that Issue #1 as 

certified by the Board expressly limits the basis upon which it could find 

Mr. McNamara personally liable to RCW 70.1 05.080(1) ("procures, aids 

or abets"). Secondarily, KPM-NW and McNamara argue that if the 

common law "responsible corporate officer" doctrine does apply, the 

Board failed to determine what duty was imposed upon McNamara "by 

the interaction of [his] authority and the statute" with respect to rinse-

water shipments. 
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Summary of Ecology' s Response: 

This issue is addressed at pages 30-34 of Ecology' s Opening Brief. 

Ecology's first argument is that the last sentence ofRCW 70.105.080(1) 

("procures, aids or abets") is not the basis for Mr. McNamara's statutory 

liability but rather the first sentence of that statute ("every person who 

fails to comply ... "). Ecology's second argument is that the common law 

"responsible corporate officer" doctrine is a separate basis for 

Mr. McNamara's personal liability and that there is no requirement that 

"wrongful action" be shown for the doctrine to apply. 

KPM-NW's and McNamara's Reply: 

McNamara is not a "person" to whom the first sentence of 

RCW 70.1 05.080(1) applies because the corporate entity provides a shield 

from liability from corporate acts. If Mr. McNamara personally 

committed some violation of the dangerous waste rules with respect to the 

transport of rinse-water without a Uniform Hazardous Waste Manifest 

then he could be such a "person", but the evidence is that every act by 

Mr. McNamara was in conformance with the dangerous waste rules. 

Ecology's argument that "Kerry McNamara is a person and is liable for 

the violations at [KPM-NW] because of his actions at the facility" is 

wholly unsupported by any reference to the factual record. It is important 

to remember that Mr. McNamara was not present at the facility when the 
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subject rinse-water was shipped, and that prior to those shipments he had 

given clear instructions to his employees that the rinse-water was to be 

shipped by a certified transporter and under a UHWM. 

Failure to act is the provenance of the "responsible corporate 

officer" doctrine, Ecology's second basis for holding Mr. McNamara 

liable with respect to the rinse-water shipments. KPM-NWand 

McNamara proffer three reasons why the "responsible corporate officer" 

doctrine is not a basis for Mr. McNamara's personal liability. First, RCW 

70.105.080(1) is the exclusive basis for liability afforded by the 

Washington legislature. Ecology provides no authority for application of 

the "responsible corporate officer" doctrine in the context of dangerous 

waste violations that are the subject ofRCW 70.105.080(1). Second, 

Ecology does not address the element of duty required by the court in 

Lundgren, that the "responsible corporate officer" doctrine imposes 

liability upon corporate officers who fail "to fulfill the duty imposed by 

the interaction ofthe corporate agent's authority and the statute." Third, 

Mr. McNamara's liability with regard to the rinse-water violation was 

decided on Summary Judgment. There was at a minimum a genuine issue 

of fact as to whether Mr. McNamara failed to fulfill any duty imposed 

upon him "by the interaction of the corporate agent's authority and the 

[dangerous waste] statute." If the Court of Appeals holds that the 
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"responsible corporate officer" doctrine can be a basis for the personal 

liability of a corporate officer for violations of the Washington dangerous 

waste rules, then the Court should remand the issue ofMr. McNamara's 

personal liability (certified Issue #1) to the PCHB for an evidentiary 

hearing and findings. 

D. RESPONSE TO ECOLOGY'S ARGUMENT REGARDING THE 
SUPERIOR COURT'S DECISION IN FAVOR OF KPM-NW ON 
THE UNLAWFUL PROCEDURE ISSUE (RECEIPT OF 
DANGEROUS WASTE WITHOUT A PERMIT). 

Summary of Ecology's Proposition on Appeal: 

There was no illegal procedure because the Board properly decided 

the appeal on the facts before it. 

Summary of Ecology's Argument: 

This issue is addressed at pages 35-42 of Ecology's Opening Brief. 

Ecology argues that "The Board did not need to consider the legal issue 

[Issue #5] posed by McNamara [and certified by the Board] because the 

facts were dispositive" and that KPM-NW violated "the regulations" [e.g., 

other regulations] regardless of how that legal issue was resolved. 

Alternatively, Ecology argues that the Board's Order on Reconsideration 

"gave explicit notice to the parties" that the facts of the "nature and 

extent" of McNamara's receipt of dangerous waste would be in dispute at 
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hearing and that Appellants were therefore not "substantially prejudiced" 

in this case. 

KPM-NW's and McNamara's Response: 

APPLICABLE LAW 

The rules of practice and procedure of the Pollution Control 

Hearings Board are found at Chapter 371-08 of the Washington 

Administrative Code. These rules provide as follows: 

WAC 371-08-435 -Prehearing Conferences 

(2) The issues which the pre hearing order identifies for the 
hearing shall control the subsequent course of the appeal, and 
shall be the only issues to be tried at the hearing, unless modified 
for good cause by subsequent order of the board or the presiding 
officer. 

The Washington Administrative Procedures Act, codified at RCW 

34.05.010 et seq., provides as follows: 

RCW 34.05.570 -Judicial Review 

(3) Review of agency orders in adjudicative proceedings. The 
court shall grant relieffrom an agency order in an adjudicative 
proceeding only if it determines that: 

* * * * * 
(c) The agency has engaged in unlawful procedure or 

decision-making process, or has failed to follow a prescribed 
procedure; 

WAC 173-303-040 provides the following definition: 

"Generator" means any person, by site, whose act or process 
produces dangerous waste or whose act first causes a dangerous 
waste to become subject to regulation. 
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WAC 173-303-180 "Manifest" provides that: 

A generator who transports, or offers for transport a 
dangerous waste for off-site treatment, storage, or disposal, or a 
treatment, storage, and disposal facility who offers for transport 
a rejected dangerous waste load, must follow all applicable 
procedures described in this section. 

(1) Form and contents of dangerous waste manifests. 40 CFR 
Part 262 Appendix - Uniform Hazardous Waste Manifest and 
Instructions (EPA Forms 8700-22 and 8700-22A and Their 
Instructions) is incorporated by reference. The manifest must be 
EPA Form 8700-22 and, ifnecessary, EPA Form 8700-22A. The 
manifest must be prepared in accordance with the instructions 
for these forms, as described in the uniform manifest Appendix 
of 40 CFR Part 262. 

The Uniform Hazardous Waste Manifest (EPA Form 8700-22) 

(Exh. 2) requires that the "Offeror" of a hazardous waste (in Washington, 

of a dangerous waste) identify the waste by any applicable hazardous 

"waste codes" and make the following certification: 

I hereby declare that the contents of this consignment 
are fully and accurately described above by the proper 
shipping name, and are classified, packaged, marked, and 
labeled/placarded, and are in all respects in proper 
conditionfor transport by highway according to applicable 
international and national government regulations. 

WAC 173-303-160(3)(a) provides: 

Any residues remaining in containers or inner liners that 
are "empty" as described in subsection (2) of this section 
will not be subject to the requirements of this chapter, and 
will not be considered as accumulated wastes for the 
purposes of calculating waste quantities. 

A container is considered "empty" if all wastes in it have been taken out 
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that can be removed using practices commonly employed to remove 

materials from that type of container and no more than one inch of waste 

remains at the bottom of the container or if the volume of waste remaining 

in the container (for containers over one hundred gallons) is no more than 

0.3 percent of the container's total capacity. 

Washington's "Manifest Discrepancies" rule [WAC 173-303-370] 

in effect at the time of the alleged violations (Exh. 9) provided: 

(1) Applicability. The requirements of this section apply to 
owners and operators who receive dangerous waste from off-site 
sources. 

* * * * * 
(4) Manifest discrepancies. 
(a) Manifest discrepancies are significant discrepancies 

between the quantity or type of dangerous waste designated on the 
manifest or shipping paper and the quantity or type of dangerous 
waste a facility actually receives. Significant discrepancies in 
quantity are variations greater than ten percent in weight for bulk 
quantities (e.g., tanker trucks, railroad tank cars, etc.), or any 
variations in piece count for nonbulk quantities (i. e., any missing 
container or package would be a significant discrepancy). 
Significant discrepancies in type are obvious physical or chemical 
differences which can be discovered by inspection or waste 
analysis (e.g., waste solvent substitutedfor waste acid). 

(b) Upon discovering a significant discrepancy, the owner or 
operator must attempt to reconcile the discrepancy with the waste 
generator and transporter. If the discrepancy is not resolved 
within fifteen days after receiving the waste, the owner or 
operator must immediately submit to the department a letter 
describing the discrepancy and attempts to reconcile it, and a copy 
of the manifest or shipping paper at issue. 

(5) Reasons for not accepting waste shipments. The owner or 
operator may decide that a dangerous shipment should not be 
accepted by his facility. 

(a) The following are acceptable reasons for denying receipt 
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of a dangerous waste shipment: 
(i) The facility is not capable of properly managing the type(s) 

of dangerous waste in the shipment; 
(ii) There is a significant discrepancy (as described in 

subsection (4) of this section) between the shipment and the wastes 
listed on the manifest or shipping paper; or 

(iii) The shipment has arrived in a condition which the owner 
or operator believes would present an unreasonable hazard to 
facility operations, or to facility personnel handling the dangerous 
wasters) (including, but not limited to, leaking or damaged 
containers, and improperly labeled containers). 

(b) The owner or operator may send the shipment on to the 
alternate facility designated on the manifest or shipping paper, or 
contact the generator to identify another facility capable of 
handling the waste and provide for its delivery to that other 
facility, unless, the containers are damaged to such an extent, or 
the dangerous waste is in such a condition as to present a hazard 
to the public health or the environment in the process of further 
transportation. 

(c) If the dangerous waste shipment cannot leave the facility 
for the reasons described in (b) of this subsection, then the owner 
or operator must take those actions described in the contingency 
plan, WAC 173-303-350(3)(b). 

The federal Manifest Discrepancies rule in effect at the time, and 

subsequently adopted by the Washington Department of Ecology, is found 

at 40 CFR § 264.72 (promulgated March 4, 2005) and at WAC 173-303-

370 (proposed March 2008 and promulgated July 31, 2009): 

(c) Upon discovering a significant difference in quantity or 
type, the owner or operator must attempt to reconcile the 
discrepancy with the waste generator or transporter. If the 
discrepancy is not resolved within fifteen days after receiving the 
waste, the owner or operator must immediately submit to the 
department a letter describing the discrepancy and attempts to 
reconcile it, and a copy of the manifest or shipping paper at issue. 

(d)(i) Upon rejecting waste or identifying a container residue 
that exceeds the quantity limits for "empty" containers setforth in 
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WAC 173-303-160(2), the facility must consult with the generator 
prior to forwarding the waste to another facility that can manage 
the waste. If it is impossible to locate an alternative facility that 
can receive the waste, the facility may return the rejected waste or 
residue to the generator. The facility must send the waste to the 
alternative facility or to the generator within sixty days of the 
rejection or the container residue identification. 

(ii) While the facility is making arrangements for forwarding 
rejected wastes or residues to another facility under this section, it 
must ensure that either the delivering transporter retains custody 
of the waste, or, the/acility must provide/or secure, temporary 
custody 0/ the waste, pending delivery of the waste to the first 
transporter designated on the manifest prepared under paragraph 
(e) or (f) of this section. (emphasis added) 

Pursuant to "paragraph (e) or (t)" referenced in subparagraph (d)(ii) 

above, the receiving (rejecting) facility is required to prepare a new 

Uniform Hazardous Waste Manifest ("UHWM") for shipment of the 

offending container to either an alternate facility or back to the generator. 

FACTS 

KPM-NW is a re-conditioner and recycler of industrial plastic 

containers. KPM-NW cleans the containers and re-sells them or destroys 

containers that cannot be cleaned, shipping the scrap plastic to China for 

recovery. CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Kerry McNamara), p. 391, 11.5-17.] 

Customers contact KPM-NW to request shipping instructions and are 

required to certify that the containers are completely empty and that they 

have all their fittings in place. CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Kerry 

McNamara), p. 391-392, 11.18-8, p. 402,11.17-21.] Containers are either 

transported to the KPM-NW facility by the customer {CP 13 [Hearing 
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Transcript (Kerry McNamara), p. 402-403, 11. 3-17]} or by common 

carrier (freight service) {CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Kerry McNamara), p. 

392,11. 18-22]}. 

If a non-conforming ("heavy") container arrived on a truck owned 

and operated by the customer (the generator) the container would be sent 

back to the customer on the same truck ("We just didn't remove those, we 

left them.") CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Kerry McNamara), p. 403, 11. 11-

17.] 

If a non-conforming ("heavy") container arrived by common 

carrier the container would be segregated ("We would isolate those 

containers") and a KPM-NW representative would contact the "emptier" 

(the customer) to confirm what was in the container and, if it contained 

dangerous waste, to determine the appropriate disposition of the material. 

CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Kerry McNamara), p. 393, 11. 16-22.] Residue 

from two or more non-"RCRA empty" containers was sometimes 

combined and managed (shipped and disposed of) off-site according to its 

designation as dangerous waste. CP 13 [Hearing Transcript, pp. 118-119, 

11. 25-4.] 

During one or more inspections, Ecology inspector Deanne 

Williams observed in the KPM-NW unloading area "several totes ... that 

contained a significant amount of residue", which she estimated as being 
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more than the amount allowed under the definition of an "empty 

container". CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Deanne Williams), pp. 111-112,11. 

13-16.] Ms. Williams observed labels on these totes that indicated to her 

that the contents of these several containers could be a dangerous waste. 

CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Deanne Williams), p. 112, 11. 18-24.] 

Ms. Williams testified that she was told that KPM-NW had not contacted 

the generators of the waste and that KPM-NW was going to "work" the 

material in those containers. CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Deanne 

Williams), pp. 112-113,11. 25-3.] By her "immediate action letter" dated 

October 20, 2008, Ms. Williams directed that KPM-NW "Immediately 

cease accepting totes that are not 'empty' as defined in WAC 173-303-

160." She further directed that "Within two days of receipt of this letter" 

KPM-NW "inventory all totes stored outside and determine which totes 

contain over one gallon of dangerous waste residue" and otherwise ensure 

that the non-empty totes would be "properly managed." She further 

directed that KPM-NW "return non-empty totes to the generator or 

designate and dispose of the waste off-site." Ms. Williams concluded her 

"immediate action letter" as follows: 

KP McNamara has repeatedly violated WAC 173-303, and 
Ecology has repeatedly expressed concerns about KP 
McNamara's acceptance o/totes that are not "empty". At this 
time, Ecology is considering/ormal enforcement as allowed under 
the Hazardous Waste Management Act (RCW 70.105.080). 
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Failure to take the actions defined in this Immediate Action letter 
could directly result in enforcement, including a penalty of up to 
$ 10,000 per day per violation. 

CP 10 [Ecology Hearing Exhibit R-8.] 

The Department of Ecology's December 3,2008 "Notice of 

Penalty Incurred and Due" assessed a $10,000.00 penalty based on the 

following finding of the Department: 

173-303-280 and -400: Failure to obtain a permit or to comply 
with the requirements for operating a dangerous waste treatment, 
storage and disposal (TSD) facility. KP accepted totes from off­
site generators. These totes were not "empty" as defined in WAC 
173-303-160(2), and contained significant amounts of ignitable, 
extremely hazardous and toxic dangerous waste. KP operated as 
an unpermitted dangerous waste treatment, storage and disposal 
facility when it accepted the totes containing dangerous waste. 

CP 10 [Ecology Hearing Exhibit R-13.] 

At hearing, Ecology inspector Deanne Williams testified that she 

did not recognize any distinction between when a facility "receives" a 

shipment and when a facility "accepts" a shipment. She testified: 

[A]s far as semantics go, receive, accept, there's no difference for me as 

an inspector. 

CP 13 [Hearing Transcript Day 2, p. 339, 11. 13-15.] She continued her 

answer: 

The difference that I would say, you know, whether you call it received or 

accepted, if it's at the facility and the end result of it being there is that it's 

going to be processed, I would say it's in receipt or accepted. If it's 

sitting on the ground and they're sorting through it, I would say it hasn't 

yet been received or accepted, you know. 
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CP 13 [Hearing Transcript, p. 340, n. 12-20.] 

From the inception of Ecology's enforcement action Ecology has 

interpreted the dangerous waste rules (WAC 173-303-010 et seq.) as 

prohibiting KPM-NW from off-loading non-"RCRA empty" containers. 

Deanne Williams testified: 

Q Okay. Now, when you went out to the facility, what was your 

understanding of the law with respect to receipt? Was it your 

understanding that it was unlawful for K. P. McNamara to even off 

load [aJ non-conforming container, one that contained dangerous 

waste in amounts greater than the non-RCRA empty standards? 

A Yes. 

Q Is that still your understanding of the law today? 

A Yes. 

Q So, to be clear, the law has changed with respect to manifest 

discrepancies, at least in Washington, since the time of these 

inspections; is that right? 

A Yes. 

Q Okay. So, is it your testimony then that under the law as in effect 

then, it was unlawful for them to actually remove them from the 

truck? 

A Yes. 

Q That was your understanding of the law? 

A Yes. 

Q And, so, your enforcement action is premised on that assumption and 

that's what you told K. P. McNamara, wasn't it? 

A Starting in 2005, yes. 

CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Deanne Williams), p. 172-173, n. 8-5.] 
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Also from the inception of Ecology's enforcement activities at the 

KPM-NW facility Ecology has interpreted the dangerous waste rules 

(WAC 173-303-010 et seq.) as requiring that non-"RCRA empty" 

containers be immediately shipped back to the generator under the original 

bill of lading. Deanne Williams testified: 

Q Could K. P. McNamara lawfully put one of those non-conforming 

totes back into transport without a uniform hazardous waste manifest 

based on your understanding of the law? 

A By rejecting a shipment? 

Q By, yeah, just sending it on its way, saying you can't leave it here? 

A And returning it to the generator? 

Q Rejecting the shipment. 

A Yes. 

Q Okay. That's your understanding? 

A Yes. 

CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Deanne Williams), p. 176,11. 13-24.] I 

Similarly, Deanne Williams testified: 

Q My client is telling the Board that the law is that when a non­

conforming shipment arrives at the facility of regulated material, that 

the receiving facility has to take custody of the material and then 

gather whatever information is necessary to fill out a uniform 

hazardous waste manifest and either send it back to the generator or 

to an alternate designated facility, but the pOint is my client's position 

on the law is that they have to take custody of the waste, they can't 

just send it back out and transport it without a hazardous waste 

Deanne Williams testified during her first day on the stand that it was the 
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manifest or without an appropriate deSignated facility being identified. 

But your position even today is that they're required to not take 

possession, to not let it in their yard or on the ground, and send it off 

without a manifest, that's your position; have I stated it correctly? 

A Yes. 

CP 13 [Hearing Transcript, p. 181, ll. 20-1l.] 

In its December 6, 2007 enforcement letter Ecology mandated (on 

threat of penalty) the following "Policies and Practices" with regard to 

non-"RCRA empty" containers: 

Totes (or other containers) that are not "empty" will not be 
off-loaded at KP McNamara in Vancouver. They will not be 
accumulated at the site for any period of time. These containers 
will be shipped directly back to the generatingfacility. 

CP 10 [KPM-NW Hearing Exhibit A-19.] 

Prior to the Hearing before the PCHB, Ecology reaffirmed that the 

violation cited ("Failure to obtain a permit or to comply with the 

requirements for operating a dangerous waste treatment, storage and 

disposal (TSD) facility") was based on KPM-NW's mere receipt of non-

"RCRA empty" containers: 

Ecology unequivocally states that it has never abandoned its 
position that McNamara was required to immediately reject non­
empty totes. Ecology unequivocally states that it has never, and 
will never, adopt Appellants' position that it was good practice, 
lawful or appropriate for McNamara to receive non-empty 
containers and store them without a permit. 

CP 10 [Respondent Department of Ecology's Reply to Appellant's 

Response to Motion in Limine p.3, 11. 14-18.] 
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Ecology inspector Deanne Williams was asked at hearing whether 

Ecology's penalty assessment was based in part on the "90 day 

accumulation" standards for dangerous waste storage applicable to 

generators and she testified as follows: 

Q You assessed a penalty for what you said was the acceptance of 

these totes, and I'm wondering if the basis for that penalty is 

noncompliance with the standards for storage of dangerous waste by 

generators? 

A No, the penalty was assessed for K. P. McNamara operating as an 

illegal treatment, storage and disposal facility. 

CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Deanne Williams), pp. 187-188, 11. 18-16.] 

In her Pre-Hearing Order dated February 9, 2009, Administrative 

Law Judge Kay Brown certified Issue 5 - restating for hearing the 

Ecology finding that "KP operated as an unpermitted dangerous waste 

treatment, storage and disposal facility when it accepted the totes 

containing dangerous waste" - as follows: 

Is appellant required to obtain a permit or to comply with the 
requirements for operating a dangerous waste treatment, storage 
and disposal facility (TSD) facility if appellant receives from off­
site generators containers which are not "empty" pursuant to WAC 
173-30-160 and/or 40 CFR 261. 7(b)(1) and which contain 
dangerous waste if the container was shipped without a hazardous 
(dangerous) waste manifest and its contents were [not f designated 
a "dangerous waste" by the generator? 

2 The parties concur that the February 9, 2009 Pre-Hearing Order at page 2 
mistakenly excluded the word "not" in the phrase " .. . and its contents were [not] 
designated a 'dangerous waste' by the generator." There is no allegation that 
Petitioners accepted or received shipments oftotes that had been identified or 
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CP 10 [PCHB Pre-Hearing Order dated February 9, 2009 (emphasis 

added).] CP 10 [Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Final 

Decision, p. 18-19, ll. 18-3.] 

Only issue number 5 and issue number 3 (concerning the shipment 

of rinse-water offsite) are related to Ecology's penalty assessment 

($10,000.00 each). CP 13 [Hearing Transcript, p.14-15, ll. 8-2.] CP 10 

[Respondent Department of Ecology's Motion in Limine to Exclude 

Evidence at Hearing dated October 8, 2009, page 5, ll. 5-6.] 

"Issue 5 is a question oflaw, not fact." CP 10 [Respondent 

Department of Ecology's Motion and Memorandum in Support of Partial 

Summary Judgment, p. 6, 11. 3-4.] 

On or about April 21, 2009, the duties of ALJ Kay Brown as 

presiding officer were transferred to Andrea McNamara Doyle. CP 10 

[Letter of the Environmental Hearings Office dated April 21, 2009.] 

The Pollution Control Hearings Board initially granted Summary 

Judgment in favor of Ecology on Issue 5 based on a finding that: 

[A}t the time [Appellant KPM-NW} received, consolidated, and 
stored dangerous or hazardous waste from off-site 
sources ... Appellant ... was required to obtain proper permitting 
and observe storage and disposal requirements. 

"designated as" dangerous waste by the generators. See CP 10 [Ecology Motion 
for Partial Summary Judgment page 6, footnote 2.] 
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CP 10 [PCHB Order Granting Motion for Partial Summary Judgment at 

page 19, lines 12 -16).] Petitioners filed a Motion for Reconsideration, 

pointing out that because the Board's finding was not limited to whether 

Appellant's receipt of ("receives") unmanifested non-"RCRA-empty" 

totes required a TSD facility permit that the Board should reconsider and 

reverse its decision on this Issue 5. CP 10 [KPM-NW Motion for 

Reconsideration at pages 3-4.] The Board withdrew its decision in its 

Order on Summary Judgment (As Amended on Reconsideration). In its 

amended decision the Board wrote: 

The Board finds that material facts are in dispute regarding the 
nature and extent of Appellant 's receipt of non-RCRA -empty 
containers from off-site generators containing dangerous waste 
that were shipped without a manifest. These factual disputes 
make it premature for us to reach a legal conclusion on the issue 
of whether K.P. McNamara is required to obtain a permit or to 
comply with the requirements for operating a dangerous waste 
TSD facility by virtue of receiving such containers. The Board 
believes that because there are disputedfacts, conflicting 
interpretations of the law, and potentially significant 
implications for the regulatory scheme involving manifest 
discrepancies, it is appropriate to reserve judgment at this time. 
The Board therefore denies summary judgment on Issue 5 and 
sets this issue over for hearing. 

CP 10 [Order on Summary Judgment (As Amended on Reconsideration), 

pages 19-20 (emphasis added).] 

As the administrative hearing began, ALJ Andrea McNamara 

Doyle reiterated the issues that had been certified for hearing. She stated: 

30 



I wanted to address a number of preliminary issues. I would just state for 

the record that the scope of the issues at hearing have been narrowed as 

a result of motion practice in this case. The order on summary judgment, 

as amended on reconsideration and reissued on November 6 of 2009, 

resolved three of the legal issues in this case and set over four of the 

remaining issues for hearing. It's those four remaining issues that the 

Board will be addressing as part of today's hearing. 

CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Opening Statements) p. 6, 11. 16-25.] 

Counsel for Ecology, in her opening remarks, stated: 

This case actually has boiled down to just the four remaining issues as 

certified by the Board in the pre-hearing order. 

CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Opening Statements) pp. 12-13,11. 25-2.] 

And: 

Issue number 5 that has been part of the discussion of this case for 

sometime is whether or not McNamara was obligated to have a permit 

when it received totes that contained above the regulatory definition of 

empty amount of hazardous waste. Ecology has argued this position, 

this board has indicated to us that you want to hear more information on 

this particular issue ... 

CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Opening Statements) p. 14,11.8-15.] 

But in her opening remarks counsel for Ecology also argued that 

the manner in which KPM-NW stored non-"RCRA empty" totes at its 

non-permitted facility was at issue: 

The other [issue], again, discusses the issue that McNamara acted as 

an unpermitted TSD when it received non-empty containers. And then it 

also did not comply with the dangerous waste regulations when it 

received non-empty containers on site. 

31 



CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Opening Statements), pp. 14-15,11. 19-2.] In 

his opening remarks, counsel for Petitioners objected to this expansion of 

the issue. CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Opening Statements), pp. 16-17, 11. 

19-2.] 

Counsel for KPM-NW and McNamara objected to testimony from 

Ecology inspector Deanne Williams regarding the management of non-

"RCRA empty" containers, prompting the following discourse among 

counsel for Ecology (Ms. Barney), counsel for KPM-NW and McNamara 

(Mr. Benke) and the presiding officer of the Board (Ms. Doyle): 

MS. BARNEY: Well, in terms of the issues that remain before the Board, 

the violations as alleged in the order and penalty are still at issue here. 

Those issues were not addressed nor resolved on summary judgment. 

And one of the issues involved in the order is whether or not waste was 

properly being contained and managed and whether or not containers 

were properly labeled and stored correctly. So, the testimony is that 

inspector's observations that directly go to issue number 2 in terms of 

whether or not McNamara was complying or whether they violated the 

regulations as alleged in the order. 

CP 13 [Hearing Transcript, p. 47, 11. 10-21.] PCHB certified Issue #2 was 

stated as follows (CP 10): 

"Did K.P. McNanlara Northwest, Inc. violate the Washington State 
dangerous waste regulations Chapter 173-303 WAC as specified in 
Order No. 62377" 

Counsel and the Presiding Officer continued their discussion about 

the relevance of testimony relating to KPM-NW's management of non-
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"RCRA empty" containers: 

MR. BENKE: And, Your Honor, respectfully, Ms. Barney is wrong. She 

is forgetting the discussion that we had with the hearings officer when we 

determined what issues were going to be litigated. The distinction is 

important. Even if Ms. Barney is right that this is relevant, this 

management of the heels in these containers, that's not what the penalty 

was assessed for. There's a $10,000 penalty assessed for the receipt of 

non-RCRA empty totes, there's a $10,000 penalty assessed for the not 

manifesting of the rinse water, and all this other testimony is irrelevant to, 

at a minimum, irrelevant to those penalty determinations, and I would like 

the Board to keep that in mind. 

MS. DOYLE: Ms. Barney, the penalty that was issued does not tie 

directly to the placarding and labeling; is that correct? 

MS. BARNEY: That's correct, but aren't we still also looking at issue 2 

and, plus, I believe also the reasonableness of the penalty determination 

that the Board makes is based on the entire facts and circumstances of 

the case. Because we have a particular violation that was specifically 

enumerated in the order, it would seem to me that that violation would be 

relevant in terms of the Board's determination of the entire 

reasonableness of the penalty. 

MS. DOYLE: I'm going to overrule the objection at this time. I do think 

that the conduct and the violation that is being discussed at this point 

does fall within the scope of issue number 2 and that still is a live issue in 

the hearing. I think it's a valid distinction to point out that the penalty 

does not relate -- was not specifically tied to this conduct. That's helpful 

for the Board to keep in mind. 

CP 13 [Hearing Transcript, p. 47-49, 11. 22-5.] 
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The testimony sponsored by Ecology is replete with complaints 

about how non-empty3 totes were stored on site. For example: 

And, you know, these totes, just standing there, just to put you in that 

picture for a moment, are stored over gravel. There's a lid on the top of 

every tote and in some cases that lid had been removed and set to one 

side. There was no labeling as far as this is a dangerous waste or there 

weren't setbacks from other types of totes that were on the site, so my 

concern in the immediate action letter was that those risks for fires or 

spills that employees understood what they were dealing with based on 

labeling on the containers, that those concerns would be addressed right 

away. 

CP 13 [Hearing Transcript (Deanne Williams) p. 114,11.6-16.] 

At the end of Deanne Williams' testimony, in response to a 

question from Board member Mix, Ms. Williams testified to how the 

agency exercised its "discretion" (Ms. Mix's word) to require, or not 

require, that KPM-NW operate under a TSD facility permit: 

A Well, our concern with K.P. McNamara was that, you know, 

ultimately what we started to see or what we were afraid we were 

seeing was an escalation of the number of non-empty totes that were 

being received at the facility, that were landing at the facility. 

So the first time that I observed non-empty totes at the facility, my 

objective was, this is a facility that was not identified as a large 

3 Ms. Williams testified that she did not know then, and could not testify from 
personal knowledge, that any of the non-empty totes she saw contained 
"dangerous waste." Hearing Transcript (Deanne Williams) p. 194, II. 10-19. Ms. 
Williams was concerned about non-empty containers even if they did not contain 
"dangerous waste" because of the potential for releases of hazardous substances 
to soil or groundwater. Hearing Transcript (Deanne Williams) pp. 136-137, II. 
22-1, pp. 142-143, II. 22-1 and p. 186, II. 1-5., p. 270, II. 15-18. 

34 



quantity generator of dangerous waste. They weren't intending to 

operate as a treatment, storage and disposal facility. They weren't 

intending to accept dangerous waste from other generators. 

So that's exactly what we did, was look at them as a generator, ask 

them to manage that waste accordingly, meaning that they needed to 

designate it and determine how it should be managed. 

So as we saw more totes arriving at the facility, I mean, if you look 

back at the record, you'll see that we cited WAC 173-303-950 

several times, and that was stating essentially our authority. If you're 

operating without a permit, that's our authority that essentially puts 

you on notice that you need to get a permit if you're going to continue 

operating this way. 

So that's exactly the way that we looked at it for quite a long time. 

This is a generator who's had waste abandoned, essentially, on them 

through the generator's sites. Let's work with them to shore that up 

so it doesn't keep happening. 

And when it continued to happen, that's when we went to: You look 

like you're operating like a TSD. You look like you're either not 

capable of stopping it from happening or, at the very least, when it 

does land at your facility, you're not managing it appropriately. 

CP 13 [Hearing Transcript, page 328-330.] 

At the close of Ecology's case, Petitioners asked for a directed 

verdict on issue 5. CP 13 [Hearing Transcript, p. 344,11. 8-16.] Ecology's 

counsel, Ms. Barney, responded in part: 

I believe that Ecology's witness has provided the Board with testimony to 

the effect of her [Deanne Williams'] particular interpretation, and I think 

rather than a directed verdict at this time, our request would be that the 

Board would consider [Deanne Williams' interpretation] in the context of 

the facts of this particular case. And it is a question of law, but it also is 
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impacted by Ecology's role as a regulator and their interpretation of the 

regulations. 

CP 13 [Hearing Transcript, p. 345, 11. 11-18.] The Board denied 

Petitioners' motion for directed verdict. CP 13 [Hearing Transcript, p. 346, 

11. 4-13.] 

The PCHB, in its Final Decision, based its ruling against KPM-

NW on the following findings: 

We further find that at least some of these non-empty totes 
remained outside for a period of several days to several weeks, in 
an uncovered area without secondary containment, without proper 
labeling or accumulation start dates, and without proper 
inspections. As such, KP McNamara 's handling of the non-empty 
totes at its facility failed to comply with the on-site accumulation 
requirements of WAC 173-303-200. Although KP McNamara did 
not generate the waste, the manner in which it managed the non­
empty totes did not comport with the on-site accumulation 
requirements applicable to generators providing that dangerous 
wastes must be accumulated in containers that are properly 
labeled, inspected, and stored. 

CP 10 [Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Final Decision, p. 11, 

11.4-11 (emphasis added).] The Final Decision continues: 

Regardless of whether the manifest discrepancy rules are directly 
applicable to the KP McNamarafacility, we conclude they do not 
operate to shield KP McNamara from a penalty or from TSD 
facility permitting or operating requirements under the facts of this 
case. This is because KP McNamarafailed to demonstrate that the 
manner in which it responded to receipt of the non-empty totes 
complied with the manifest discrepancy regulations (either the 
former or current versions). 

CP 10 [Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Final Decision, p. 22, 

11. 9-13 (emphasis added).] The Final Decision continues: 
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[WJe find that KP McNamara continued receiving more than an 
incidental or occasional number of non-RCRA empty totes after 
being directed by Ecology to cease doing so. We also find that KP 
McNamara repeatedly failed to follow its own standard operating 
procedures directing that it would not receive and manage non­
empty totes. Accordingly, we conclude that KP McNamara was 
reasonably subjected to the requirements of WAC 173-303-280(1) 
and -400. 

CP 10 [Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Final Decision, p. 23, 

ll. 9-13 (emphasis added).] 

ARGUMENT 

Two $10,000 penalties were assessed by Ecology, one relating to 

the receipt of non-"RCRA empty" totes (PCHB certified Issue #5) and the 

other relating to the transport of rinse-water without a Uniform Hazardous 

Waste Manifest (PCHB certified Issue #3). From the beginning of the 

evidentiary hearing KPM-NW and McNamara objected to the introduction 

of evidence relating to the on-site management of dangerous waste that 

had been received by KPM-NW. In response to continued objections, the 

Board stated, and counsel for Ecology confirmed, that the $10,000 penalty 

related only to "receipt" ofnon-"RCRA empty" totes and that KPM-NW's 

management of those wastes upon receipt was relevant only to the 

reasonableness of the penalty amount. As presiding officer Doyle stated: 

I'm going to overrule the objection at this time. I do think that the 

conduct and the violation that is being discussed at this point does fall 
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within the scope of issue number 2 and that still is a live issue in the 

hearing. I think it's a valid distinction to point out that the penalty does 

not relate -- was not specifically tied to this conduct. That's helpful for 

the Board to keep in mind. 

So, only if "receipt" constituted a violation of the dangerous waste rules 

(as the question was set out in PCHB certified Issue #5) could the Board 

uphold the penalty assessment in the first place. This is why Ecology's 

first argument in its Opening Brief (at page 36) that "The Board did not 

need to consider the legal issue posed by McNamara ... " is baseless. 

The alternative argument proffered by Ecology, that KPM-NW and 

McNamara were on notice that the facts of the "nature and extent" of 

McNamara's receipt of dangerous waste were in dispute at the hearing, 

was rightfully rejected by the Superior Court. First, because Ecology and 

the Board had made it abundantly clear that the "nature and extent" would 

relate only to the reasonableness of the anlount of the penalty assessment 

and second, because the issues certified by ALl Brown were not 

"modified for good cause by subsequent order of the board or the 

presiding officer" as required by WAC 371-08-435(2). As Ecology itself 

points out in its Opening Brief (at page 38), the Board never reached a 

decision on the "legal issue posed by McNamara" (Issue #5). Instead, the 

Board substituted issues relating to KPM-NW's management of non-
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"RCRA empty" totes (e.g., compliance with the "TSD facility permitting 

or operating requirements" and compliance with the notice and reporting 

requirements of the "manifest discrepancies rule.") Because Ecology did 

not assess any penalty for these alleged violations of other dangerous 

waste rules, and because the Board is precluded from substituting issues 

by its own administrative rules [WAC 371-08-435(2)], Ecology's "notice" 

argument is also baseless. 

The Superior Court did not reach the underlying issues relating to 

KPM-NW's alleged non-compliance with the "TSD facility permitting or 

operating requirements" or the notice and reporting requirements of the 

"manifest discrepancies rule" because it held that the PCHB had 

improperly substituted these issues for Issue #5 (and remanded the matter 

to the PCHB for a decision on that seminal issue.) KPM-NWand 

McNamara did contest the Board's findings with respect to those 

secondary issues in their Petition for Review of Administrative Order 

(Issues C and D at page 4 of the Petition.) Because Ecology argues that 

the Court of Appeals review is de novo, these underlying issues are 

addressed herein. The following analysis should be helpful, in addition to 

explaining why allegations of other dangerous waste rules violations are 

baseless, in that it explains why ALl Kay Brown certified Issue #5 as she 

did. 
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The Board concluded in its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, 

and Final Decision that "K.P. McNamara was reasonably subjected to the 

requirements of WAC 173-303-280(1) and -400." The Department of 

Ecology had, in its Notice of Penalty, cited KPM-NW for an alleged 

violation of WAC 173-303-280 and -400 ("Failure to obtain a permit or to 

comply with the requirements for operating a dangerous waste treatment, 

storage and disposal (TSD) facility.") WAC 173-303-280 "General 

requirements for dangerous waste management facilities" provides in 

pertinent part: 

(1) Applicability. The requirements of WAC 173-303-280 
through 173-303-395 apply to all owners and operators of 
facilities which store, treat, or dispose of dangerous wastes and 
which must be permitted under the requirements of this chapter 
173-303 WAC, unless otherwise specified in this chapter. 
Whenever a shipment of dangerous waste is initiated from a 
facility, the owner or operator of that facility must comply with the 
requirements for generators, WAC 173-303-170 through 173-303-
230. 

WAC 173-303-400 "Interim status facility standards" apply to facilities 

that have submitted a "Part B permit application" and are awaiting 

issuance of an operating permit by Ecology. KPM-NW has not submitted 

a Part B permit application and was not awaiting issuance of an operating 

permit, so the "Interim status facility standards" cited by Ecology in its 

"Notice of Penalty Incurred and Due" do not apply to KPM-NW. 

The Board also cited WAC 173-303-200 in its Final Decision even 
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though this rule is not mentioned in Ecology's "Notice of Penalty Incurred 

and Due". Ecology does not cite WAC 173-303-200 as a basis for its 

enforcement action against KPM-NW because that subsection -200 falls 

within a section of the dangerous waste rules that applies to persons who 

"generate" dangerous waste, WAC 173-303-170 through -230. KPM-NW 

did not "generate" any of the dangerous waste at issue and thus could not 

be held liable for violating WAC 173-303-200. Nevertheless, at the 

urging of Ecology at hearing, the Board cited WAC 173-303-200 as a 

basis for its holding that KPM-NW and McNamara could be assessed a 

penalty due to the "nature and extent" of the "receipt" of dangerous waste. 

WAC 173-303-200 "Accumulating dangerous waste on-site" provides, in 

pertinent part that a "generator" may accumulate dangerous waste on-site 

without a permit for ninety days or less after the date of generation 

provided that it complies with a long list of record keeping, spill 

containment and other safety standards. The Board stated in its Final 

Decision at page 11, 11. 3-11: 

"We further find that at least some of these non-empty totes 
remained outside for a period of several days to several weeks, in 
an uncovered area without secondary containment, without proper 
labeling or accumulation start dates, and without proper 
inspections. As such, KP McNamara's handling of the non-empty 
totes at its facility failed to comply with the on-site accumulation 
requirements of WAC 173-303-200. Although KP McNamara did 
not generate the waste, the manner in which it managed the non­
empty totes did not comport with the on-site accumulation 
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requirements applicable to generators providing that dangerous 
wastes must be accumulated in containers that are properly labeled, 
inspected and stored." PCHB Final Decision p. 11,11. 3-11. 

CP 10. That remarkable turn of phrase - "Although KP McNamara did 

not generate the waste, the manner in which it managed the non-empty 

totes did not comport with the on-site accumulation requirements 

applicable to generators .. . " - reveals much about the bankrupt logic of 

Ecology and the PCHB. Ecology was concerned about the manner in 

which KPM-NW was storing non-"RCRA empty" totes prior to 

manifesting and shipment to an appropriate off-site disposal facility but it 

could not identify any applicable management standard in its rules. It was 

that gap in Ecology's regulations that underlay Ecology inspector Deanne 

Williams' directive that KPM-NW not even off-load non-"RCRA empty" 

containers and to send them back into transport without a Uniform 

Hazardous Waste Manifest, and it was that gap in Ecology's regulations 

that explains the precise wording ofIssue #5 (i.e., whether "receipt" alone 

was unlawful.) 

The TSD facility permitting rules (WAC 173-303-280 through 

395) apply to all "owners and operators of facilities which store, treat, or 

dispose of dangerous wastes and which must be permitted under the 

requirements of ... chapter 173-303- WAC, unless otherwise specified in 

[WAC Chapter 173-303.]" There are more than a few exclusions from 

42 



TSD facility permitting rules in the Washington Dangerous Waste rules, 

among them the exclusion for generators who store dangerous waste for 

90 days or less (WAC 173-303-200), the exclusion for so-called "small 

quantity generators" who store dangerous waste for 180 days or less, the 

exclusion for transporters who store dangerous waste at their "transfer" 

facilities for 10 days or less (WAC 173-303-240), and the exclusion for 

facilities that "handle" so-called "universal waste" for a year or less 

(WAC 173-303-573). Each of these permitting exclusions include 

situation-specific standards for storage of dangerous waste that are 

generally less restrictive than the permitted facility standards given the 

temporary and limited scope of the management activity. One other such 

exclusion, and the one at issue in this case, applies to TSD facilities that 

"reject" dangerous waste that the facility is not permitted to "accept", e.g. 

the Manifest Discrepancies rule. 

The Manifest Discrepancies rule then, as now, "appl[ies] to owners 

and operators who receive dangerous waste from off-site sources.") WAC 

173-303-370(1) "Applicability". The rule (as then in effect) required that 

upon discovering a significant discrepancy "the owner or operator must 

attempt to reconcile the discrepancy with the waste generator and 

transporter." (See Exh. 9 hereto, page 4 of7, 11. 2-5.) The rule expressly 

contemplated that the owner or operator of the receiving facility might 
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take possession of the waste, stating that "If the discrepancy is not 

resolved within fifteen days after receiving the waste, the owner or 

operator must immediately submit to the department a letter describing the 

discrepancy and attempts to reconcile it, and a copy of the manifest or 

shipping paper at issue" (See Exh. 9 hereto, page 4 of 7, 11. 5-9) and that 

the owner or operator may send the shipment on to an alternate facility 

"unless the containers are damaged to such an extent, or the dangerous 

waste is in such a condition as to present a hazard to the public health or 

the environment in the process of further transportation." (See Exh. 9 

hereto, page 6 of 7,11.26-33.) However - and this is key - the Washington 

Manifest Discrepancies rule then in effect did not include standards for 

managing (storing) rejected dangerous waste. That is why Ecology argued 

to the PCHB that KPM-NW had not complied with the Generator 

Accumulation standards even though those standards clearly did not apply 

to KPM-NW because KPM-NW had not "generated" the waste. 

The United States Environmental Protection Agency ("USEP A") -

three years prior to the alleged violations at KPM-NW - addressed this 

gap in the regulations with adoption of amendments to its Manifest 

Discrepancies rule of 40 CFR § 264.72.4 Under the amended federal rule, 

4 The state dangerous waste rules mirrored the federal hazardous waste rules, 
then as now, because Washington was administering the federal hazardous waste 
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"Manifest Discrepancies" include "container residues, which are residues 

that exceed the quantity limits for "empty" containers set forth in 40 CFR 

261.7(b)." The federal Manifest Discrepancies rule sets out procedures for 

dealing with receipt ofnon-"RCRA empty" containers, including the 

following provision at § 264.72(d)(2): 

(d)(l) Upon rejecting waste or identifying a container residue that 
exceeds the quantity limits for "empty" containers set forth in 40 
CFR 261. 7(b), the facility must consult with the generator prior to 
forwarding the waste to another facility that can manage the 
waste. If it is impossible to locate an alternative facility that can 
receive the waste, the facility may return the rejected waste or 
residue to the generator. The facility must send the waste to the 
alternative facility or to the generator within 60 days of the 
rejection or the container residue identification. 

(2) While the facility is making arrangements for forwarding 
rejected wastes or residues to another facility under this section, it 
must ensure that either the delivering transporter retains custody 
of the waste, or, the facility must provide for secure, temporary 
custody of the waste, pending delivery of the waste to the first 
transporter designated on the manifest prepared under paragraph 
(e) or (f) of this section. (emphasis added) 

Pursuant to the referenced paragraphs (e) or (f) of the federal Manifest 

Discrepancies rule, the receiving facility is required to prepare a new 

Uniform Hazardous Waste Manifest ("UHWM") for shipment of the 

offending container to either an alternate facility or back to the generator. 

program. However, the federal amendments to the Manifest Discrepancies rule 
did not become effective in Washington until they were formally adopted by the 
State some four years later. 
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As described by USEP A in its rulemaking, the Manifest 

Discrepancies rule amendments were proposed "to improve the tracking of 

certain problematic hazardous waste shipments known as 'rejected loads' 

or 'container residues' ... " 70 FR 10775, 10803. (Exh. 6) Adopted within 

the context of broader rule making modifying the hazardous waste 

manifesting system, without any changes to existing TSD facility 

standards, the amendments only clarified what "management controls" 

were appropriate under existing law with respect to the "temporary staging 

of rejected wastes". 70 FR 10775, 10809. (Exh.6) USEPA was careful in 

its wording, using the terms "temporary staging" and "secure, temporary 

custody" to describe appropriate "management controls" for rejected 

waste rather than "storage," which might have implied the necessity of 

compliance with TSD facility permitting rules or the Generator 

Accumulation standards. USEP A wrote in its final rule promulgation that 

"[T]here are very few management controls on temporary staging of 

rejected wastes by TSDFs, as opposed to the detailed technical 

requirements that apply to generator accumulation under 40 CFR 

262.34(a)." 70 FR 10775, 10809. (Exh.6) 

Beyond highlighting the lack of any management standard 

applicable to rejected shipments ofnon-"RCRA empty" containers in the 

old Washington Manifest Discrepancies rule, the above discussion of the 
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amended federal and Washington rule is relevant because it also illustrates 

the key quandary for KPM-NW as it struggled to satisfy the mandate of 

Ecology inspector Deanne Williams that KPM-NW not off-load non­

"RCRA empty" containers: KPM-NW could not "offer" the dangerous 

waste for further transport on a common carrier (within Washington or 

across state lines) without a Uniform Hazardous Waste Manifest, and it 

could not complete the Manifest without certifying the appropriate federal 

"waste code" for the waste. An appropriate "waste code" designation 

takes time, at a minimum to confer with the generator and at worst to 

complete an independent chemical analysis of the waste. The 

amendments allow up to 60 days to determine the appropriate designations 

and to identify an authorized alternate TSD facility. When Deanne 

Williams was instructing KPM-NW to immediately send non-"RCRA 

empty" containers back to the generator on a common carrier she was 

directing them to violate both the Washington and federal Manifesting 

rules. This KPM-NW would not do, and was duly penalized for it by 

Ecology. (!!!) 

As stated in KPM-NW's and McNamara's January 14,2011 letter 

to Judge Bennett, if the Court of Appeals rules in favor of Ecology on this 

issue (reversing the Superior Court's decision on the unlawful procedure 

claim) then the Court of Appeals must remand to the Superior Court the 
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following secondary issues (relating to receipt ofnon-"RCRA Empty" 

containers) which KPM-NW and McNamara raised in their Petition for 

Review of Administrative Order but which were not reached by the 

Superior Court: Erroneous Ruling that the "Manifest Discrepancies" Rule 

is Only a "Shield" Against Application of the TSD Facility Permitting and 

Interim Status Rules. (Issue C. at page 4 of the Petition); Unlawful 

Application of the TSD Facility Permitting and Interim Status Standards. 

(Issue D. at pages 4-5 of the Petition); Erroneous Exclusion of Evidence of 

an Admission by Ecology. (Issue H. at page 7 of the Petition); and the 

various Findings not Supported by Substantial Evidence or which are 

Arbitrary and Capricious. 

E. RESPONSE TO ECOLOGY'S ARGUMENT THAT KPM-NW 
AND MCNAMARA SHOULD NOT BE AWARDED 
ATTORNEYS' FEES BY THE COURT OF APPEALS EVEN IF 
KPM-NW AND MCNAMARA PREVAIL ON APPEAL TO THE 
COURT OF APPEALS. 

Summary of Ecology's Proposition on Appeal: 

KPM-NW and McNamara failed to brief their request for 

attorneys' fees to this court. 

Summary of Ecology's Argument: 

This issue is addressed at page 49 of Ecology's Opening Brief. 

Ecology argues that KPM-NW and McNamara have made no more than a 

"bald statement" that they are entitled to attorneys' fees on appeal and, 
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moreover, that they have not established that they are a "qualified party" 

under RCW 4.84.340(5). 

KPM-NW's and McNamara's Response: 

This issue is addressed at page 41 of Appellants' Opening Brief. 

This court requires no elucidation of the holding in Co stanich v. 

Washington State Department of Social and Health Services, 164 Wash.2d 

925, 194 P.3d 988 (2008), which is referenced in Appellants' Opening 

Brief. The appellate court determines costs in all cases after the filing of a 

decision terminating review. RAP 14.1(a) A party seeking costs on 

review must file a cost bill with the appellate court and serve a copy of the 

cost bill on all parties within 10 days after the filing of an appellate court 

decision terminating review. RAP 14.4(a) Any issue as to whether either 

Appellant is a "qualified party" should be resolved within the context of 

determining what expenses are to be allowed as costs pursuant to 

RAP 14.3. Alternatively, if the Court requires further briefing on the issue 

of whether either Appellant is a "qualified party" under the attorneys' fees 

statute, prior to decision on the underlying issues, Appellants are prepared 

to respond as ordered. 

F. CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals should: 

49 



(A) Remand this matter to the Superior Court for award of 

appropriate attorneys' fees and costs with regard to Petitioners' unlawful 

procedure claim; 

(B) Remand this matter to the PCHB with directions that it make 

findings of fact as to whether the rinse-water that was transported without 

a UHWM met any dangerous waste criteria, WAC 173-303-100; 

(C) Rule that Kerry McNamara cannot be held liable for the 

alleged violations of dangerous waste rules with respect to the rinse-water 

that was transported without a UHWM; 

(D) Remand this matter to the PCHB for a ruling on the narrow 

legal issue stated in certified Issue #5 (with regard to "receipt" of non-

"RCRA empty" totes); and 

(E) Order that Appellants KPM-NW and McNamara be awarded 

their attorneys' fees for this appeal upon submission of a cost bill in 

accordance with RAP 14.4 and a showing that they are "qualified persons" 

pursuant to RCW 4.84.340(5). 

DATED this 11th day of March 2012. 

dASUrr} 
THOMASR.B~ 
OSB No. 922251 
Attorney for Appellants 
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APPENDIX 

Exhibit 1 - December 18, 1978, USEPA Hazardous Waste Rules 
Proposal 

Exhibit 2 - EPA Form 8700-22 Uniform Hazardous Waste Manifest 

Exhibit 3 - May 19, 1989, USEPA Hazardous Waste Rules 
Promulgation 

Exhibit 4 - US v. Self, 2 F3d 1071 (C.A. 10 Utah) 

Exhibit 5 - In Re Quaker State Oil Refining Corp., 1986 WL 69020 

Exhibit 6 - March 4, 2005 , USEPA Amended Manifest Discrepancies 
Rule Promulgation 

Exhibit 7 - There is no Exhibit 7 

Exhibit 8 - There is no Exhibit 8 

Exhibit 9 - Manifest Discrepancies Rule (Old) - As published in 
Amendatory Section (Amending Order 97-03 , filed 
1112/98) 
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[6560-01-M] 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
AGENCY 

[40 CFR Part 250] 

[FRL 1014.5] 

HAZARDOUS WASTE GUIDELINES AND 
REGULATIONS 

AGENCY: Environmental Protection 
Agency. 

ACTION: Proposed rules. 

SUMMARY: The Environmental Pro­
tection Agency (EPA) today issues pro­
posed rules under Sections 3001, 3002, 
and 3004 of the Solid Waste Disposal 
Act as substantially amended by the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery 
Act of 1976 (Pub. L. 94-580 (Oct. 21, 
1976». These proposals respectively 
cover: (1) criteria for identifying and 
listing hazardous waste, identification 
methods, and a hazardous waste list; 
(2) standards applicable to generators 
of such waste for recordkeeping, label­
ing, containerizing, and using a trans­
port manifest; and (3) performance 
standards for hazardous waste man· 
agement facilities. In separate sections 
of today's FEDERAL REGISTER EPA ex­
plains in detail the proposals under 
Sections 3002 and 3004. 

These proposals together with those 
already published pursuant to Section 
3003, (April 28, 19'18, 43 PR 18506-
18512), Section 3006 (February 1, 1978, 
4.3 FR 4366-4373), Section 3008 
(AUg-llst 4, 1978, 43 FR 34738-34747), 
and Section 3010 (July 11, 1978,43 FR 
29908-29918) and that of the Depart­
ment of Transportation pursuant to 
the Hazardous Materials Transporta­
tion Act (May 25, 1978, 43 FR 22626-
22634) along with Section 3005 regula­
tions constitute the hazardous waste 
regulatory program under SubtitleC 
of the Act. 

EPA has chosen to integrate its reg­
ulations pursuant to Section 3005 and 
Section 3U06 of the Act with proposals 
under - the National Pollutant Dis­
charge Elimination System requir~d 
by Section 402 of the Clean Water Act 
and the Underground Injection Con­
trol Program of the Safe Drinking 
Water Act. This integration of pro­
grams will appear soon as proposed 
rules under 40 C:f'R, Parts 122, 123, 124 
and 128. 

In addition to the proposals an­
nounced today, EPA is publishing in 
today's FEDERAL REGISTER an Advance 
Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, that 
calls attention to suggested expansion 
of characteristics to be used in identi­
fying hazardous waste under Subtitle 
C. 
DATES: Comments are due March 16, 
1979. Hearings: listed below. 

PROPOSED RULES 

ADDRESSES: Comments should be 
addressed to: John P. Lehman, Direc­
tor, Hazardous Waste Management Di­
vision, Office of Solid Waste (WH-
565), U.S. Environmental Protection 
Agency, Washington, D.C. 20460. Com­
mtmications should identify the regu­
latory docket or notice number, such 
as "Section 3001", Section 3002", etc. 

The official record for this rulemak­
ing is available at: Room 2111D, U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency, 401 
M Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 
20460, and is available for viewing 
from 9:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m, Monday 
through Friday, excluding holidays. 

Hearings: Five sets of consolidated 
public hearings on Section 3001-4 pro­
posals are scheduled. The portion of 
the hearing devoted to Section 3003 
will be held jointly with the Depart-
ment of Transportation. -

The schedule and location for the 
hearings are as follows: 
February 7, 8, 9 <l979)-United Engineering 

Center, Main Auditorium, 345 East 47th 
Street, New York, N.Y. 

February 14, 15, 16-Breckenridge. Pavilion 
Hotel,- One Broadway, St. Louis, Missouri 
63102,314-421-1776 

February 20, 21, 22-Department of Com­
merce, Main Auditorium, 14th Street En­
trance, Washington. D.C. 

March 7, S, 9-Holdiay Inn-Airport. P.O. 
Box 38218. 4040 Quebec Street, Denver, 
Colorado 80216, 303-321-6666. 

March 12, 13, 14-EPA Regional Office. 
Sixth Floor Conference Room, 215 Fre­
mont Street, Sa.."l Francisco, CaEf. 

A block of rooms has been reserved 
in St. Louis and Denver for attendees. 
Please make reservations directly with 
the hotel by requesting an EPA re­
served room at least two weeks prior 
to the hearing. 

An evening session will be held the 
second day of each hearing to accom-

- modate those who cannot attend 
during the day. The evening session 
will cover all four proposed regula­
tions. 

The agenda below will generally be 
followed: 
Day 1: -

Registration-8:00-8:30 a.m. 
Section 3001-8:30-5:00 p.m. 

Day 2: 
Continuing Registration-8:00-8:30 a.m. 
Section 3002-8:30-12:30 
Section 3003-2:00-5:00 p.m. 
Section 3001-3004-7:00 p.m. 

Day 3: 
Continuing Registration-8:00-8:30 a.m. 
Section 3004-8:30-5:00 p.m. 

Anyone wishing to make an oral 
statement(s) at the hearing(s) should 
notify, in writing; 

Mrs. Geraldine Wyer, Public Participation 
• Officer, Office of Solid Waste (WH-562), 

U.S. E.P.A., 401 M Street SW., Washing­
ton, D.C. 20460. 

Please indicate which hearing (loca· 
tion) and the specific regulation{s) 
that comrnent(s) will be directed to. 

Oral or written comments may be 
submitted at the public hearings. Per­
sons who wish to make oral presenta­
tions must restrict their presentations 
to ten minutes, and are encouraged to 
have written copies of their complete 
comments for inclusion in the offiCial 
record. 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION 
CONTACT: 

Hazardous Waste Management Divi­
sion, Office of Solid Waste (WH-
565), U.S. Environmental Protection 
Agency, Washington, D,C, 20.460. 

Section 3001-Mr. Alan Corson, 202-
755-9187. 

Section 3,002-Mr. Harry Trask, 202-
755-9187. 

Section 3004-Mr. Timothy Fields, 
Jr., 202-755-9296. 

SUPPLEMENT A.~Y INFORMATION: 

INTRODUCTION 

T.he EPA is today proposing the core 
elements of a major rq:,rt.'.lat.ory pro­
gram to manage and control the coun­
try's hRzardous waste from generation 
to final disposal. The Congress direct­
ed this action in the R,eSOl.lrCe CGD.:~cr­
vation and Recovery· Act of 1976 
(ReRA), recognizing that disposal of 
hazardous waste is a crucial. environ­
mental and health problem which 
must be controlled. 

In our proposal, we have outlined 
two sets of requirements: one which 
sets norms of conduct for Feder~.l and 
State agencies in implementing the 
program and the second which sets 
minimum norms of conduct for those 
who generate, transport, treat, store, 
and dispose of hazardous wa:;;te. 

These requirements, we believe, will 
close the circle of environmental con­
trol begun earlier v,rith regulatory con· 
trol of emissions and discharges of 
contaminants to air, water, and the 
oceans. 

We do not underestimate the com­
plexity and difficulty of our proposed 
regulations. Rather, they reflect the 
large amounts of hazardous waste gen· 
erated and the complexity of the 
movement ' of hazardous waBte in our 
diverse society. These regulations will 
affect a large nlL'nber of indust.ries. 
Other non-industrial sources of haz· 
ardous waste, such a..<; laboratories and 
commerieal pesticide applicators, as 
well as transporters of haza,rdous 
waste, will also be included. The 
Agency estimates that approximately 
270,000 waste generating facilities and 
10,000 transporters will be regula,ted, 
although only about 30,000 of that 
number will require t.reatment, stor· 
age, or disposal permits. Under this 
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! 6560-01-M] 
(40 CFR PART 250 SUBPART B) 

SECTION 3002-STANDARDS APPLICABLE TO 
GENERATORS OF HAZARDOUS WASTE 

Section 3002 requires the Adminis­
trator to promulgate regulations es­
tablishing standards for persons gen­
erating waste identified or listed as 
hazardous under Subpart A <Identifi­
cation and Listing of Hazardous 
Waste). These standards are designed 
to protect human health and the envi­
ronment by establishing requirements 
for: 

1. Recordkeeping to identify quanti­
ties, constituents, and disposition of 
hazardous waste generated; 

2. Labeling of containers used for 
storage, transport, or disposal of haz­
ardous waste; 

3. Use of appropriate containers for 
hazardous waste; 

4. Furnishing information on gener­
al chemical composition to persons 
transporting, treating, storing, or dis­
posing of hazardous waste; 

5. A manifest system to assure that 
hazardous waste is designated for and 
delivered to a permitted treatment, 
storage, or disposal facility; and 

6. Submission of reports to the Ad­
ministrator (or authorized State 
agency) setting out quantities and dis­
position of. hazardous waste. 

WASTE DESIGNATION 

It is a generator's responsibility to 
determine if his waste is hazardous. 
This determination can be made by 
evaluating the waste against the char­
acteristics outlined in § 250.1~ of Sub­
part A, or by identifying the waste on 
the hazardous waste lists presented in 
§ 250.14 of Subpart A. 

A person who has knowledge of the 
raw materials input into his process 
and knows these materials to be pre­
sent in the waste may utilize this in­
formation to determine whether the 
waste would match the characteristics 
set forth in § 250.13 without testing. 
This can be accomplished by using the 
manufacturer's specifications and data 
or by consulting scientific literature 
and comparing the physical and 
chemical properties of the raw materi­
als in the waste to the characteristics 
in § 250.13 which make a waste hazard-
ous. ., . 
If a person believes his waste to be 

hazardous, he may also simply declare 
it to be so without any references to 
Subpart A or to scientific literature . . 

IDENTIFICATION OF HAZARDOUS WASTE 
GENERATORS 

The Act does not define a hazardous 
waste "generator;" however, § 1004(6) 
defines "hazardous waste generation" 
as .. the act or process of producing 
hazardous waste. " EPA has used this 
language to define a hazardous waste 
generator as a "person or Federal 
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Agency whose act or process produces 
hazardous waste." Examples of gener­
ators of hazardous waste are some 
manufacturers included in SIC codes 
20-39, laboratories, and aerial and 
conunercial pesticide applicators. 

Although the term "produces haz­
ardous waste" implies that only manu­
facturers are included in the definition 
of generator, it is important to point 
out that a pe!"Son who accumulates 
hazardous waste is considered a gener­
ator because the process of accumula­
tion results in a hazardous waste dis­
posal problem. For example, a labora­
tory that accumulates a waste desig­
nated as hazardous under Subpart A 
of these proposed rules would be sub­
ject to the requirements in this Sub­
part. 

The Agency has proposed that per­
sons who produce and dispose of less 
than 100 kilo graIns (approximately 
220 pounds) of hazardous waste in any 
one month are exempted from the re­
quirements of this Subpart if they 
comply with the provisions of § 250.29. 
The 100 kilogram per month level for 
defining generators was developed as a 
result of an effort to exclude from this 
Subpart persons whose generation of 
small amounts of hazardous waste 
does not pose a substantial threat to 
human health or the environment, 
Based on surveys of industrial waste 
production in five States (New Jersey, 
Texas, illinois, Tennessee, Maryland) 
and data presented in the Draft Envi­
ronmental Impact Statement for Sub­
title C, it is estimated that the cut-off 
point of 100 kilograms per month for 
hazardous waste generation will allow 
control of 99.5 to 99.9 'percent of po­
tentially hazardous industrial waste 
while at the same time excluding up to 
60 percent of the generators in the 
manufacturing industry (SIC 20-39). 

Persons who dispose of less than 100 
kilograms must comply with the provi­
sions of Section 250.29. These provi­
sions require that any hazardous 
waste generated, rio matter how small 
the quantity, be disposed of either in 
(1) a solid waste facility which has 
been permitted or otherwise certified 
by the State as meeting the criteria 
pursuant to Section 4004 of RCRA; or 
(2) a.treatment, storage, or disposal fa­
cility permitted by the Administrator 
pursuant to the requirements. of Sub­
part E or permitted by an authorized 
State program pursuant to Subpart F. 
Compliance with these provisions will 
assure protection of human health 
and the environment from the dispos­
al of aU hazardous waste. 

Tlie Agency has also proposed that 
retailers and farmers generating any 
amount of hazardous waste be 
exempted from the requirements of 
this Subpart if they comply with the 
provisions of Section 250.29. Excepted 
from this are gasoline stations and 
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companies that accumUlate more than 
100 kilograms per month of waste oil. 
Retailers rarely generate hazardous 
waste in excess of 100 kilograms per 
month. In the event that a retailer has 
a need to dispose of more than 100 
kilograms of hazardous waste in a 
given month, this disposal must be in 
compliance with § 250_29(al. Farmers 
are exempted because the Federal In­
secticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide 
Act can be used to control the disposal 
of excess pesticides and pesticide con­
tainers. Pesticides and pestiCide con­
tainers are likely to be the only haz­
ardous wastes generated by farmers, 
and disposal will be required in accord­
ance with § 250_29(bl. 

Gasoline stations and other compa­
nies that accumulate and dispose of 
more than 100 kilograms per month of 
waste oil will be subject to the require­
ments of this Subpart. Waste oil pre­
sents a special environmental problem 
because it is ubiquitous and because it 
is a potential carrier for other hazard­
ous waste and substances. For exam­
ple, it is sometimes mixed with trans­
former oil conta.ining PCB's. Regula­
tion of waste oil under this Subpart 
will tend to direct such oil to permit­
ted treatment or recovery facilities 
that will promote resource conserva­
tion, a major goal of the Act. 

The Agency does not anticipate that 
the requirements of this regulation 
will impose an undue burden on accu­
mulators of , waste oil because trans­
porters and disposers have expressed a 
willingness to perform the generator's 
responsibilities under this section for a 
reasonable fee. Generators who ar­
range with transporters or disposers to 
perform their recordkeeping and re­
porting requirements will be relieved 
of most of the risk of non-compliance. 
Section 250.28 of ihis regulation pro­
vides, that where a transporter regulat­
ed by Subpart C or a disposer regulat­
ed by Subparts D and E of this Part 
contracts with the generator to per­
form the generator's duties, the trans­
porter or disposer will become inde­
pendently liable under the Act for fail­
ure to perform. Although the gener­
ator cannot completely transfer his li­
ability under the Act for a failure to 
perform, EPA enforcement actions 
will focus on the delinquent transport­
er or disposer rather than a generator 
who has entered into an assumption of 
duties contract. 

Congress did not intend household­
ers to be considered generators, nor 
did it intend that the type of waste 
substances normally used in house­
holds be included in the Subtitle C 
regulatory program. (S. Rep. No_ 94-
988, 94th Cong., 2nd sess. at 16.). Thus, 
households and similar establishments 
such as apartment houses, condomin­
iums, and hotels are not included in 
the Subtitle C program. 
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Please print or type (Form designed for use on elite (12-pitch) typewriter) - Form Approved OMB No 2050-0039 
UNIFORM HAZARDOUS 11. Generator ID Number 

WASTE MANIFEST 

12. Page 1 of 13. Emergency Response Phone 14. Manifest Tracking Number 

5. Generato~s Name and Mailing Address Generator's Site Address (if different than mailing address) 

Generator's Phone: I 
b. I ransporter 1 company Name U.S. EPA ID Number 

I 
7. Transporter 2 Company Name U.S. EPA ID Number 

I 
8. Designated Facility Name and Sile Address U.S EPA ID Number 

Facility's Phone: l 
9a. 9b. U.S. DOT Description (including Proper Shipping Name, Hazard Class, ID Number, 10. Containers 11. Total 12. Unrt 13. Waste Codes 
HM and Packing Group (if any)) No. Type Quantity WlNol. 

1. I a:: 
0 ... «-. 

~ ! w 
2. ! z 

w 
C) 

3. 

4. i 
f----

14. Special Handling Instructions and Additionallnforrnation 

15.: GENERATOR'SiOFFEROR'S CERTIFICATION: i hereby declare that the contents of this consignment are fully and accurately described above by the proper shipping name, and are classifiec, packagec, 
marked and labeled/placarded, and are in all respects in proper condrtion for transport according to applicable intemational and national govemmental regulations. If export shipment and I am the Primary 
Exporter, I certify that the contents of this consignment conform to the terms of the attached EPAAcknowiedgment of Consent 
I certify that the waste minimization statement identified in 40 CFR 262.27(a) (if I am a large quantity generator) or (b) (if I am a small quantity generator) is true. 

I Generator's/Offeror's PnntedlTypec Name ~Ignature Montn uay Year 

I I I I 
-I 16. International Shipments 

D Import to U.S. D Export from U.S. ~ Port of entry/ed: 
~ Transporter signature (for exports only): Date leaving U.S .. 
a:: 17. Transporter Acknowlecgment of Receipt of Materials w 
fo- Transporter 1 PrintedlTyped Name Signature Montn uay Year a:: 
0 I I I I 0.. 
In 
Z Transporter 2 PrintedlTypec Name Signature Month Day Year 
c( 

I I I I a:: 
f0-

r 
18. Discrepancy 

18.a. Discrepancy Indication Space D Quantrty DType DResidue D Partial Rejection D Full Rejection 

Manifest Reference Number: 

~ 18b. Alternate Facilrty (or Generator) U.S EPA 10 Number 
::J 
U 

I it Facility's Phone: 
c 18c. Signature of Alternate Facility (or Generator) Month Day Year w 
~ I I I z 
C) 

19. Hazardous Waste Report Management Method Codes (i.e., codes for hazardous waste treatment, disposal, and recycling systems) (i) 
w 1. 

12 
1
3 14 

c 

1 
20. Designated Facility Owner or Operator: CertifICation of receipt of hazardous materials covered by the manifest except as noted in Item 18.a 
PrintedIT yped Name Signature Month Day Year 

I I I I .. 
EPA Form 8700-22 (Rev. 3-05) PrevIous editions are obsolete. DESIGNATED FACILITY TO DESTINATION STATE (IF REQUIRED) 
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
AGENCY 

40 CFR Part 260 

[FRL 1395-7] 

Hazardous Waste Management 
System: General 

AGENCY: Environmental Protection 
, Agency. 

ACTION: Revisions to final rule and 
interim final rule and request for 
comments. 

SUMMARY: Subtitle C of the Solid Waste 
Disposal Act, as amended by the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery 
Act of 1976, as amended (RCRA), directs 
the Environmental Protection Agency 
(EPA) to promulgate regulations to 
protect human health and the 
environment from the improper 
management of hazardous waste. The 
first phase of EPA's regulations 
implementing this directive are 
contained in Parts 262 and 263 of this 
chapter (which were promulgated on 
February 26, 1980) and Parts 261, 264, 
265, 122, 123, and 124 of this chapter 
(which are being promulgated today). 

This regulation (Part 260) sets forth 
definitions of words and phrases which 
appear in Parts 261 through 265 and 
contains provisions which are generally 
applicable to all those regulations. It 
was originally published on February 26, 
1980, concurrent with the promulgation 
of EPA's Part 262 and 263 regulations. It 
is now being amended to add new 
provisions required by today's 
publication of Parts 261, 264 and 265 and 
to revise one of the definitions published 
in February. 
DATES: Effective date: November 19, 
1980. Comment date: For the interim 
final portions of this regulation, public 
comments will be accepted until July 18, 
1980. 
ADDRESSES: Comments on interim final 
portions should be sent to Docket Clerk 
[Docket No. 3000], Office of Solid Waste 
(WH-562), U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency, 401 M Street, S.W., 
Washington, D.C. 20460. The public 
docket for this regulation is located in 
Room 2711 of the above address, and is 
available for viewing from 9:00 a.m. to 
4:00 p.m., Monday. through Friday, 
excluding holidays. 

Single copies of these regulations will 
be available approximately 30 days 
after publication from Ed Cox, Solid 
Waste Information, U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency, 26 West St. Clair 
Street, Cincinnati, Ohio 45268 (513) 684-
5362. Multiple copies will be available 
from the Superintendent of Documents, 
Washington. D.C, 20402. 

For information on the 
implementation of these regulations. 
contact the EPA Regional Offices below: 
Region I-Dennis Huebner. Chief. Waste 

Management Branch. John F. Kennedy 
Building. Boston. Massachusetts 02203 
(617) 223-5777; 

Region II-Dr. Ernest Regna. Chief, Solid 
Waste Branch. ,26 Federal Plaza. New 
York, New York 10007 (212) 264-0504/ 
5; 

Region III-Robert 1. Allen. Chief, ' 
Hazardous Materials Branch, 6th and 
Walnut Streets. Philadelphia. 
Pennsylvania 19106 (215) 597-0980; 

Region IV-James Scarbrough. Chief. 
Residuals Management Branch. 345 
Courtland Street N.E.. Atlanta. 
Georgia 30365 (404) 881-3016; 

Region V-Karl J. Klepitsch. Jr .. Chief. 
Waste Management Branch. 230 South 
Dearborn Street. Chicago. Illinois 
60604 (312) 886-6148. 

Region VI-R. Stan Jorgensen. Acting 
Chief, Solid Waste Branch. 1201 Elm 
Street. First International Building. 
Dallas. Texas 75270 (214) 767-2645 

Region VII-Robert L.Morby, Chief. 
Hazardous Materials Branch. 324 E. 
11th Street. Kansas City, Missouri 
64106(816) 374-3307 

Region VIII-Lawrence P. Gazda, Chief. 
Waste Management Branch. 1860 
Lincoln.Street. Denver. Colorado 
80203 (303) 837-2221 

Region IX-Arnold R. Den, Chief, 
Hazardous Materials Branch. 215 
Fremont Street. San Francisco. 
California 94105 (415) 556-4606 

Region X-Kenneth D. Feigner. Chief. 
Waste Management Branch. 1200 6th 
Avenue. Seattle. Washington 98101 
(206) 442-1260 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: 
John P. Lehman. Office of Solid Waste 
(WH-565), U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency. 401 M Street. SW .. 
Washington D.C. 20460 (202) 755-9185. 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: 

I. Authority 

This regulation is issued under the 
authority of Sections 1006, 2002(a). 3001 
through 3007. 3010. and 7004 of the Solid 
Waste Disposal Act. as amended by the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery 
Act of 1976. ,as amended (RCRA). 42 
U.S.C. 6905. 6912(a). 6921 through 6927. 
6930, and 6974. 

II Background 

Subtitle C of RCRA establishe:; a 
Federal program to provide 
comprehensive regulation of hazardous 
waste. When fully implemented, this 
program will provide "cradle-to-grave" 
regulation of hazardous waste. Section 
3001 of Subtitle C directs EPA to identify 

the characteristics of and to list those ' 
hazardous wastes which are subject to 
regulation under Subtitle C. Sections 
3002 and 3003 require EPA to establish 
standards for generators and 
transporters of hazardous waste which 
w~ll ensure proper recordkeeping and 
reporting. the use of a manifest system 
to track shipments of hazardous waste. 
the use of proper labels and containers. 
and the delivery of the waste to properly 
permitted treatment. storage. and 
disposal facilities. To ensure that these 

-facilities are designed. constructed. and 
operated in a manner which protects 
human health and the environment, 
Section 3004 of RCRA directs EPA to 
promulgate technical. administrative. 
monitoring, and financial standards for 
them. These independently enforceable 
standards will be used by EPA to issue 
permits to owners and operators of 
facilities under Section 3005. For those 
States interested in administering the 
RCRA program instead of EPA. Section 
3006 requires the Agency to issue 
guidelines under which States may seek 
authorization to carry out the program. 
Finally, under Section 3010. all persons 
engaging in activities subject to control 
under Sections 3002 through 3004 above 
must notify EPA or States having 
authorized RCRA hazardous waste 
programs. 

Early this year. EPA began issuing the 
regulations which comprise the Subtitle 
C hazardous waste management system. 
On February 26,1980, it promulgated 
standards for generators and 
transporters of hazardous waste under 
Sections 3002 and 3003 of RCRA. 
respectively (Parts 262 and 263), and 
issued a public notice establishing 
procedures for filing a notice of 
hazardous waste activity under Section 
3010. Today EPA is publishing permit 
procedures and guidelines for the 
approval of State hazardous waste 
programs under Sections 3005 and 3006. 
respectively (Parts 122, 123, and 124). 
and the first phase · of its Section 3001 
hazardous waste list and characteristics 
and Section 3004 facility standards 
(Parts 261, 264. and 265). As discussed in 
the preambles to those two latter 
regulations, EPA expects to be 
amending its Sections 3001 and 3004 
regulations later this year to bring 
additional wastes into the hazardous 
waste management system and to add 
additional facility standards. 

Table 1 below. shows where each of 
these regulations appears in the Federal 
Register. 

EXHIBIT ~ 
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Table l' 

Corresponding RCRA section 
40 CFR and descriptive titie 

Part: 
260 ........ Definitions used in other Parts 

corresponding to the Sections 
3001 throogh 3004 rules. and 
general provisions applicable to 
these Parta. 

261 ........ Section 3001: Identification and 
listing' of Hazardous Waste. 

262 ........ Section 3002: Standards Applicable 
to Generators of Hazardous 
Waste. 

263 ........ Section 3003; Standards Applicable 
to Tninsporters of Hazardous 
Waste. 

264 ........ Section 3004: Standards Applicable 
to Owners and Operators of 
Hazardous Waste Treatment, 
Storage. and Disposal Facilities. 

265 ........ Section 3004: Interim Status 
StandardS Applicable to Owners 
and Operators of Hazardous 
Waste Treatment. Storage. and 
Disposal Facilities. 

122 and Section 3005; Permits fOr 
124. Treatment, Storage. and Disposal 

of Hazardous Waste. 
123 ........ Saelion 3006; Guidefines for 

Authorized State 'Hazardous 
Waste Programs. 

............... Section 3010: Preliminary 
Notification of Hazardous Waste 
Activity. 

Federal 
Register 

date 

5/19/80 
Part II. 

5119180 
Part III. 
5119/80. 
Part V. 

5119/80. 
Part VI. 

5119/80. 
Part VII. 

5119/80 
Part VII. 

5119/80 
Part X. 

5119/80. 
Part X. 

2/26/80. 
(45 FR 
12746) 

1 This table is seH-expianatory except for that portion of H 
dealing with saclion 3004 of RCRA. There are three groups at 
owners and opei'ators of hazardous waste facilities subject to 
control under this Section: owners and oparetors With interim 
status. those who own or operate RCRA permitted facilities. 
and those with neither interim status nor a pennit Owners 
and operators in the first group are subject to the · Part 265 
rules; those in the second group must comply with RCRA par. 
mits based on the Part 264 rules; those in the third group 
must stop operations on the effective date of these regula· 
tions. (See the preamble to the Parts 264 and 265 rules 
issued elsewhere in today's FEDERAL REGISTER for an expla· 
nation of how owners and operators qualify for interim status.) 

The purpose of this regulation (Part 
260)is to consolidate in one place a 
number of provisions which are 
applicable to all the Part 261 through 265 
regulations. Subpart A contains rules 
concerning the designation and handling 
of confidential information iind rules of 
grammatical construction which are 
generally applicable to Parts 261 through 
265. Subpart B contains definitions of 
key words and phrases which are used 
in those Parts. Subpart C outlines the 
general procedures which EPA will 
follow in acting on petitions to amend 
Parts 260 through 265 and special 
procedures applicable to petitions for 
the approval of equivalent testing and 
analytical methods and petitions to 
amend Part 261. Finally. Appendix I 
contains a "road map" to the Subtitle C 
regulations which is designed to 
acquaint persons unfamiliar with EPA's 
Subtitle C regulations with the most 
important regulatory provisions in Parts 
260 through 265 and Parts 122 through 
124. (Note that Appendix I contains 
guidance. not regulations. If any part of 
the appendix is inconsistent withJhe 

regulations, the regulations should be 
considered con trolling.) 

III. Subpart A 

1. Section 260.1 (Purpose, scope, and 
applicability). This section explains the 
purpose of Part 260 and outlines the 
contents of the remaining sections. It is 
largely self-explanatory. 

2. Section 260.2 (A vailability of 
information; confidentiality of 
information). The Agency expressed its 
basic stance on confidentiality L'J. 
§ 250.27 of the proposed Section 3002 
regulations •. which stated that all 
information provided in connection with 
the requirements of RcRA must be 
made available to any person. as 
authorized by Section 3007(b) of RCRA, 
the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA. 5 
U.S.C. 552). and the EPA regulations 
adopted to implement the FOIA and 
Section 3007(b) (40 CFR Part 2). 
Proposed § 250.27 applied also to the 
recordkeeping and reporting systems 
under Section 3004 of the proposed 
regulations. because they were designed 
to use information supplied on the 
manifest as the data base. 

A number of commenters argued that 
all RCRA reports and information 
should be made known to the public 
because public knowledge of this 
information is essential to the effective 
enforcement of RCRA. In particular. 
they argued that in order for the public 
oversight and citizen suit provisions of 
RCRA to be effective. the public must 
have information on the types and 
amounts of waste being handled by 
facilities. data from the monitoring of 
ground water and surface water. 
information on the type of process 
generating the waste and the hazardous 
properties of the waste. and any 
information reported to the Agency 
regarding fires, explosions. and 
discharges of hazardous waste. 
including data on the degradation of 
ground water. 

The Agency has sought to balance the 
public need for information against 
legitimate claims of confidentiality. 
Neither Section 3OO7(b) ofRCRA nor the 
Freedom of Information Act. however. 
authorize or require full public 
disclosure of information collected 
pursuant to RCRA. Section 3007(b) 
directs the Administator to consider as 
confidential any information which 
would be entitled to protection under 
Section 1905 of Title 18 of the United 
States Code. upon a satisfactory 
showing by the claimant that his 
information does indeed warrant 
confidential treatment. The provisions of 
the Freedom of Information Act 
concerning the availability of 
information do not apply to confidential 

trade secrets and commercial or 
financial information (Section 552(b )(4)). 

Because of this provision in RCRA, 
the Agency cannot impose a blanket 
requirement in the regulations that 
specific information must be released to 
the public in all cases. However. the 
public may obtain information on the 
type of process producing the wastes 
listed in the Section 3001 rules from the 
background documents supporting the 
Section 3001 regulations. In addition, the 
Subpart D rules require owners or 
operators to notify local authorities of 
fires, explosions. or discharges of 
hazardous waste which have thft 
potential for adversely affecting human 
health and the environment outside the 
facility. Thus. information of this type 
may also be available to the public. 

Several commenters suggested that 
EPA should clearly state that the 
confidentiality provisions of proposed 
§ 250.27 apply to the information 
required in the Section 3004 rules. The 
Agency agrees, and has therefore placed 
the provisions concerning 
confidentiality in Part 260 of the final 
rules. Section 260.1 of this Part makes it 
clear that the § 260.2 confidentiality 
provisions apply to all information 
required to be submitted under the final 
Sections 3001 through 3004 standards. 

3. Section 280.3 (Use of number and 
gender). This section establishes simple 
rules of grammatical construction 
concerning number and gender. It has 
been added to allow EPA to simplify the 
drafting of its final Part 261 through 265 
regulations by eliminating the need for 
such awkward phrases as "he/she/it" or 
"the owner (or in event there is more 
than one owner. the owners)". It is self­
explanatory. . 

Although there is no direct 
counterpart to this section in the 
proposed Subtitle C rules. the Agency is 
issuing it as a final. rather than interim 
final standard. This is simply a rule of 
usage and. therefore, it is unnecessary to 
solicit comments on it. 

IV. Supart B 

In EPA's proposed regulations. each 
regulation had its own set of definitions 
(see § § 250.11. 250.21. 250.31. and 
250.41). To eliminate the unnecessary 
repetition this produced. all the 
definitions which are applicable to more 
than one of EPA's final regulations have 
been consolidated into this subpart. 
Definitions of terms which are used only 
once. or only in conjunction with a 
single section or subpart. will generally 
be defined in the section or subpart in 
which they are used. We hope this 
reorganization will make the regulations 
less cumbersome and easier to follow. 
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produced by a particular generating 
facility does not meet any of the criteria 
under which the waste was listed as a 
hazardous waste and. in the case of an 
acutely hazardous waste listed under 
§ 261.11(a)(2). that it also does not meet 
the criterion of § 261.11(a)(3). A waste 
which is so excluded may still, however, 
be a hazardous waste by operation of 
Subpart C of Part 261. 

(b) The procedures in this section and 
§ 260.20 may also be used to petition the 
Administrator for a regulatory 
amendment to exclude from 
§ 261.3(a)(2)(ii) or (c), a waste which is 
described in those sections and is either 
a waste listed in Subpart D, contains a 
waste listed in Subpart D, or is derived 
from a waste listed in Subpart D. This 
exclusion may only be issued for a 
particular generating, storage, treatment, 
or disposal facility. The petitioner must 
make the same demonstration as 
required by paragraph (a) of this section, 
except that where the waste is a mixture 
of solid waste and one or more listed 
hazardous wastes or is derived from one 
or more hazardous wastes, his 
demonstration may be made with 
respect to each constituent listed waste 
or the waste mixture as a whole. A 
waste which is so excluded may still be 
a hazardous waste by operation of 
Subpart C of Part 261. 

(c) If the waste is listed with codes 
"I", "C", "R", or "E" in Subpart D, the 
petitioner must show that demonstration 
samples of the waste do not exhibit the 
relevant characteristic defined in 
§§ 261.21, 261.22, 261.23: or 261.24 using 
any applicable test methods prescribed 
therein. 

(d) If the waste is listed with code "T" 
in Subpart D, the petitioner must 
demonstrate that: 
(1) Demonstration samples of the waste 

do not contain the constituent (as 
defined in Appendix VII) that caused 
the Administrator to list the waste, 
using the appropriate test methods 
prescribed in Appendix III; or 

(2) The waste does not meet the 
criterion of § 261.11(a)(3) when 
considering the factors in 
§ 261.11(a)(3) (i) through (xi). 
(e) If the waste is listed with the code 

"H" in Subpart D. the petitioner must 
demonstrate that the waste does not 
meet both of the following criteria: 
(1) The criterion of §261.11(a)(2). 
(2) The criterion of § 261.11(a)(3) when 

considering the factors listed in 
• § 261.11(a)(3) (i) through (xi). 

(f) [Reserved for listing radioactive 
wastes.] 

(g) [Reserved for listed infectious 
wastes.] 

(h) Demonstration samples must 
consist of enough representative 
samples, but in no case less than four 
samples. taken over. a period of time 
sufficient to represent the variability or 
the uniformity of the waste.' 

(i) Each petition must include. in 
addition to the information required by 
§ 260.20(b): 
(1) The name and address of the 

laboratory facility performing the 
sampling or tests of the waste; 

(2) The names and qualifications of the 
persons sampling and testing the 
waste; 

(3) The dates of sampling and testing; 
(4) The location of the generating 

facility; 
(5) A description of the manufacturing 

processes or other operations and 
feed materials producing the waste 
and an assessment of whether such 
processes. operations, or feed 
materials can or might produce a 
waste that is not covered by the 
demonstra tion; 

(6) A description of the waste and an 
estimate of the average and.maximum 
monthly and annual quantities of 
waste covered by the demonstration; 

(7) Pertinent data on and discussion of 
the factors delineated in the 
respective criterion for listing a 
hazardous waste. where the 
demonstration is based on the factors 
in § 261.11(a)(3); 

(8) A description of the methodologies 
and equipment used to obtain the 
representative samples; 

(9) A description of the sample handling 
and preparation techniques. including 
techniques used for extraction, 
containerization and preservation of 
the samples; 

(10) A description of the tests performed 
(including results); 

(11) The names and model numbers of 
the instruments used in performing the 
tests; and 

(12) The following statement signed by 
the generator of the waste or his 
authorized representative: 
I certify under penalty of law that I have 

personally examined and am familiar with 
the information submitted in this 
demonstration and all attached documents, 
and that. based on my inquiry of those 
individuals immediately responsible for 
obtaining the information, I believe that the 
submitted information is true, accurate. and 
complete. I am aware that there are 
significant penalties for submitting false 
information, including the possibility of fine 
and imprisonment. 

(j) After receiving a petition for an 
exclusion. the Administrator may 
request any additional information 
which he may reasonably require to 
evaluate the petition. 

(k) An exclusion will only apply to the 
waste generated at the individual 
facility covered by the demonstration 
and will not apply. to waste from any 
other facility. 

(1) The Administrator may exclude 
only part of the waste for which the 
demonstration is submitted where he 
has reason to believe that variability of 
the waste justifies a partial exclusion. 

(m) The Administrator may (but shall 
not be required to) grant a temporary 
exclusion before making a final decision 
under §260.20(d) whenever he finds that 
there is a substantial likelihood that an 
exclusion will be finally granted. The 
Administrator will publish notice of any 
such temporary exclusion in the Federal 
Register. 

Appendix I.-Overview of Subtitle C 
Regulations 

The Agency believes that there are 
many people who suspect, but are not 
sure, that their activities are subject to 
control under the RCRA Subtitle C rules. 
This appendix is written for these 
people. It is designed to help those who 
are unfamiliar with the hazardous waste 
control program to determine with 
which, if any. of the regulations they 
should comply. 

Definition of Solid Waste 
The first question which such a person 

should ask himself is: "Is the material I 
handle a solid waste?" If the answer to 
this question is "No". then the material 
is not subject to control under RCRA 
and. therefore. the person need not 
worry about whether he should comply 
with the Subtitle C rules. 

Section 261.2 of this Chapter provides 
a definition of "solid waste" which 
expands the statutory definition of that 
term given in section 1004(27) of RCRA. 
This definition is diagrammed in Figure 
1 below. 

Figure 1 explains that all materials are 
either: (1) Garbage refuse, or sludge; (2) 
solid. liquid. semi-solid or contained 
gaseous material; or (3) something else. 
No materials iIi the third category are 
solid waste. All materials in the first 
category are solid waste. Materials in 
the second category are solid waste 
unless they are one of the five 
exclusions specified in § 261.4(a). 

Definition af Hazardous Waste 

If a person has determined that his 
material is a "solid waste". the next 
question he should ask is: "Is the solid 
waste I handle a hazardous waste?" 

Hazardous waste is defined in § 261.3 
of this chapter. Section 261.3 J.>rovides 
that. in general. a solid waste is a 
hazardous waste if: (1) It is. or contains, 
a hazarmlBife listed ~ SubpartD of 
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Part 261 of this Chapter, or (2) the waste 
exhibits any of the characteristics 
defined in Subpart C of Part 261. 
However, Parts 260 and 261 also contain 
provisions which exclude (§§ 261.4(b), 
260.20, and 260.22) certain solid wastes 
from the definition of "hazardous 
waste", even though they are listed in 
Subpart D or exhibit one or more of the 
characteristics defined in Subpart C. 
Figure 2 depicts the interplay of these 
special provisions with the definition of 
"hazardous waste". It presents a series 
of questions which a person should ask 
himself concerning his waste. After 
doing so, the person should be able to 
determine if the solid waste he h~ndles 
is a hazardous waste. 

Hazardous Waste Regulations 

If this is the case, the person should 
look at Figure 3. Figure 3 depicts the 
special provisions specified in the final 
Part 261 rules for hazardous waste 
which: 
1. Is generated by a small quantity 

generator 
2. Is or is intended to be legitimately and · 

beneficially used, re-used, recycled, or 
reclaimed 

3. Is a sludge; is listed in Part 261, 
Subpart D; or is a mixture containing 
a waste listed in Part 261, Subpart D. 
For each of these Groups, Figure 3 

indicates with which Subtitle C 
regulations (if any) the person handling 
these wastes must comply. Figure 3 also 
explains that, if a person handles 
hazardous waste which is not included 
iIi anyone of the above three categories, 
his waste is subject to the Subtitle C 
regulations diagrammed in Figure 4. 

Figure 4 is a flowchart which 
identifies the three categories of 
activities regulated under the Subtitle C 
rules, and the corresponding set of rules 
with which people in each of these 
categories must comply. It points out 
that all people who handle hazardous 
waste are either: (1) Generators of 
hazardous waste, (2) transporters of 
hazardous waste. (3) owners or 
operators of hazardous waste treatment. 
storage. or disposal facilities, or (4) a 
combination of the above. Figure 4 
indicates that all of these people must 
notify EPA of their hazardous waste 
activities in accordance with the Section 
3010 Notification Procedures (see 45 FR 
12746 et seq.), and obtain an EPA 
identification number. 

It should be noted that people 
handling wastes listed in Subpart D of 
Part 261 who have filed. or who intend 
to file an application to exempt their 
waste from regulation under the Subtitle 
C rules. must also comply with the 

notification requirements of section 
3010. 

If a person generates hazardous 
waste. Figure 4 indicates that he must 
comply with the Part 262 rules . .If he 
transports it. he must comply with the 
Part 263 rules. The standards in both 
these Parts are designed to ensure. 
among other things. proper 
recordkeeping and reporting. the use of 
a manifest system to track shipments of 
hazardous waste. the use of proper 
labels and containers. and the delivery 
. of the waste to a permitted treatment. 
storage. or disposal facility. 

If a person owns or operates a facility 
which treats. stores. or disposes of 
hazardous waste. the standards with 
which he must comply depend on a 
number of factors. First of all. if the 
owner or operator of a storage facility is 
also the person who generates the 
waste. and the waste is stored at the 
facility for less than 90 days for 
subsequent shipment off-site. then the 
person must comply with § 262.34 of the 
Part 262 rules. 

All other owners or operators of 
treatment. storage. or disposal facilities 
must comply with either the Part 264 or 
the Part 265 rules. To determine with 
which of these sets of rules an owner or 
operator must comply. he must find out 
whether his facility qualifies for interim 
status. To qualify, the owner or operator 
must: (1) Have been treating. storing. or 
disposing of the hazardous waste. or 
commenced facility construction on or 
before October 21, 1976. (2) comply with 
the Section 3010 notification 
requirements, and (3) apply for a permit 
under Part 122 of this Chapter. 

If the owner or operator has done all 
of the above. he qualifies for interim 
status. and he must comply with the Part 
265 rules. These rules contain 
administrative requirements, monitoring 
and closure standards. and an 
abbreviated set of technical and closure 
and post-closure cost estimate 
requirements. The owner or operator 
must comply with these standards until 
final administrative disposition of his 
permit application is made. If a permit is 
issued to the owner or operator, he must 
then comply with the permit which will 
be based on the Part 264 rules. 

If the owner or operator has not 
carried out the above three 
requirements, he does not qualify for 
interim staius. Until he is issued a 
permit for his facility, the owner or 
operator must stop waste management 
operations (if any) at the facility. and 
send his hazardous waste (if any) to a 
facility whose owner or operator has 
interim status or to a storage facility 
following the Part 262 rules. 

In order to apply for a permit, the 
owner or operator must comply with the 
procedures specified in Part 122 of this 
Chapter. 

It should be noted that the Agency 
will be periodically revising the rules 
depicted in Figures 3 and 4. All persons 
are encouraged to write to EPA to verify 
that the regulations which they are 
reading are up-to-date. To obtain this 
verification. contact: Solid Waste 
Information. U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency. 26 West st. Clair 
Street. Cincinnati. Ohio 45268 (513) 684-
5362. 
[FR Doc. 8()-14306 Filed 5-1~ 8:45 am] 
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Garbage; refuse 
or sludge 

FIGURE 1 

DEFINITION OF A SOLID WAS~F, 

All materials 

I 
Solid, liquid, semi-solid or 
contained gaseous material 
which is: 

1. discarned 
2. serve<'! its intennen 

purpose 
3. a manufacturing or 

mining by-product 

t 
Does §261.4(a) exclune your 
material from regulation 
under RCRA because it is 
one of the following: 
1. domestic sewage 
2. CWA point source <'iischarqe 
3. Irrigation return flow 
4. AEC source, special nuclear 

or by-product material 
5. In situ mining waste 

THE MATERIAL IS A RCRA SOLIn WASTF. 
irresepective of whether you: 

1. discard it 
2. use it 
3. reuse it 
4. recycle it 
5. reclaim it 
6. store it or accumlate it 

for purposes 1-5 of above 

other 

YES _) TFtE ~1A""F,RIAL 1------, IS f\TOIl' A "Rr.l' a. 
SOLIn W~S""E 

EXHIBIT 3> 
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FIGURE ? 

DEFINI~I()N OF' A RA?;ARnons l-JA~'l''R 

Is the solid waste 
excluded from regulation 

under §261.4(b)? 

Is the solid waste listed 
in Part 261, Subpart D, 
or is it a mixture that 

contains a waste 
listed in Subpart D? 

~II YES 

Has the waste or m~x­
ture been excluded from 
the l~sts Ln Subpart D 
or §261.3 in accordance 
with §§260.20 and 260.227 

NO 

YES 

NO 

YES , 

Does the waste exhihit 
any of the characteristics 

specifien in Part 261, 
Subpart C? 

YES 

THE WASTE IS 'T'llE W})..!=lTF. IS 
~TlBJF.C 'T' "1'0 C (')N'T'R(')L 

UN'DF.R ~TJRTI'J"LF n 
(i~ land nisposen) 

A HAZAROOUS WASTE 
(see figure 3) 

EXHIBIT -----
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FIGURE 3 

SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR CF.R"'AIN HAZAROOTTS WAS'l'B 

THE WASTE IS A 
HAZAROOUS WASTE 
(see figure 2) 

YES 
..... , 

Is it generated by a 
small quantity generator 
as defined in §261.5? 

Is it or is · it intended 
to be legitimately and 

beneficially used, re-used, 
recycled, or reclaimed? 

YES 

'I 
Is it a sludge or is it 

listed in Part 261, Subpart D 
or is it a mixture containing 

a waste listed in Part 261, 
Subpart D? 

lYES 
IT IS SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING 

REQUIREM.ENTS WITH RESPECT TO 
ITS TRANSPORTATION OR STORAGE: 
- Notification under Section 3010 
- Parts 262 and 263 
- Part 264, Subparts ~ through E 
- Part 265, Subparts A through E, 

and G,H .. I,J,& L 
- Parts 122 and 124 

-

YES "- It is suhject to 
/ the special require-

ments of ~2nl.C; 

Therefore, it must he 
NO , intended to be rli sc arn. en. • 

/ r'" IS StTRJECT TO THE 
StJRTr'l'LE C RF.GT1IA""I0NS 
DIAGRAMMED IN FIGURF. 4. 

NO , IT IS NOT SURJEC'1' TO 
/ REG1TLA"'ION tTNDF.R 

SUR'T'ITLF. C 

EXHIBIT ~ . 
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or"' "cycled, management practices, 
envi.ronmental emissions that attend use 
or recycling, health and environmental 
effects resulting from use and recycling 
and other specific data are very useful. 

We also invite commenters to submit 
specific proposed standards or 
suggestions for how standards might be 
developed. For example, w.here wastes 
might be burned as a supplemental fuel 
in industriai boilers, proposals on fuel 
ratios, burning temperatures, emission 
control requirements and residue 
disposal requirements would be useful. 
Obviously, the more specific and 
constructive the suggestions, the more 
helpful they will be in our rulemaking. 

C. Section 261.3 (Definition of 
Hazardous Waste) 

This section is a new provision which 
does not have a direct counterpart in the 
proposed regulations. It has been added 
for purposes of clarification and in 
response to questions raised during the 
comment period concerning waste 
mixtures and when hazardous wastes 
become subject to and cease to be 
subject to the Subtitle C hazardous . 
waste management system. 

If a material is a hazardous waste 
within the meaning of this section it 
must be managed in accordance with 
EPA's Part 262 through 265 standards 
and its Part 122 through 124 permitting 
requirements unless covered by one of 
the exclusions in those regulations or 
one of the Part 261 special management 
provisions (§ § 261.5 and 261.6). 

1. What is a Hazardous Waste? 
Paragraph (a) of this section defines 
what a hazardous waste is. It provides 
that a solid waste is a hazardous waste 
if it is not excluded under § 261.4(b) and 
it either (1) is listed as a hazardous 
waste in Subpart D, (2) is a waste 
mixture containing one or more 
hazardous wastes listed in Subpart D or 
(3) exhibits one or more characteristics 
of hazardous waste identified in Subpart 
C. A listed waste or a solid waste 
mixture containing a listed waste which 
is generated by a particular facility may 
be excluded under the rulemaking 
procedures prescribed in § § 260.20 and 
260.22 (see section VIII.C., below). In 
that event, it will be considered a 
hazardous waste only if it exhibits one 
or more of the characteristics. 

Except for waste mixtures, all these 
provisions were contained in EPA's 
December 18, 1978 proposal (see 
§§ 250.10 (b) and (d)(2), 250.13 and 
250.14). The waste mixtures provision is 
a clarification which has been added in 
response to inquiries about whether 
mixtures of hazardous and 
nonhazardous wastes would be subject 
to Subtitle C requirements. This is a 

very real issue in' real-world waste 
management, since many hazardous 
wastes are mixed with non-hazardous 
wastes or other hazardous wastes 
during storage, treatment, or disposal. 

Although it was not expressly stated 
in the proposed regulation, EPA 
intended waste mixtures containing 
listed hazardous wastes to be 
considered a hazardous waste and 
managed accordingly. Without such a 
rule, generators could evade Subtitle C 
requirements simply by com:ningling 
listed wastes with nonhazardous solid 
waste. Most of these waste mixtures 
would not be caught by the Subpart C 
characteristics because they would 
contain wastes which were listed for 
reasons other than that they exhibit the 
characteristics (e.g., they contain 
carcinogens, mutagens or toxic organic 
materials). Obviously, this would leave 
a major loophole in the Subtitle C 
management system and create 
inconsistencies in how wastes must be 
managed under that system. 

EPA recognizes that designating all 
waste mixtures containing listed wastes 
as hazardous wastes under $ubtitle C 
may create some inequities. For 
example, this approach may result in 
some waste mixtures which contain 
only very small amounts of listed 
hazardous wastes or which commingle 
waste in a way which renders them 
nonhazardous (e.g., neutralization) 
having to be managed under Subtitle C. 
We have tried to address this problem 
by establishing provisions for amending 
this paragraph to exclude waste 
mixtures produced by individual 
facilities, if they can show that the 
mixture (or each constituent listed 
hazardous waste) is not hazardous, 
based on the criteria for which the 
consistuent hazardous wastes were 
listed. Because this is a rulemaking 
procedure, it will, asa practical matter, 
only be useful for faCilities which 
routinely mix wastes in relatively 
constant proportions. With a regulated 
community potentially numbering in the 
hundreds of thousands, we simply do 
not have the resources to process 
petitions for exempting "one-shot" 
waste mixtures. Moreover, in most of 
these one-time cases, it seems likely that 
the burden of having to manage a waste 
mixture as a hazardous waste could be 
easily avoided by carefully segregating 
hazardous and non-hazardous waste. 

We know of no other effective 
regulatory mechanism for dealing with 
waste mixtures containing listed 
hazardous wastes. Because the potential 
combinations of listed wastes and other 
wastes are infinite, we hav"e been 
unable to devise any workable, broadly 

applicable formula which would 
distinguish between those waste 
mixtures which are and are not 
hazardous. If any members of the public 
have suggestions for other approaches, 
we would appreciate having them 
brought to our attention for future 
rulemaking. 

Waste mixtures containing only 
wastes which meet the characteristics 
are treated just like any other solid 
waste i.e., they will be considered 
hazardous only if they exhibit the 
characteristics. EPA recognizes that this 
may not be an altogether satisfactory 
regulatory approach. While it would no 
doubt encourage some desirable mixing 
of wastes, it would also allow some 
wastes (principally wastes caught by 
EPA's extraction procedure) to escape 
regulation merely by being mixed with 
other wastes or other materials. We 
know of no solution to this problem 
which does not create major 
inconsistencies in the way wastes are 
determined to be hazardous under 
Subpart C of this regulation. Again, if 
the public has suggestions for other 
ways of dealing with this issue, we 
would like to receive them. 

Z. When Does a Waste Become a 
Hazardous Waste? Paragraph (b) 
provides three simple rules for 
determining when a solid waste 
becomes a hazardous waste and 
therefore must be managed under 
Subtitle C. It has been provided in 
response to comment requesting 
clarification on this issue. 

Paragraph (b) states that a solid waste 
which is a hazardous waste because it is 
listed in Subpart D must begin to be 
managed as a hazardous waste when it 
first meets the Subpart D listing 
description. Most of the hazardous 
wastes listed in § § 261.31 and 261.32 of 
Subpart D are process residues, 
emission control dusts, or wastewater 
treatment sludges, and the point in time 
when they are created is generally well~ 
defined. For those used materials which 
are listed as hazardous wastes in those 
sections or § 261.33 (e.g., spent solvents), 
the point at which they meet the listing 
description is somewhat less well­
defined, but generally occurs when their 
intended use has ceased, and they begin 
to be accumulated or stored for disposal. 
re-use or reclamation .. 

In the case of a waste mixture 
containing a listed hazardous waste, 
paragraph (b) requires that the waste 
mixture be managed as a hazardous 
waste as soon as the listed waste is 
added to it. The listed waste, of course, 
must be handled as a hazardous waste 
prior to that time. 

Finally, paragraph (b) provides that a 
solid waste is a hazardous waste 

EXHIBIT '3 
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whenever it exhibits one or more of the _ 
characteristics. As a practical matter, 
this means that persons handling solid 
wastes must determine whether they 
meet the characteristics whenever the 
management of the solid wastes would 
potentially be subject to EPA's Part 262 
through 265 regulations. 

-The following examples illustrate how 
this provision would operate in practice: 

• The ABC Company stores waste 
acid on-site in containers prior to 
transport off-sit'" for disposal. The 
company must determine whether the 
acid meets Subpart C characteristics 
when it is poured into the containers. 

• The DEF Company pipes waste acid 
into !i tank, where it is neutralized by 
adding lime. The company must 
determine whether the ,acid meets ' 
Subpart C characteristics when it enters 
the neutralization tank. The 
neutralization operation is a treatment 
process. 

• The GHI Company pipes waste acid 
into a tank truck for transport to an off­
site treatment facility. The company 
must determine whether the acid meets 
Subpart C characteristics when it enters 
the tank truck. 

~ The JKL Company produces a 
wastewater which is piped into a 
surface impoundment. for the Pl!l'Poses 
of treatment prior to point-source 
discharge into surface waters. During 
treatment a sludge forms. This sludge is 
periodically dredged from the 
impoundment and disposed of. The 
company must determine (1) whether 
the wastewater meets Subpart C 
characteristics when it enters the 
impoundment and (2) whether the 
sludge meets Subpart C characteristics 
when it begins to accumulate on the 
bottom of the impoundment 

In drafting paragraph (b). EPA has 
attempted to cover the most common 
types of waste generation and 
management scenarios. The Agency 
recognizes. however. that some 
companies may generate and handle 
wastes in ways not conte'mplated by 
EPA and for which a strict application of 
paragraph (b) would make no sense. We 
would appreciate having those instances 
brought to our attention so that we can 
decide whether additional rulemaking or 
issuing guidance is appropriate for 
dealing with these situations. 

3. When Does a Hazardous Waste 
Cease to be a Hazardous Waste? 
Paragraphs (c) and (d) of this section 
explain when a hazardous waste ceases 
to be a hazardous waste and therefore is 
no longer subject to Subtitle C 
requirements. These are new provisions 
which have been added both in 
response to comment and as a logical 
outgrowth of paragraph (b). 

Paragraph (c) provides that a 
hazardous waste remains a hazardous 
waste unless and until (1) it does not 
exhibit any of the characteristics 
identified in Subpart C and (2) where 
the waste is listed in Subpart 0 (or is a 
mixture containing a waste listed in 
Subpart D). the waste (or each of its 
constitutent listed wastes) is also 
excluded from paragraph (c) UJider the 
rulemaking procedures outlined in 
§ § 260.20 and 260.22. As a practical 
matter. this means that facilities which 
store, dispose of or treat hazardous 
waste must be considered hazardous 
waste management facilities for as long 
as they continue to contain hazardous 
waste and that any wastes removed 
from such facilities-including spills. 
discharges or leaks-must be managed 
as hazardous wastes. 

EPA believes this is a very reasonable 
and rational rule. Wastes are typically 
stored for relatively short periods of 
time. Although solids in the waste may 
settle and the volume of the waste may 
be reduced by evaporation during this 
period, major chemical or biological 
changes affecting the hazardous 
character of the waste are unlikely to 
occur. Hazardous wastes which are 
disposed of in a landfill are more likely 
to undergo change (principally through 
leaching and anaerobic degradation). 
but only very slowly and over a long 
period of time. 

Hazardous wastes placed in treatment 
facilities (including incinerators. surface 
impoundments and land treatment 
facilities) will. by definition. change 
character. However, treatment does not 
necessarily "render [a] waste 
nonhazardous" (Section 1004(34)). It 
may only make it "amenable for 
recovery. amenable for storage or 
reduced in voIUJne"; or it may only 
eliminate one of several hazardous 
properties. Moreover, even in those 
cases where treatment does ultimately 
render a waste "nonhazardous". the 
waste will generally have been 
hazardous during part or all of the 
treatment process. 

Paragraph (c) establishes a similar 
rule with respect to solid wastes 
generated by storage. disposal and 
treatment-including leachate and 
treatment residues such as sludges and 
incinerator ash. Here. too. it is 
reasonable to assUJne that these wastes. 
which are derived from hazardous 
wastes, are themselves hazardous. 

Leachate is produced by the 
percolation of liquid through wastes; it 
typically contains solubilized heavy 
metals and organic materials and is 
virtually always highly toxic. Treatment 
residues. by definition. contain waste 
constituents which were removed during 

treatment or which were not comple'Jy 
destroyed by treatment. Sludges frof:iJ. 
wastewater treatment typically contain 
concentrated amounts of the toxic 
substances which were in the 
wastewater. Ash from the incineration 
of hazardous wastes often contains 
heavy metals and, if combustion is not 
complete. undestroyed toxic organic 
materials. 

This is the best regulatory approach 
we can devise at this time for dealing 
with solid wastes generated by 
hazardous w.aste management facilities. 
We are not now in a position to 
prescribe waste-specific trea tment 
standards which would identify those 
processes which do and do not render 
wastes or treatment residues 
nonhazardous. To list treatment 
residues on case-by-case basis would be 
an enormous job. and one which we 
think. given ihe reasons outlined above. 
is unnecessary. 

This approach obviously is not 
without deficiencies. For example. one 
effect of treating wastes containing 
synthetic organic materials may be to 
create new hazardous constituents in 
the waste or treatment residue. This 
regulation obviously does not deal with 
those new constituents. It also does not 
cover run-off from hazardous waste 
facilities on the theory that the water in 
precipitation run-off in many cases may 
not have had sufficient contact with the 
waste to solubilize waste constituents. 
(Of course if collected, run-off would be 
a solid waste and. if it exhibited any of 
the characteristics. would have to be 
managed as a hazardous waste). For 
purposes of future rulemaking. we would 
be interested in any suggestions the 
public has for dealing with these issues. 

D. Section 261.4 (Exclusions) 
EPA's proposed Section 3001 

regulations identWed a nUJnber of 
wastes which would not be subject to 
Subtitle C requirements because they 
were either excluded from the statutory 
defi~tion of solid waste (§ 250.11(a)(7)). 
not mtended by Congress to be 
regulated under Subtitle C (§ 250.10(d)[2) 
(i) and (ii)), or subject to regulation 
under other EPA-statutes 
(§ 250.10(d)(2)(iii)). 

EPA received a number of comments 
on these proposed exclusions. Some . 
commenters simply urged EPA to clarify 
which wastes were covered by each of 
the exclusions. Others challenged EPA's 
justification for some of its proposed 
exclusions. Still others 'contended that 
additional wastes should be exempted 
from regulation based on legislative 
history or an alleged lack of 
demonstrated harm to hUJnan health or 
the environment. 
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concluded that none of the degree of 
hazard systems suggested by 
commenters, nor any it could itself 
conceive, is capable of comprehensively 
distinguishing different degrees of 
hazard among the myriad of hazardous 
wastes without application of very 
subjective judgment. This precluded 
~'qblishing small quantity exemptions 

based on a hierarchy of hazard levels. 
While the Agency has not found it 

possible to establish a comprehensive 
hazard ranking system, the Agency has 
attempted on a limited basis to make 
hazard distinctions in establishing small 
quantity cutoffs. The Agency has 
establishlld very low exclusion limits for 
certain very acutely toxic or otherwise 
hazardous chemical products (if 
discarded), off-specification derivatives 
of those products. and the product 
containers and spill residues. The 
Agency may in the future establish 
specific (low) exclusion limits for other 
highly hazardous wastes on a case-by-
case basis. /" 

5. Limited Administrative Resources 
Require Setting the Initial Exclusion' 
Level at 1000 kg/mo. EPA has decided to 
adopt for the present time, a general 
exclusion level of 1000 kg/mo, The 
Agency's basis for this decision is the 
current lack of sufficient administrative 
resources to allow the Agency and the 
States to effectively regulate all 
hazardous waste. Given that resource 
constraint, the Ag~ncy believes iliat the 
overall level of environmental 
protection which can be provided will 
.be greater if the Agency focuses 
available resources on fully regulating 
wastes from large generators during the 
early years of regulation implementation 
rather than eXPlinding the scope of 
regulatory coverage and achieving 
ineffectual implementation of a more 
ambitious program. 

The primary reason for selecting 1000 
kg/mo. Le .. the administrative 
impossibility of implementing at lower 
levels, deserves some elaboration. As 
noted earlier, regulation of all 
generators of hazardous waste would 
bring 760.000 persons into the regulatory 
system. Regulating only those persons 
who generate more than 100 kg/mo 
would exclude from the program 560.000 
generators, 73.9 percent of the total. If 
the exclusion level were set at 1000 kg/ 
mo, 695,000 generators or 91.2 percent 
would be excluded from regulation, At a 
5000 kg/mo level, 722.000 generators or 
94.7 percent would be excluded. 

In 1981, the first full year of 
implementing the Subtitle C controls, 
analyses of Agency and State workload 
requirements and available resources to 
implement the Subtitle C controls 
indicate that. if all generators were fully 

regulated, workload requirements would 
exceed resources available by 1100 to 
1200 workyears. If generators of less 
than 100 kg/mo quantities were 
exempted from full regulation, the 
shortfall would be much less, but still a 
substantial 200 to 300 workyears. 
However, if generators of less than 1000 
kg/mo quantities are exempted. the 
shortfall is projected to be less than 100 
workyears, about 5 percent of the total 
workload requirements. 

The resource constraints and 
shortfalls have direct significance for 
the operation of the entire regulatory 
program. To expand the coverage to 
smaller generators would require direct 
sacrifices from other elements of the 
program, most notably regulation and 
enforcement of large generators, 
permitting of treatment, storage and 
disposal facilities. and enforcement and 
inspection of these facilities. 
Furthermore, with greater resource 
demands and projected shortfalls. 
greater difficulties are likely in the 
ability of States to obtain authorization 
to administer the program in lieu of the 
Federal government. 

Given the enormity of the 
implementation task and the limited 
administrative resources, EPA has been 
forced to make difficult allocation 
decisions. Expanding the coverage of 
generators would entail direct sacrifices 
from other essential program 
components. The determination of the 
proper exclusion level in the final 
regulation represents a complicated 
balancing of a variety of factors. The 
decision reflects a judgment by the 
Agency that the overall environmental 
objectives will be best served by 
selecting a level which promises full and 
effective implementation of all elements 
of the program rather than one that 
promises ineffective implementation of a 
more ambitious program. 

Accordingly, EPA has decided to 
establish for the present time a 
conditioned exclusion of hazardous 
wastes from generators who produce 
less than 1000 kilograms a month. This 
level will enabre EPA to direct its 
attention to the effective regulation of 99 
percent of the total wastes generated. 
and will entail only insignificant. if any. 
sacrifices in the task of issuing permits 
to hazardous waste management 
facilities. 

In addition. the exclusion is not 
unqualifjed; generators of small 
quantities of hazardous waste must 
ensure that their wastes go to facilities 
that are approved by the State to handle 
municipal or industrial wastes. For most 
of these facilities the commingling of 
small quantities of hazardous waste 
with large quantities of non-hazardous 

waste is likely to minimize 
environmental problems attributable to 
the hazardous waste, particularly since 
dilution levels at a 1000 kg exclusion are 
generally at least 100 to 1. Importantly. 
this approach will give State agencies 
more flexibility in dealing with small 
quantity generators. If a State 
determines tha t certain types of 
exempted hazardous waste should not 
be managed in a particula.r non­
hazardous facility. it can deal with that 
situation directly. 

The Agency considered other types of 
reduced administrative or technical ' 
requirements for-exempted generators, 
including various subsets of the full 
Subtitle C requirements. A limited 
number of commenters suggested 
particular reduced requirements which 
they felt would provide limited but 
necessary controls. The Agency's 
analysis of various reduced Subtitle C 
requirements indicated that they would 
either provide an insignificant level of 
additional control, or that they would 
not substantially reduce the 
administrative burden of the full Subtitle 
C requirements. Thus. the Agency 
decided to impose only the condition 
stated above. 

6. Phasing Down the Coverage of 
Small Quantity Generators. On the 
basis of information presently available 
to the Agency. it~appears that a general 
exclusion level of 100 kg/mo woUld 
better achieve the environmental 
protection objectives of Subtitle C. 
Therefore. EPA intends to initiate 
rulemaking within 2 to 5 years to expand 
Subtitle C coverage down to generators 
of 100 kg/mo. During this process. the 
Agency will consider the need for any 
special regulatory requirements to deal 
with any unique problems associated 
with these wastes. 

A number of commenters argued that 
phasing regulatory coverage of small 
generators would significantly benefit 
the administration of the hazardous 
waste management program. The 
Agency believes that because of limited 
resources. the Agency must phase its 
regulation of small generators to be able 

. to fully implement the Subtitle C 
controls on large generators. 
transporters. and waste management 
facilities. 

7. Environmental Considerations. The 
information that the Agency was able to 
develop on the environmental impacts of 
different quantity cutoff levels was not 
fully conclusive. However. the data 
indicate that an exclusion level of 100 
kg/mo. coupled with lower exclusions 
for certain highly hazardous wastes, and 
disposal of excluded waste in Subtitle C 
or State approved facilities will. in most 
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cases, minimize adverse impacts on 
human health and the environment. 

The review of damage cases tends to 
support a 100 kg/mo exclusion level. 
First, there were very few damage cases 
involving quantities below that level. 
Second, those few cases involved 
indiscriminate dumping rather than 
disposal in managed facilities. This 
suggested that disposal of quantities less 
than 100 kilograms in a managed facility 
might provide sufficient environmental 
protection, even if the managed facility 
was not authorized to handle hazardous 
waste. Of the 11 damage incidents 
involving the disposal of less than 1000 
kg quantities of hazardous waste in 
managed facilities the environmental 
damage or personal injury occurred in 
nine of the incidents because of 
mismanagement of single containers, 
i.e., 55 gallon drums of ignitable, 
corrosive or reactive materials. Setting 
the exclusion level at 100 kg/mo would 
in most cases ensure that single, full 
drums would be properly packaged and 
labeled, manifested and sent to Subtitle 
C facilities. A higher exclusion level 
would not provide this assurance. 

Wastes generated by small quantity 
generators at the 100 kg/mo exclusion 
level comprise only 0.23 percent of all 
hazardous waste. The environmental 
analysis showed that these small 
generator hazardous wastes are 
typically mixed by the generator with 
non-hazardous wastes and subsequently 
disposed of in waste management 
facilities for municipal waste. If these 
mixed wastes were evenly distributed to 
such facilities, the dilution ratio of non­
hazardous to hazardous waste would be 
roughly 900 to 1 at a 100 kg/mo 
exclusion limit. 

Although even distribution will not 
occur, EPA believes that very large 
dilution ratios will result in most 
situations with a 100 kg/mo exclusion 
level. This is because 92 percent of the 
small generators (producing less than 
100 kg/mol are in the non-manufacturing 
sector and are distributed in reasonable 
proportion to population and. therefore. 
in reasonable proportion to quantities of 
diluting non-hazardous municipal 
wastes. The effect of even distribution 
and high dilution is to spread and. 
thereby, minimize exposure and risk. 
Although this effect cannot be assessed 
with great preCision. it is not 
unreasonable to assume that human 
health exposure and risk is significantly 
reduced at dilution ratios of several 
hundred to 1. 

8. Resource Considerations. Projecting 
administrative resources into the future 
is inherently speculative. requiring 
various assumptions and estimates of 
State and Agency budgets. and 

implementation workloads. The Agency 
studies assumed constant budgets, and 
predicted the administrative shortfall to 
become exacerbated, rather than 
reduced over time. Other projections, 
presented in the background document 
for small generators, also suggest some 
resource diffieulties in phasing-in the 
coverage of small generators, but these 
projections show that the resource 
picture may improve over time. The 
Agency, however, believes it is 
appropriate to expand its regulatory 

. coverage of small quantity generators, 
and will be seeking the budgetary 
increases necessary to accomplish that 
phasing. Additionally. once the 
regulatory apparatus is in place and 
operating, the Agency will be able to 
reassess the ability to achieve more 
comprehensive coverage by means of 
allocating its resources differently than 
presently projected. 

F. Section 261.6 (Special Requirements 
for Hazardous Waste Which Is Used. 
Re-used, Recycled or Reclaimed) 

This section sets forth the 
applicability of the Subtitle C 
regulations to the storage and 
transportation of hazardous waste 
sludges and hazardous wastes listed in 
Subpart D that are used, re-used, 
recycled or reclaimed. It also provides 
for the exclusion from regulation of all 
other aspects of the use, re-use. 
recycling or reclamation of hazardous 
waste until EPA promulgates regulations 
to the contrary. The content of and 
rulemaking considerations that went 
into this section are fully discussed in 
Section IV. B. of this preamble. 

V. Subpart B-Criteria for Identifying 
Characteristics of Hazardous Waste and 
for Listing Hazardous Waste 

A. Section 261.10 (Criteria for 
Identifying the Characteristics of 
Hazardous Wastes) 

Section 3001 of the Act requires EPA 
to develop and promulgate criteria for 
identifying the characteristics of 
hazardous waste. The proposed 
regulations identified two such criteria. 
The first criterion was that the 
characteristic be capable of being 
defined in terms of physical. chemical or 
other properties which cause the waste 
to meet the definition of hazardous 
waste in the Act. This criterion 
embodied the simple but fundamental 
notion that a characteristic of hazardous 
waste must be one which causes the 
waste to be a hazardous waste within 
the meaining of the statutory definition. 
The second criterion was that the 
properties -defining the characteristic be 
measurable by standardized and 

available testing protocols. EPA adopted 
this second criterion in recognition that 
the primary responsibility for 
determining whether wastes exhibit the 
characteristics rests with generators. It 
believed that unless generators were 
provided with widely available and 
uncomplicated test methods for 
determining whether their wastes 
exhibited the characteristics, the system 
would prove unworkable. Largely in 
reliance on this second criterion, EPA 
refrained from adding organic toxicity, 
carcinogenicity, mutagenicity. 
teratogenicity, bioaccumulation 
potential and phytotoxicity to the set of 
proposed characteristics and instead left 
it to listing mechanism to capture 
wastes exhibiting these properties. EPA 
considered the available test protocols 
for measuring these characteristics to be 
either insufficiently developed or too 
complex and too highly dependent on 
the use of skilled personnel and special 
equipment. Additionally, given the 
current state of the knowledge 
concerning such properties, EPA did not 
feel that it could define with any 
confidence the numerical threshold level 
at which wastes exhibiting these 
characteristics would present a 
substantial hazard. Furthermore, it 
questioned whether these tests 
sufficiently took into account the 
multiple factors which bore on the 
question of the hazardousness of such 
wastes. 

EPA received a few comments on its 
proposed criteria for identifying 
characteristics, the most significant of 
which addressed the appropriate use of 
the identified characteristics. A number 
of commenters contended that EPA did 
not have authority to require generators 
to assess their wastes in accordance 
with the characteristics. These 
commenters were generally concerned 
about the burden placed on generators 
by such a requirement and argued that 
the characteristrics should only be used 
by the Agency in listing hazardous 
wastes. Other commenters believed tha 
EPA was fully justified in requiring 
generators to assess their wastes in 
accordance with the identified 
characteristics and felt that this would 
assure the broadest possible coverage 
for hazardous wastes. 

EPA disagrees with those commente 
who argue that EPA has no authority t 
require generators to determine if theil 
wastes exhibit any of the 
characteristics. Throughout the statutE 
Congress made reference to two 
alternative mechanisms for bringing a 
waste into the hazardous waste 
system-identification through 
characteristics. and listing. If Congree 
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had intended the identified 
characteristics to be used solely by EPA 
in listing wastes, then there would have 
been no point in making a distinction 
between these two mechanisms. 
Consequently, since the determination 
of whether a waste exhibits the 
characteristics appears to require some 
action by someone other than EPA, the 
most reasonable interpretation of the 
statutory language is that it requires 
generators to assess their wastes in 
accordance with the EPA-identified 
characteristics. This interpretation of 
the statutory language is substantially 
reinforced by the provision in Section 
3002(4) that generators may be required 
to furnish information on the general 
chemical composition of their waste~a 
requirement which presumes testing. 

The final regulation makes a few 
slight changes in the language of the 
criteria for identifying characteristics in 
an attempt to clarify the meaning of the 
regulation and better reflect EPA's 
regulatory intent. First,EPA has omitted 
reference to damage incidents and 
scientific and technical information as 
bases for identifying characteristics, out 
of a conviction that this reference is 
unnecessary and in partial agreement 
with those who argued that damage 
incidents should not be heavily relied on 
in identifying characteristics. Second, 
EPA has omitted the redundant phrase 
"can be defined in terms of specific, 
physical, chemical, toxic, infectious, or 
other properties of a solid waste." Third, 
EPA has expanded the criterion of· 
"measurability" to make clear that any 
test for measuring characteristics must 
be within the capability of the generator 
community and to provide that 
characteristics such as reactivity need 
not be accompanied by a testing 
protocol if the characteristic can be 
"reasonably detected by generators. 
through their knowledge of the waste." 

B. Section 261.11 (Criteria for Listing 
Hazardous W(1stej 

In the proposed regulation, EPA 
specified two criteria for listing 
hazardous waste. The first criterion was 
that the waste possess one or more of 
the identified characteristics. The 
second criterion was that the waste 
meet the definition of hazardous waste 
found in Section 1004(5) of the Act. 

The first criterion to a large extent 
reflected EPA's regulatory strategy at 
the time of the proposal. Under that 
strategy, EPA planned to identify and 
quantitatively define all of the 
characteristics of hazardous waste, 
including organic toxicity, 
carcinogenicity, mutagenicity, 
teratogenicity, bioaccumulation 
potential and phytotoxicity. Generators 

would be required to assess their wastes 
in accordance with these characteristics 
and EPA would list hazardous wastes 
where ithad data indicatingthe wastes 
exhibited one of the identified 
characteristics. Listing would thus play· 
a largely supplementary function and 
would serve as a device for injecting 
certainty into the process of hazardous 
waste determination. As noted above, 
however, EPA has found it impossible to 
fully effectuate this strategy because of 
the lack of suitably uncomplicated test 
protocols, the difficulty of establishing 
numerical hazardous threshold levels for 
these additional characteristics, and the 
failure of the available test protocols to 
fully incorporate all of the multiple 
factors bearing on the hazards presented 
by such characteristics. 

The second criterion was adopted 
against the backdrop of this inability to 
capture all hazardous wastes through 
identified characteristics, and was 
intended to give the Agency an 
independent basis for capturing such 
wastes. Although this proposed criterion 
was admittedly somewhat general in 
nature, it implicitly incorporated the 
more specific criteria embodied in the 
delistingrequirements and the waste 
codes which accompanied each listing­
provisions which made it clear that EPA 
was specifically concerned with 
radioactive, mutagenic, 
bioaccumulative, toxic organic and 
infectious wastes. Thus, although EPA 
appeared to have prescribed for itself a 
'very broad and inexact listing standard 
in the proposed regulation, in actuality 
the Agency followed a fairly 
particularized set of criteria in listing 
wastes. 

EPA received a large number of 
comments in response to its proposed 
criteria for listing. None of these 
commenters objected to EPA's first 
criterion for listing wastes that exhibit 
one of the characteristics. A large 
number of commenters, however, 
objected to the second criterion. Many 
of these commenters felt that the mere 
articulation of the statutory definition as 
the basis for listing was circular and 
constituted an abrogation of EPA's 
statutory duty to establish criteria for 
listing which expand upon the statutory 
definition. Others argued that the 
second criterion was inappropriate 
because it failed to take into 
consideration such things as 
concentration, degradation potential 
and bioaccumulation potential-factors 
which are specifically mentioned by the 
Act. 

EPA agrees that the proposed 
criterion for listing wastes which do not 
exhibit any of the characteristics was as 

a general matter, too broad. 
Accordingly, we have promulgated a 
considerably expanded and more 
specific set of criteria to take the place 
of the proposed criterion. These criteria 
are broken down into two categories­
criteria for listing acutely hazardous 
waste and criteria for listing toxic 
waste. 

The criteria for listing acutely 
hazardous waste are intended by EPA to 
serve as the criteria for identifying 
wastes which are so hazardous that 
they can be said to meet part (A) of the 
statutory definition of hazardous 
waste-i.e., wastes which may "cause, 
or significantly contribute to an increase 
in serious irreversible, or incapacitating 
reversible, illness", regardless of how 
they are managed. It is EPA's conviction 
that most wastes are hazardous only 
because they "pose a substantial 
present or potential hazard to human 
health or the environment when 
improperly managed" and thus meet 
part (B) of the statutory definition of 
hazardous waste. Nevertheless, EPA 
recognizes that there are wastes which 
are so acutely hazardous that they can 
be considered to present a substantial 
hazard whether .improperly managed or 
not. EPA has defined this category of 
wastes to include those which have 
been shown to be fatal to humans in low 
doses or have been shown in 
mammalian studies to have an oral LD 
50 toxicity of less than 50 milligrams per 
kilogram, (as determined using rats), an 
inhalation LC 50 toxicity of less than 
2000 milligrams per cubic meter (as 
determined using rats), or a dermal LD 
50 toxicity of less than 200 milligrams 
per kilogram (as determined using 
rabbits). Numerous government agencies 
and private organizations, including the 
Department of Transportation, the 
Consumer Product Safety Commission 
and the National Academy of Sciences, 
recognize that substances exhibiting 
these LD 50 and LC 50 toxicities are so 
potentially lethal as to be considered 
poisonous or acutely toxic. EPA has also 
defined. this category of wastes to 
include wastes, such as explosives, 
which otherwise meet part (A) of the 
statutory definition of hazardous waste. 
This has been done in recognition that 
wastes may be acutely hazardous even 
if they are not toxic. Inasmuch as a 
waste will meet the acutely hazardous 
criteria only when the whole waste, 
rather than just its constituents, presents 
an acute hazard, EPA has employed and 
intends to employ these criteria 
primarily to list the discarded pure 
chemical substances and associated 
rna terials specified in § 261.33. EPA 
recognizes, however, that there may be 
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wa.stes such as wastes containing 
substantial concentrations of potent 
carcinogens which meet these criteria 
even though they are not pure 
substances. 

The criteria for listing toxic wastes 
are intended by EPA to identify all those 
wastes which are toxic. carcinogenic. 
mutagenic. teratogenic. phytotoxic. or 
toxic to aquatic species. These criteria 
provide that a waste will be listed 
where it contains any of a number of 
designated toxic constituents-unless. 
after consideration of certain specified 
factors. EPA concludes that the waste 
does not meet part (B) of the statutory 
definition of hazardous waste. As in the 
proposed regulation. the ultimate 
requirement for listing a waste as 
hazardous is whether it meets the 
definition of hazardous waste found in 
the Act. Unlike the proposed regulation. 
however. the final criteria significantly 
channel the route the Agency must 
follow in determining whether a waste 
meets the statutory definition. The first 
inquiry which must be made under the 
final criteria is whether the waste 
contains any of the toxic constituents 
listed in Appendix VIII. These 
constituents are ones which have been 
shown in reputable scientific studies to 
have toxic. carcinogenic. mutagenic or 
teratogenic effects on humans or other 
life forms and include such substances 
as those identified by the Agency's 
Carcinogen Assessment Group. 
Consequently. the presence of any of 
these constituents in the waste is 
presumed to be sufficient to list the 
waste unless after consideration of the 
designated multiple factors. EPA 
concludes the waste is not hazardous. 
These multiple factors include the type 
of toxic threat posed. the concentrations 
of the toxic constituents in the waste. 
the migration potential. persistence and 
degradation potential of the toxic 
constituents. the degree to which the 
toxic constituents bioaccumulate in 
ecosystems. the plausible types of 

. improper management to which the 
waste could be subjected. the quantities 
of waste generated. and other factors 
not explicitly designated by the Act. 
including damage incidents involving 
wastes contain~ng the toxic constituents 
and actions taken by other 
governmental agencies with respecUo 
the waste or its toxic constituents. 

EPA has adopted this flexible. 
multiple factor approach to listing rather 
than the formulaic approach embodied 
in the characteristics because it 
considers this approach to be better able 
to acconunodate itself to complex 
determinations of hazard. EPA further 
believes that this multiple factor 

•• 

approach was to some extent 
contemplated by Congress. Most of the 
factors selected are specifically 
mentioned in Section 3001 of the Act. 
Additionally. the report which 
accompanied the Senate bill provided 
that at a minimum the Administrator 
should designate as hazardous each 
mixture of solid waste which contained 
a toxic or hazardous substance listed in 
section 112 of the Clean Air Act or 
section 307(a) and section 311(b) of the 
Clean Water Act unless he determined 
that the waste did not meet the criteria 
for identifying hazardous wastes. Senate 
Report 94-988. 94th Cong .. 2d Sess. at 14. 
Thus the Senate bill. like EPA's final 
regulations. envisioned a presumption in 
favor of listing based on the presence of 
a toxic constituent in the waste which is 
rebuttable by a consideration of further 
factors. Although the Senate version of 
the bill was not adopted. the concept 
embodied therein was not specifically 
rejected in the final statute. providing 
some further basis for concluding that 
EPA's approach for listing toxic wastes 
reflects congressional intent. 

As can be seen from the above 
discussion. the final criteria for listing 
reflect a change in emphasis in the 
Agency's regulatory strategy. EPA is not 
fully confident that it can suitably define 
and construct testing protocols for the 
characteristics of organic toxicity. 
carcinogenicity. mutagenicity. 
teratogenicity. bioaccumulation 
potential. phytotoxicity. radioactivity 
and infectiousness. and is consequently 
relying on the listing mechanism to bring 
wastes exhibiting these properties into 
the system. One negative aspect of this 
change in approach is that it shifts to 
EPA the primary burden for identifying. 
analyzing and evaluating these wastes 
with the result that it may take longer to 
achieve full regulatory coverage. This 
negative aspect is substantially offset. 
however. by the greater flexibility and 
assurance which the listing approach 
provides. especially when accompanied 
by the delisting procedure. 

A notable difference between the 
approach embodied in the 
characteristics and the approach 
embodied in the criteria for listing is 
that EPA attaches less emphasis to 
waste constituent migration and 
subsequent environmental fate in the 
listing mechanism than in the 
characteristics. This is nowhere better 
demonstrated than in the listing of 
waste which contain primary drinking 
water standards contaminants. In listing 
wastes which contain primary drinking 
water standards contaminants EPA has 
elected to focus. in the' first instance. on 
the actual presence of the toxic 

constituent in the waste and to treat 
other factors such as migration potential 
as essentially mitigating considerations 
which might render the waste non­
hazardous. EPA feels justified 1r,. 
concentrating primarily on the 
composition of the waste because the 
listing mechanism allows for a more 
individualized consideration of hazard 
and because the delisting procedure 
affords generators an opportunity to 
demonstrate. through reliance on the 
specified factors. that their waste is not 
in fact hazardous. In the case of wastes 
exhibiting the characteristic of EP 
toxicity. on the other hand. there is no 
opportunity to make such a 
demonstration-since the test· 
prescribed in the characteristic 
constitutes a final determination of 
hazard. Consequently. out ·of concern 
that the characteristic not be 
overinclusive. EPA has placed 
somewhat greater emphasis on 
migration potential and has rigorously 
incorporated this consideration into the. 
EP test. 

As noted in section III.A.3. of this 
preamble. EPA intends to supplement 
the listing criteria to allow listing of 
radioactive and infectious wastes. We 
are deferring promulgation of the criteria 
for listing radioactive wastes because 
we want to wait Ul1til Congress has 
spoken on this issue and because 
deferral will give EPA more time to 
refine its standards for listing these 
wastes and to coordinate these 
standards with the regulations 
governing used. re-llsed recovered. and 
reclaimed wastes. We are similarlv 
deferring promulgation of the crite~ia for 
listing infectious wastes because we 
have not finished developing the 
treatment standards applicable to such 
wastes. 

A few clarifying changes have been 
added to the final regulation. First. the 
regulation provides that EPA may list 
classes or types of wastes if it has 
reason to believe that all wastes within 
the class or type typically or frequently 
are hazardous. Second. the regulation 
provides that the criteria for listing will 
be used to establish the exclusion limits 
for acutely toxic wastes generated by 
small generators. These exclusion limits 
are referred to in § 261.5(c). 

VI. Subpart C-Characteristics of 
Hazardous Waste • 

A. Section 261.20-General 

This section is largely self­
explanatory. It states· that a solid waste 
is a hazardous waste if it exhibits any of 
the characteristics of hazardous waste. 
explains the assignment of EPA 
Hazardous Waste Numbers. and 
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
AGENCY 

40 CFR Part 262 

[FRL 1470-7] 

Standards for Generators of 
Hazardous Waste 

AGENCY: Environmental Protection 
Agency, 
ACTION: Final rule. 

SUMMARY: The Resource Conservation 
and Recovery Act, as amended, seeks to 
promote the protection of human health 
and the environment and to conserve 
valuable material and energy resources. 
In order to accomplish this, the Act 
establishes a national program to 
improve solid waste management, 
including the control of hazardous 
waste, the promotion of resource 
conservation and recovery. and the 
establishment of environmentally sound 
solid waste disposal practices. 

The EPA promulgated regulations 
establishing standards for generators of 
hazardous waste. These regulations 
were published in the Federal Register 
on February 26, 1980 (45 FR 12722). The 
amendments published today are both 
administrative and technical changes to 
the regulations which are intended to ' 
clarify the operation of these 
regulations. Areas of change include 
clarification of the effective date and 
compliance date of the regulation; 
clarification of the applicability of the 
regulations to generators which treat, 
store, or dispose of hazardous waste on­
site; a corrected citation to the Part 261 
provisions establishing equivalent test 
methods for determining whether a 
waste is a hazardous waste; inclusion of 
a generator's requirement to designate a 
facility or accept the waste if it cannot 
be delivered to the designated or 
alternate facility; a technical correction 
concerning placarding for rail 
shipments; expanded requirements for 
accumulation time in tanks and for 
contingency plans; addition of the EPA 
mailing aq,dress for generators who are 
required to notify the Administrator of 
international shipments; a corrected 
citation to triple rinsing in the Farmers 
section; and additions to the Annual 
Report (EPA Forms 8700-13,,8700-13A 
and 8700-13B). 
DATES: Effective date: November 19, 
1980. EPA will accept public comment 
on'these regulations and amendments 
for administrative errors only (e.g., 
typographical errors, inaccurate cross 
references) until July 18, 1980. No 
extension in the effective date will be 
made, however, as a result of such 
comments. 

ADDRESSES: The official docket for this 
regulation is located in Room 2711, U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency, 401 M 
Street SW., Washington, D.C., and is 
available for viewing from 9:00 a.m. to 
4:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, 
excluding holidays. 

For information on implementation of 
these regulations, contact your EPA 
Regional Office. 
FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: 
For technical assistance on these 
regulations contact Harry W. Trask or 
Rolf P. Hill, Office of Solid Waste (WH-
563), U.S. Environmental Protection 
Agency, Washington, D.C. 20460 (202-
755-9150). For single copies of the 
amended Part 262 preamble and 
regulations published today and for 
copies of the February 26, 1980 version 
which contained a more descriptive 
preamble of this whole Part, contact 
Edward Cox, Solid Waste Publications, 
26 W. St. Claire, Cincinnati, Ohio 45268 
(513) 684-5362. Multiple copies will be 
available from the Superintendent of 
Documents, Washington, D.C. 20402. 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: 

1. Authority 

These amendments are issued under 
authority of sections 2002(a), 3001, 3002, 
3003, 3004 and 3005 of the Solid Waste 
Disposal Act. as amended by the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery 
Act of 1976 and as amended by the 
Quiet Communities Act of 1978 ("RCRA" 
or "the Act"), 42 U.S.C. 6912(a), 6921, 
6922,6923,6924,6925. 

II. Background 

This regulation was published in the 
Federal Register in proposed form for 
public review and comment on 
December 18, 19.78 as 40 CFR Part 250, 
Subpart B (43 FR 58969 et seq.). The 
Agency held five public hearings and 
received a substantial number of written 
comments on the proposal. The public 
comment period closed on March 16, 
1979. 

After consideration of the views of the 
public, the Agency promulgated the Part 
262 regulations in the Federal Register 
February 26, 1980 and promulgates these 
amendments today. 

These amendments are in two 
categories, administrative amendments 
and technical amendments. 
Administrative amendments are 
corrections or clarifications which are 
being made to meet the intent of Part 262 
preamble and regulations. The technical 
amendments address the additions or 
changes which were specified in the 
February 26, 1980 preamble to the Part 
262 regulations. 

III. Amendments 

1. Effective Date 

RCRA establishes the effective date of 
Subtitle C regulations as "the date six 
months after the date of promulgation 
thereof ... " (Section 30fO(b)). 
Regulations implementing Section 3001 
(40 CFR Part 261) identify characteristics 
of hazardous waste and list particular 
wastes as hazardous. These regulations 
are essential in determining who must 
comply with the Subtitle C regulations. 
Therefore, EPA intends to make the 
effective date of regulations 
implementing Sections 3002 and 3003 six 
months from the date of promulgation 
of Part 261. Since Part 261 is 
promulgated today, the effective date is 
November 19, 1980. 

Some confusion developed when in 
the Federal Register EPA stipulated that 
the "effective date" was August 26, 1980 
and that the "compliance date" was six 
months after the promulgation of 40 CFR 
Part 261. For determining the date at 
which generators will be subject to 
these regulations, the August 26, 1980 
date is incorrect. All generators must 
comply with these regulations as of 
November 19, 1980. 

2. Purpose, Scope and Applicability 

The generator's responsibility to 
comply with these regulations when 
treating, storing or disposing of 
hazardous waste on-site has been 
clarified. Section 262.10(b) of the 
February 26, 1980 Federal Register 
stated that a generator who "treats, 
stores, or disposes of hazardous waste 
. . ." must only comply with certain 
sections of Part 262. 

It was the Agency's intent, as 
indicated in the note which followed 
§ 262.10, that the provision only applied 
to generators who treat, store or dispose 
of hazardous waste on-site. This 
administrative amendment clarifies 
§ 262.10(b) by specifying that a 
generator who "treats, stores, or 
disposes of hazardous waste on-site 
. . ." must only comply with certain 
sections of Part 262. If he treats, stores, 
or disposes of all of his waste on-site, he 
need only comply with those specific 
sections of Part 262 which are identified 
in § 262.10(b). As a treater, storer, or 
disposer, however, he must comply with 
40 CFR Parts 264, 265 and 122. For those 
portions of hazardous waste that a 
generator ships off-site, he must comply 
with all of the Part 262 regulations. 

3. Hazardous Waste Determination 

Section 262.11(c)(1) identified two 
ways for a generator to determine by 
testing whether the waste he generated 
was a hazardous waste as identified in 
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Subpart C of 40 CFR Part 261. The first 
was by using the EPA Part 261 tests. The 
second was using equivalent testing 
methods approved by the Administrator. 
The citation to the equivalent testing 
methods which appeared in the 
February 26 rule was incorrect. 
Equivalent methods are now described 
in 40 CFR 260.21. 

4. DesignatedFacility 

In the preamble to the final rules 
promulgated February 26. 1980. the 
Agency discussed the generator's 
responsibility to either "designate 
another facility or instruct the 
transporter to return the waste" if the 
transporter was unable to deliver the 
hazardous waste to the designated 
facility or the alternate facility. The text 
of the regulation inadvertently omitted 
this requirement. A new subparagraph, 
§ 262.20(d), is added today which 
includes this requirement and makes 
these regulations consistent with the 
preamble to the final rules for this Part 
and the requirements of § 263.21(b). 

5. Placarding 

Placarding requirements are described 
in § 262.33. The rule promulgated 
February 26 required generators to offer 
the appropriate placard to the initial 
transporter. DOT. however. has a 
special requirement for placarding of 
rail shipments (49 CFR 172.508). The 
shipper (generator) according to DOT is 
the person responsible for properly 
placarding a rail shipment rather than 
simply offering the appropriate placard. 
EPA recognizes this difference and is 
applying the same responsibility for 
shipments of hazardous waste by rail. 
This administrative amendment clarifies 
the operation of § 262.33 by requiring 
generators to placard rail shipments 
rather than just offering the appropriate 
placard. It removes an inconsistency 
which inadvertently occurred between 
EPA's and DOT's regulations. 

6. Accumulation Time 

'Ifj The preamble to the regulations 
promulgated on February 26 stated that 
"accumulation of hazardous waste in 
storage tanks meeting the technical 
standards of the Part 264 and 265 
regulations" would be added when 
those standards were promulgated. This 
amendment requires that the 
accumulation of hazardous waste in 
tanks meet the interim status standards 
in Part 265, Subpart J (except for the 
waste analysis and trial tests required 
for treatment tanks). Part 262 may be 
amended again to include the Part 264 
final standards for tanks when they are 
promulgated later this year. 

The container management section of 
the 40 CFR Part ~65. Subpart I 
regulations. published elsewhere in 
today's Federal Register, is not cited in 
its entirety as applicable to the 
accumulation of wastes in DOT 
containers. Rather, only the sections 
requiring inspection of the accumulation 
area (§ 265.174) and buffer zones 
between the container storage area and 
adjacent property lines (as requjred for 
ignitable and reactive wastes under 
§ 265.176) are stipulated. Since 
generators who ship hazardous waste 
off-site are already required to comply 
with DOT container standards (e.g .. 
must not leak and must be compatible 
with the waste). these sections from 
Subpart I were not cited. The Agency 
believes that it is unnecessary and 
potentially confusing to require 
generators to comply with two very 
similar standards for containers. Such 
duplication also would not provide 
additional protection of human health 
and the environment. 

The proposed rule which appeared in 
the Federal Register December 18, 1978 
indicated that the Agency was seeking 
comments regarding the desirability of 
requiring contingency plans for 
generators who accumulated hazardous 
waste. The preamble to the February 26 
Part 262 regulations also indicated that 
the Agency was considering the 
inclusion of such provisions for 
generators who accumulated hazardous 
waste on-site. This amendment requires 
that such generators comply not only 
with the Contingency Plan and 
Emergency Procedures of 40 CFR Part 
265, Subpart D but also with the 
Preparedness and Prevention 
requirements of 40 CFR Part 265 Subpart 
C and the personnel training 
requirements of § 265.16. 

These plans and procedures are 
required of owners or operators of 
treatment. storage, or disposal facilities. 
and the Agency believes that there is 
little difference between accumulation 
of hazardous waste for shipment· off-site 
and storage so far as .potential damage 
to human health and the environment is 
concerned. Therefore, the same 
standards for protection of human 
health and the environment should 
apply. (The February 26 preamble and 
the Background Document discuss the 
rationale for the accumulation 
provisions in more detail.) 

Similarly, the rationale for requiring 
all the Part 265, Subpart J requirements 
for generators who accumulate 
hazardous waste on-site for 90 days or 
less (without obtaining a permit) and for 
requiring certain standards for managing 
containers and personnel training is 

based on the belief that less stringent 
standards could jeopardize human 
health and the environment. 

7. Recordkeeping 
Section 262.40(b) which appeared in 

the February 26.1980 Federal Register 
did not specify the date from which , 
copies of the Annual and Exception 
Report were to be kept for three years. 
This amendment initiates the three year 
retention period from the due date of the 
report (March 1). 

8. International Shipments 
The rule which was promulgated 

February 26.1980 required that 
generators who ship hazardous waste 
outside the jurisdiction of the United 
States notify the Administrator prior to 
the first shipment of each different 
hazardous waste in each calendar, year. 
This amendment includes a specific 
address as a means to expedite EPA's 
handling of this information. In addition. 
the generator is specifically required to 
include the name and address of the 
foreign consignee. 

The regulations published elsewhere 
in today's Federal Register under 40 CFR 
Part 123 do not permit States to be 
authorized to receive the generator's 
notice of international shipment. This 
amendment includes a note reminding 
generators that they are required to 
notify the Administrator. rather than the 
local State authority. 

9. Triple Rinsing 

The citation for triple rinsing of 
containers which appeared in the 
February 26. 1980 Federal Register 
referenced Part 260 of the regulation. 
The Agency decided to include the triple 
rinsing provisions in Part 261 rather than 
in the Part 260 definitions. This 
amendment corrects the citation for the 
triple rinsing provisions. 

10. Annual Reporting 

The Annual Report for generators was 
promulgated in § 262.41 of the February 
26. 1980 Federal Register. It consisted of 
a cover form (8700-13) and a type A 
form (8700-13A). Each part of this 
Report had associated instructions. This 
report was intended for use by 
generators who shipped hazardous 
waste to an off-site treatment. storage. 
or disposal facility. Annual Reports are 
also required for owners or operators of 
treatment. storage. or disposal facilities. 
In an effort to simplify the reporting 
requirements for the regulated 
community, the Agency has combined 
both reports into a single report with 
similar instructions for each part. 
Accordingly, the form and instructions 
which were promulgated in the February 
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180 Federal Register are amended in 
".'I Part 262. A Facility Annual 
rt form (8700-13B) and the 
:iated instructions are also 
ulgated today in Parts 264 and 265. 
~ changes which appear on the first. 
of the Hazardous Waste Report 
form 8700-13) are not extensive. 
m I. (Type of Report), has been 
'ied to include Part A for Generator 
al Reports, Part B for Facility 
al Reports, and Part C for 
mifested Waste Reports. 
l major change which occurred on 
Jrm was the addition of a new 
m VIII entitled Cost Estimates 'for 
tres. Both closure and post-closure 
for treatment, storage, or disposal 
ies must now be included as 
'ed by Parts 264 and 265 
ligated today. 
the Part A report. only minor 
ng changes have occurred (e.g .. to 
'aste Identification section) and a 
al renumbering of all sections due 
addition of the Cost Estimates for 

ties section. Also. the applicability 
'i A reports to generators who ship 
dous waste off-site to facilities 
, they do not own or operate is 
ed. Since facility owners or 
tors are required to file Annual 
'is by Part 264. the Agency found it 
essary to burden generators who 
store. or dispose of hazardous 
on-site by requiring them to file 

early identical reports on the same 
. Therefore. generators who ship 
::lous waste off-site to a facility 
they own or operate or who treat. 

)r dispose of hazardous waste on­
'e not required to file the Part A 
. Rather. they are required to file 
.rt B report for those wastes. 
amended instructions for 
at or Annual Report (Part A) are 
.ed in Part 262 in today's Federal 
er. The instructions for Facility 
il Reports (Part B) and 
nifested Waste Reports (Part C) 
:blished in Parts 264 and 265 
here in today's Federal Register. 

lte Programs 

preamble to the February 26.1980 
tion did not discuss the effect of 
uthorization of State programs on 
plicability of these regulations. 
art applies in States which have 
:eived interim or final 
ization to operate the hazardous 
management system in lieu of the 
il program. With two exceptions. 
)visions of these regulations do 
ply in States which have been 
ized under the provisions of 40 
art 123. Section 40 CPR 123.128(d). 
!s States to obtain interim 
'ization while allowing EPA to 

administer and enforce the Federal 
manifest system as established in 40 
CPR Parts 262 and 263. Further. EPA will 
not authorize States to receive the 
notice of international shipment 
required in § 262.50. Even in States 
whose programs are authorized. 
generators shipping their hazardous 
waste to a foreign country will be 
required to notify EPA four weeks prior 
to the initial shipment. 

IV. OMB Review 

The preamble to the February 26. 1980 
regulations indicated that OMB had not 
completed its review of the 
recordkeeping and reporting provisions 
of the section 3002. 3003 and 3010 
standards. OMB has now completed its 
review and has approved all of those 
provisions. EPA has developed an 
evaluation plan for the entire hazardous 
waste regulatory program. The plan 
commits EPA to an evaluation of each of 
those provisions and to modifying them. 
if necessary. based on the practical 
experience gained during 
implementation. 

The provisions of § 262.34(a)(5) of this 
amendment pertaining to recordkeeping 
and reporting have been submitted to 
the Office of Management and Budget 
for review in light of the requirements of 
the Federal Reports Act. 44 U.S.C. 3501. 
et seq. Time has not permitted 
completion of this review. 

Dated: May 8, 1980 . 
Douglas M. Costle. 
Administrator. 

Title 40 CPR Part 262 is revised to 
read as follows: 

PART 262-STANDARDS APPLICABLE 
TO GENERATORS OF HAZARDOUS 
WASTE 

Subpart A-General 

Sec. 
262.10 Purpose, scope. and applicability. 
262.11 Hazardous waste determination. 
262.12 EPA identification numbers. 

Subpart B-The Manifest 

262.20 General requirements. 
262.21 Required information. 
262.22 Number of copies. 
262.23 Use of the manifest. 

Subpart C-Pre-Transport Requirements 
262.30 Packaging. 
262.31 Labeling. 
262.32 Marking. 
262.33 Placarding. 
262.34 Accumulation time. 

Subpart D-Recordkeeping and Reporting 

262.40 Recordkeeping. 
262.41 Annual reporting. 
262.42 Exception reporting. 
262.43 Additional reporting. 

Subpart E-Special Conditions 

262.50 International shipments. 
262.51 Farmers. 

Appendix-Form 
Annual Report (EPA Form 8700-13). 
Authority: Sees. 2002(a). 3001. 3002. 3003. 

3004; and 3005 of the Solid Waste Disposal 
Act. as amended by Resource Conservation 
and Recovery Act of 1976 and as amended by 
the Quiet Communities Act of 1978, (42 U.S.C. 
6912(a). 6921. 6922.6923. 6924.6925) 

Subpart A-General 

. § 262.10 Purpose, scope,and applicability. 
(a) These regulations establish 

standards for genera tors of hazardous 
waste. 

(b) A generator who treats. stores. or 
disposes of hazardous waste on-site 
must only comply with the fonowing 
sections of this Part with respect to that 
waste: Section 262.11 for determining 
whether or not he has a hazardous 
waste. § 262.12 for obtaining an EPA 
identification number. § 262.40(c) and 
(d) for Recordkeeping. § 262.43 for 
additional reporting and if applicable. 
§ 262.51 for Farmers. 

(c) Any person who imports 
hazardous waste into the United States 
must comply with the standards 
applicable to generators established in 
this Part. 

(d) A farmer who 'generates waste 
pesticides which are hazardous waste 
and who complies with all of the 
requirements of § 262.51 is not required 
to comply with other standards in this 
Part or 40 CPR Parts 122. 264. or 265 with 
respect to such pesticides. 

(e) A person who generates a 
hazardous waste as defined by 40 CFR 
Part 261 is subject to the compliance 
requirements and penalties prescribed 
in Section 3008 of the Act if he does not 
comply with the requirements of this 
Part. 

Note.- A generator who treats. stores. or 
disposes of hazardous waste on-site must 
comply with the applicable standards and 
permit requirements set forth in 40 CFR Parts 
264. 265, and 266 and Part 122. 

§ 262.11 Hazardous waste determination. 
A person who generates a solid waste. 

as defined in 40 CFR 261.2. must 
determine if that waste is a hazardous 
waste using the following method: 

(a) He should first determine if the 
waste is excluded from regulation under 
40 CPR 261.4 and 261.5. 

(b) He must then determine if the 
waste is listed as a hazardous waste in 
Subpart D of 40 CPR Part 261. 

Note.- Even if the waste is listed. the 
generator still has an opportunity under 40 
CFR 260.22 to demonstrate to the 
Administrator that the waste from his 

• 
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particular facility or operation is not a 
hazardous waste. 

(c) If the waste is not listed as a 
hazardous waste in Subpart D of 40 CPR 
Part 261, he must determine whether the 
waste is identified in Subpart C of 40 
CFR Part 261 by either: 

(1) Testing the waste according to the 
methods set forth in Subpart C of 40 
CPR Part 261, or according to an 
equivalent method approved by the 
Administrator under 40 CFR.260.21; or 

(2] Applying knowledge of the hazard 
characteristic of the waste in light of the 
materials or the processes used. 

§ 262.12 EPA identification numbers. 
(a) A generator must not treat, store, 

dispose of, transport. or offer for 
transportation, hazardous waste without 
having received an EPA identification 
number from the Administrator. 

(b) A generator who has not received 
an EPA identification number may 
obtain one by applying to the 
Administrator using EPA form 8700-12. 
Upon receiving the request the 
Administrator will assign an EPA 
identification number to the generator. 

(cl A generator must not offer his 
hazardous waste to transporters or to 
treatment, storage, or disposal facilities 
that have not received an EPA 
identification number. 

Subpart B-The Manifest 

§ 262.20 General requirements. 
(a) A generator who transports, or 

offers for transportation, hazardous 
waste for off-site treatment, storage, or 
disposal must prepare a manifest before 
transporting the waste off-site. 

(b) A generator must designate on the 
manifest one facility which is. permitted 
to handle the waste described on the 
manifest 

(c) A generator may also designate on 
the manifest one alternate facility which 
is permitted to handle his waste in the 
event an emergency prevents delivery of 
the waste to the primary designated 
facility. 

(d) If the transporter is unable to 
deliver the hazardous waste to the 
designated facility or the alternate 
facility, the generator must either 
designate another facility or instruct the 
transporter to return the waste. 

§ 262.21 Required Information. 
(a) the manifest must contain all of the 

following information: 
(1) A manifest document number; 
(2) The generator's name, mailing 

address. telephone number. and EPA 
identification number; 
. (3) The name and EPA identification 

number of each transporter; 

(4) The name, address and EPA 
identification number of the designated 
facility and an alternate facility, if any; 

(5) The description of the wasters) 
(e.g., proper shipping name. etc.) 
required by regulations of the U.S. 
Department of Transportation in 49 CFR 
172.101, 172.202, and 172.203; 

(6) The total quantity of each 
hazardous waste by units of weight or 
volume. and the type and number of 
containers as loaded into or onto the 
transport vehicle .. 

(b) The following certification must 
appear on the manifest: "This is to 
certify that the above named materials 
are properly classified, described, 
packaged, marked. and labeled and are 
in proper condition for transportation 
according to the applicable regulations 
of the Department of Transportation and 
the EPA." 

§ 262.22 Number of copies. 
The manifest consists of at least the 

number of copies which will provide the 
generator, each transporter. and the 
owner or operator of the designated 
facility with one copy each for their 
records and another copy to be returned 
to the generator. 

§ 262.23 Use of the manifest. 
(a) The generator must: 
(1) Sign the manifest certification by 

hand; and 
(2) Obtain the handwritten signature 

of the initial transporter and date of 
acceptance on the manifest; and 

(3) Retain one copy, in accordance 
with § 262.40(a). 

(b) The generator must give the 
transporter the remaining copies of the 
manifest. 

(c) For shipment of hazardous waste 
within the United States solely by 
railroad or solely by water (bulk 
shipments only), the generator must 
send three copies of the manifest da ted 
and signed in accordance with this 
section to the owner or operator of the 
designated facility. Copies of the 
manifest are not required for each 
transporter. 

Nole.-See § 263.20(e) for special 
provisions for rail or water {bulk shipment) 
transporters who deliver hazardous waste by 
rail or water to the designated facility. 

Subpart C-Pre-Transport 
Requirements 

§ 262.30 Paokaging. 
Before transporting hazardous waste 

or offering hazardous waste for 
transportation off-site. a generator must 
package the waste in accordance with 
the applicable Department of 
Transportation regulations on packaging 
under 49 CPR Parts 173. 178, and 179. 

§ 262.31 Labeling. 
Before transporting or offering 

hazardous waste for transportation off­
site, a generator must label each 
package in accordance with the 
applicable Department of 
Transportation regulations on hazardous 
materials under 49 CPR Part 172. 

§ 262.32 Marking. 
(a) Before transporting or offering 

hazardous waste for transportation off­
site, a generator must mark each 
package of hazardous waste in 
accordance with the applicable 
Department of Transportation 
regulations on hazardous materials 
under 49 CPR Part 172; 

(b) Before transporting hazardous 
waste or offering hazardous waste for 
transportation off-site. a generator must 
mark each container of 110 gallons or 
less used in such transportation with the 
following words and information 
displayed in accordance with the 
requirements of 49 CPR 172.304: 

HAZARDOUS WASTE-Federal Law 
Prohibils Improper Disposal. If found. contact 
the nearest police or public safety authority 
or the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 
Generator's Name and Address ---­
Manifest Document Number -----

§ 262.33 Placarding. 
Before transporting hazardous waste 

or offering hazardous waste for 
transportation off-site, a generator must 
placard or offer the initial transporter 
the appropriate placards according to 
Department of Transportation 
regulations for hazardous materials 
under 49 CPR Part 172. Subpart F. 

§ 262.34 Accumulation time. 
(a) A generator may accumulate 

hazardous waste on-site without a 
permit for 90 days or less. provided that: 

(1) All such waste is shipped off-site · 
in 90 days or less; 

(2) The waste is placed in containers 
whIch meet the standards of § 262.30 
and are managed in accordance with 40 
CPR 265.174 and 265.176 or in tanks. 
provided the generator c'omplies with 
the requirements of Subpart J of 40 CPR 
Part 265 except § 265.193; 

(3) The date upon which each period 
of accumulation begins is clearly 
marked and visible for inspection on 
each container; 

(4) Each container is properly labeled 
and marked according to § 262.31 and 
§ 262.32; and 

(5) The generator complies with the 
requirements for owners or operators in 
Subparts C and D in 40 CPR Part 265 
and with § 265.16 . 

(b) A generator who accumulates 
hazardous waste for more than 90 days 
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Before LOGAN, SEYMOUR and 
BALDOCK, Circuit Judges. 

BALDOCK, Circuit Judge. 

Defendant Steven M. Self appeals his 
convictions on four counts of violating the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act 
("RCRA"), 42 U.S.c. Sec. 6928(d), one count of 
mail fraud, 18 U.S.c. Sec. 1341, and one count 
of conspiracy to violate RCRA, the Clean Air 
Act ("CAA"), and the Clean Water Act 
("CWA"). 18 U.S.c. Sec. 371. Three of the four 
substantive RCRA counts (counts 2, 3 and 4) 
and the mail fraud count (count 7) relate to the 
diversion of a shipment of natural gas 
condensate destined for a hazardous waste 
treatment, storage and disposal facility to a gas 
station, blending it with gasoline and selling it to 
the public as automotive fuel. The remaining 
substantive RCRA count (count 8) relates to the 
storage of twenty-nine drums of waste material 

r 
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in violation of a RCRA permit. The conspiracy 
count (count 1) relates to the activity supporting 
the other counts as well as unpermitted burning 
of waste and unpermitted dumping of waste 
water. Defendant raises a number of issues on 
appeal, and we have jurisdiction under 28 U.s.c. 
Sec. 1291. 

I. 

The record reveals the following facts . In 
1981, Defendant and Steven Miller formed 
EkoTek, Inc. Defendant provided most of the 
capital and became an 85% shareholder and 
EkoTek's President. Miller held the remaining 
15% of the stock and became Vice-President. 
EkoTek purchased an industrial facility in Salt 
Lake City, Utah. Using 
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Miller's technical expertise, EkoTek began re­
refining used oil into marketable products. 
Defendant and Miller managed EkoTek on a 
day-to-day basis with Defendant primarily 
responsible for the financial aspects of the 
business, and Miller primarily responsible for 
the technical aspects. 

The facility purchased by EkoTek was an 
authorized RCRA interim status treatment, 
storage and disposal facility. See 42 U.S.c. Sec. 
6925( e)( 1 ). In 1981 and again in 1982, 
Defendant signed and submitted an updated part 
A RCRA permit application. See 40 C.F.R. Sec. 
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270.13 (1992). In 1983, Defendant signed and 
submitted a part B RCRA permit application. 
See id. Sec. 270.14. By submitting the permit 
applications, EkoTek could continue operating 
as a treatment, storage and disposal facility 
under RCRA interim status, pending its RCRA 
permit approval. See 42 U.S.c. Sec. 6925(e)(1). 
In November 1986, EkoTek began marketing 
itself as a hazardous waste recycling facility. 
Defendant and Miller prepared a letter and sent 
it to hazardous waste brokers and generators 
which indicated that EkoTek was licensed and 
prepared to accept a variety of hazardous wastes 
for recycling at its facility. 

In April 1987, a representative of Southern 
California Gas Company ("SCGC"), met with 
Miller at EkoTek and discussed EkoTek 
disposing of SCGC's natural gas pipeline 
condensate. The parties agreed that the 
condensate was hazardous waste and should, 
therefore, be transported and handled under a 
RCRA manifest. Miller indicated that EkoTek 
could dispose of the natural gas condensate by 
burning it as fuel in EkoTek's onsite process 
heaters or boilers. SCGC subsequently 
contracted with and agreed to pay EkoTek "to 
transport, bum, and/or dispose of" natural gas 
condensate for $2.50 per gallon. 

Shortly thereafter, an EkoTek tanker truck 
driver picked up a shipment of natural gas 
condensate from a SCGC facility in Los 
Angeles, California. The driver had been 
instructed by his supervisor to pick up the 
shipment and bring it back to EkoTek. As was 
his routine practice, the driver stopped at a gas 
station in Barstow, California, which was owned 
by Defendant, and telephoned his supervisor. On 
instructions from Defendant, the supervisor told 
the driver to leave the trailers containing the 
natural gas condensate at the gas station and 
return to Los Angeles to pick up an unrelated 
shipment. Defendant telephoned the gas station 
manager and instructed him to blend the natural 
gas condensate with gasoline in a 5-10% mixture 
and add an octane booster. The gasoline and 
condensate mixture was then sold to the public 
as automotive fuel. On Defendant's instructions, 
Miller told EkoTek's Refinery Operations 

t; 
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Manager to sign the manifest to indicate that the 
natural gas condensate shipment had been 
received at EkoTek and to falsify EkoTek's 
operating log accordingly. A copy of the 
manifest was mailed to SCGc. 

In early 1987, EkoTek began recelVlng 
fifty-five gallon drums of waste material from 
different sources. Defendant instructed an 
employee to store the drums in the south 
warehouse. When the south warehouse filled up, 
Defendant instructed the employee to store the 
drums in the east warehouse. The employee was 
also instructed by his immediate supervisor to 
scrape the "hazardous waste" label off of each 
drum, paint a number on the drum, and list it on 
an inventory sheet. In July 1987, the State of 
Utah, pursuant to its delegated RCRA authority, 
see 42 U.s.c. Sec. 6926(b), granted EkoTek a 
RCRA permit which prohibited EkoTek from 
storing hazardous waste in the east warehouse. 
Defendant discussed this illegal storage practice 
with Miller. Defendant's office at EkoTek had a 
view of the doors to the east warehouse which 
were usually left open and through which stored 
fifty-five gallon drums were visible. On several 
occasions, Defendant ordered the doors to the 
east warehouse closed after being informed that 
inspectors would be at the facility. 

Among the drums stored in the east 
warehouse were seventeen drums of waste from 
A very Label and twelve drums of waste from 
Reynolds Metals both of which were shipped to 
EkoTek under RCRA manifests identifying the 
materials as hazardous wastes. A very Label's 
manager of safety and environmental affairs 
testified that the waste sent to EkoTek was a 
mixture of ultraviolet 
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curer ink waste, solvent ink waste, and cleaning 
solvent. Ultraviolet curer ink has a flash point 
exceeding 200? F and is, therefore, not 
considered hazardous due to ignitability. See 40 
C.F.R. Sec. 261.21 (a) (1992). Solvent ink, on 
the other hand, has a flash point well below 140? 
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F and is, therefore, considered hazardous due to 
ignitability. See id. The Material Safety Data 
Sheets ("MSDS") for the type of solvent inks 
that Avery Label used in 1987 indicated that the 
solvent inks had a flash point of between 167 F 
and 1167 F. According to the Avery Label 
representative, mixing solvent ink waste with 
ultraviolet curer ink waste does not raise the 
flash point because the vapors of the solvent ink 
waste, which determine its ignitability, rise to 
the top. In his opinion, the waste sent to EkoTek 
had a flash point of between 707 F to 1007 F. 
The hazardous waste broker who had arranged 
for the disposal of the A very Label waste 
personally observed the waste sent to EkoTek 
and recognized it as a solvent-based ink due to 
its smell. 

The RCRA manifest which accompanied 
the shipment of the Reynolds Metals waste to 
EkoTek indicated that the material was a 
mixture of "MEK" (methyl ethyl ketone) and a 
spray residue. MEK is a listed hazardous waste 
see 40 C.F.R. Sec. 261.33(f) (1992), and it has ~ 
flash point of 237 F. The spray residue has a 
flash point of 1007 F. 

In April 1988, the hazardous waste broker 
responsible for shipping both the A very Label 
and Reynolds Metals wastes to EkoTek visited 
the EkoTek facility after having been informed 
that drums of waste which he brokered had 
never been processed and were being illegally 
stored at the facility. By this time, EkoTek was 
no longer in business, and Petro Chemical 
Recycling, with which Defendant had no 
affiliation, had taken over operation of the 
facility. The broker observed "a lot of drums" 
being stored in the east warehouse, none of 
which were labeled but were crudely marked 
with a number. Using EkoTek's inventory sheet 
and recognizing the drums by their distinctive 
color, the broker identified the seventeen drums 
of A very Label waste and the twelve drums of 
Reynolds Metals waste. He subsequently 
arranged for Marine Shale Processors to dispose 
of these as well as several other drums of waste. 
On documentation submitted to Marine Shale 
Processors, the broker indicated that the 
materials were from four types of waste streams, 
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and he identified the material in twenty-four of 
the 128 barrels as "UV ink waste." Marine Shale 
Processors tested a sample from each of the four 
types of waste streams and determined that each 
type of identified waste had a flash point below 
707 F. 

II. 

With regard to the substantive RCRA 
counts and the mail fraud count relating to the 
diversion of the natural gas condensate to the 
Barstow gas station (counts 2, 3, 4 and 7), 
Defendant argues that natural gas condensate, 
when burned for energy recovery, is not a 
hazardous waste subject to regulation under 
RCRA. Therefore, Defendant claims the district 
court erred by denying Defendant's pretrial 
motion to dismiss, by denying Defendant's 
motion for a judgment of acquittal, and in its 
instruction to the jury defining hazardous waste. 
Because this issue is a question of law, our 
review is de novo. United States v. Deffenbaugh 
Indus., Inc., 957 F.2d 749,751 (10th Cir.1992). 

A. 

RCRA defines "hazardous waste," in 
relevant part as "a solid waste, or combination of 
solid wastes, which because of its quantity, 
concentration, or physical, chemical, or 
infectious characteristics may pose a 
substantial present or potential hazard to human 
health or the environment when improperly 
treated, stored, transported, or disposed of, or 
otherwise managed." 42 U.S.C. Sec. 6903(5)(B). 
Natural gas condensate is a relatively volatile 
substance, having a flash point of less than 1407 
F and, therefore, is "hazardous" as contemplated 
by RCRA. See 40 C.F.R. Secs. 261.3(a)(2)(i), 
261.21(a)(1) (1992). Nonetheless, "for a waste 
to be classified as hazardous, it must first qualify 
as a solid waste under RCRA." Connecticut 
Coastal Fishermen's Ass'n v. Remington Arms 
Co., Inc., 989 F.2d 1305, 1313 (2d Cir.1993) 
(citing United Technologies Corp. v. EPA, 821 
F.2d 714,716 n. 1 (D.C.Cir.1987». 
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See also United States v. Dean, 969 F.2d 187, 
194 (6th Cir.1992), cert. denied, --- U.S. ----, 
113 S.Ct. 1852, 123 L.Ed.2d 475 (1993); 
American Mining Congress v. EPA, 824 F.2d 
1177, 1179 (D.C.Cir.1987). 

RCRA defines "solid waste" to include 
"any .. . discarded material, including ... liquid ... 
material resulting from industrial, commercial, 
mining, and agricultural operations, and from 
community activities .... " I 42 U.S.c. Sec. 
6903(27). RCRA regulations narrow the 
definition of "solid waste" to "any discarded 
material that is not excluded by Sec. 261.4(a) or 
that is not excluded by a variance granted under 
Secs. 260.30 and 260.31." 40 C.F.R. Sec. 
261.2( a)(1) (1992). As there is no contention 
that natural gas condensate is subject to the Sec. 
261.4(a) exclusion, or that it has been granted a 
variance under Sec. 260.30 and 260.31, whether 
natural gas condensate is a solid waste turns on 
whether it is a discarded material. 

RCRA regulations define "discarded 
material" to include material which IS 

"[a]bandoned" or "[r]ecycled." 2 Id. Sec. 
261.2(a)(2). A material is abandoned, inter alia, 
by being "[b ]urned or incinerated." 3 Id. Sec. 
261.2(b )(2). A material is recycled, inter alia, by 
being "[b ]urn[ ed] for energy recovery" or 
"[u]sed to produce a fuel or are otherwise 
contained in fuels ." 4 Id. Sec. 261.2(c)(2). Any 
material that is abandoned by being burned or 
incinerated is considered a solid waste. See id. 
Sec. 261.2(b). However, we note only certain 
types of materials that are recycled by being 
burned for energy recovery are considered solid 
wastes. See id. Sec. 261 .2( c). See also American 
Mining, 824 F .2d at 1180 ("EPA determines 
whether a material is a RCRA solid waste when 
it is recycled by examining both the material or 
substance itself and the recycling activity 
involved. "). 

The only type of material which is 
considered solid waste when it is recycled by 
being burned for energy recovery and which 
might encompass natural gas condensate is a 

r 
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"[b ]y-product exhibiting a characteristic of 
hazardous waste." 5 See 40 C.F.R. Sec. 261.2 
(Table 
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1) (1992). As noted earlier, natural gas 
condensate exhibits the ignitability characteristic 
of hazardous waste; thus, the issue turns on 
whether natural gas condensate is a "by-product" 
as defined by RCRA regulations. RCRA 
regulations define "by-product" as "a material 
that is not one of the primary products of a 
production process and is not solely or 
separately produced by the production process" 
exclusive of "co-product[s]." 40 C.F.R. Sec. 
261.1(c)(3) (1992). While RCRA's definition of 
"by-product" is certainly subject to reasonable 
interpretation, the EPA directly addressed the 
issue of whether natural gas condensate is a by­
product in its 1985 comment to its current 
regulatory definition of "solid waste": 

Off-specification fuels burned for energy 
recovery ... are not by-products, and so would 
not be considered to be wastes under this 
provision. An example [is] natural gas pipeline 
condensate. The condensate contains many of 
the same hydrocarbons found in liquefied 
natural gas, and certain higher hydrocarbons that 
also have energy value. It is generated in the 
pipeline transmission of natural gas. This 
condensate is not considered to be waste when 
burned for energy recovery. 6 

50 Fed.Reg. 630 n. 18 (Jan. 4, 1985). 
Relying on this EP A statement, Defendant 
argues that so long as natural gas condensate is 
burned for energy recovery, it is not a by­
product and, therefore, not a discarded material 
by virtue of being recycled, and, therefore, not a 
solid waste, and, therefore, not a hazardous 
waste under RCRA. 

The government argued below and 
continues to argue on appeal that natural gas 
condensate is hazardous waste if it is used in a 
manner which was not the original intended 
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manner or normal intended use for that material 
within the industry. 7 In support of this 
argument, the government first directs us to the 
EP A's long-standing distinction between 
legitimate and sham burning for energy 
recovery. See 50 Fed.Reg. 630 (Jan. 4,1985); 48 
Fed.Reg. 14,482 (Apr. 4, 1983); 48 Fed.Reg. 
11,157-58 (Mar. 16, 1983); 45 Fed.Reg. 33,093 
(May 19, 1980). The government then points to 
an EPA comment stating that commercial 
chemical products when burned for energy 
recovery are considered solid wastes because 
this is a manner of recycling which differs from 
their normal manner of use. See 50 Fed.Reg. 618 
(Jan. 4, 1985). Next, the government relies on an 
EPA statement that the status of "non-listed 
commercial chemical products ... would be the 
same as those listed in Sec. 261.33--[t]hat is, 
they are not considered solid wastes when 
recycled except when they are recycled in ways 
that differ from their normal manner of use." 50 
Fed.Reg. 14,216, 14,219 (Apr. 11, 1985). 

By focusing on the EPA distinction 
between legitimate and sham burning for energy 
recovery, the government appears to be arguing 
that the natural gas condensate was not recycled 
within the meaning of the regulations and, 
therefore, was abandoned by being burned or 
incinerated. This distinction would undermine 
Defendant's argument because 
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any abandoned material is considered solid 
waste. See 40 C.F.R. Sec. 261.2(b) (1992). On 
the other hand, by focusing on the EPA's 
rationale for classifying commercial chemical 
products which are burned for energy recovery 
as solid waste, the government's argument also 
suggests that natural gas condensate is a non­
listed commercial chemical product, see 
generally supra note 5, and, therefore, must be 
recycled in a normal manner in order to not be 
considered a hazardous waste. This argument 
would also undermine Defendant's argument 
because recycling commercial chemical 
products by burning them for energy recovery is 

r: 
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not a normal manner of use and, therefore, the 
natural gas condensate, to the extent it is a 
commercial chemical product, is a solid waste. 
The government does not distinguish between 
these two alternative arguments but rather 
collapses the EPA's distinction between 
legitimate and sham burning for energy recovery 
with the EPA's rationale for classifying 
commercial chemical products which are burned 
for energy recovery as solid wastes. In doing so, 
the government combines otherwise unrelated 
EPA comments concerning distinct provisions 
within the regulatory definition of "solid waste" 
and misapplies these EPA comments to the facts 
of this case, as we discuss below. 

1. 

The legitimate versus sham distinction first 
arose in 1980 when the EPA defined "solid 
waste" to include "materials which have served 
their original intended purpose and are 
sometimes discarded." 45 Fed.Reg. 33,093 (May 
19, 1980). See also 48 Fed.Reg. 14,475 (Apr. 4, 
1983). Under this definition, "virtually all ... 
secondary materials" were considered solid 
wastes. 50 Fed.Reg. 618 (Jan. 4, 1985). 
However, the EPA exempted from regulation all 
recycling activity and the transportation and 
storage of non-sludges and non-listed hazardous 
waste which were recycled, see 48 Fed.Reg. 
11,157 (Mar. 16, 1983); 45 Fed.Reg. 33,105 
(May 19, 1980), and recognized that "burning of 
hazardous wastes as fuels can be a type of 
recycling activity exempted from regulation." 48 
Fed.Reg. 11, 157-58 (Mar. 16, 1983). 
Expressing concern about, inter alia, the 
"burning of organic wastes that have little or no 
heat value in industrial boilers under the guise of 
energy recovery," 45 Fed.Reg. 33,093 (May 19, 
1980), the EPA adopted a policy that in order to 
fall within the exemption, the burning must 
"constitute legitimate, and not sham, recycling." 
48 Fed.Reg. 11,158 (Mar. 16, 1983); see also 45 
Fed.Reg. 33,093 (May 19, 1980) (recognizing 
exemption as "temporary deferral" and noting 
that it "is confined to bona fide 'legitimate' and 
'beneficial' uses and recycling of hazardous 
wastes"). 
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In 1985, the EPA amended its regulatory 
definition of "solid waste" to substantially its 
present form which asks "both what a material is 
and how it is being recycled before knowing 
whether it is a solid waste." 50 Fed.Reg. 616 
(Jan. 4, 1985). Following the 1985 amendment, 
the EPA's distinction between legitimate and 
sham burning became significant, not only by 
continuing to determine the applicability of the 
recycling exemption, but also by determining 
whether a material is being burned or 
incinerated--i .e. burned for destruction--and, 
therefore, abandoned, or is being burned for 
energy recovery and, therefore, recycled. See id. 
at 630. 

Contrary to the government's argument, the 
EPA has never distinguished legitimate from 
sham burning for energy recovery based on 
whether the burning was the original intended 
use or normal manner of use of the material 
within the industry. The "primary" factor in 
distinguishing legitimate from sham burning for 
energy recovery is "the energy value of the 
hazardous waste being ... burned." 48 Fed.Reg. 
11 ,158 (Mar. 16, 1983); see also 56 Fed.Reg. 
7183 (Feb. 21, 1991) ("5,000 BTU/lb limit 
generally considered heretofore to be the 
minimum for a legitimate hazardous waste 
fuel"); 50 Fed.Reg. 630 (Jan. 4, 1985) ("burning 
of low energy hazardous wastes as alleged fuels 
is not considered to be burning for legitimate 
energy recovery"). As the EPA stated, "[i]f the 
wastes being burned have only de minimus 
energy value, the burning cannot recover 
sufficient energy to characterize the practice as 
legitimate recycling.... [T]he wastes, for 
practical purposes are being burned to be 
destroyed." 48 Fed.Reg. 11,158 
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(Mar. 10, 1983). Natural gas condensate has a 
relatively high energy value, and the government 
conceded at oral argument that the natural gas 
condensate could have been burned for 
legitimate energy recovery in the boiler or 
industrial furnace at EkoTek. 8 

r: 
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The government's reliance on the EPA 
statement that commercial chemical products, 
when burned for energy recovery, are solid 
wastes because this manner of recycling differs 
from their normal manner of use is completely 
misplaced. In this statement, the EPA was not 
distinguishing legitimate from sham recycling 
methods. Rather, the EPA was explaining its 
rationale for classifying commercial chemical 
products as solid waste when they are recycled 
by being burned for energy recovery. 
Specifically, the EPA stated that 

Although [commercial chemical products] ... 
ordinarily are not wastes when recycled ... we 
are including them as wastes when they are 
recycled in ways that differ from their normal 
manner of use, namely, when they are used in a 
manner constituting disposal, or when they are 
burned for energy recovery (assuming these 
materials are neither a pesticide nor a 
commercial fuel). 

50 Fed.Reg. 618 (Jan. 4, 1985) (internal 
citation omitted). This EPA comment merely 
explains why the EPA considers commercial 
chemical products which are legitimately 
recycled by being burned for energy recovery to 
be solid wastes even though commercial 
chemical products which are recycled by other 
methods, namely reclamation and speculative 
accumulation, are not considered solid wastes. 
See 40 C.F .R. Sec. 261.2 (1992); see also id. 
Sec. 261.33 (listed commercial chemical 
products are "hazardous wastes if and when ... in 
lieu of their original intended use, they are 
produced for use as (or as a component ot) a 
fuel, distributed for use as a fuel, or burned as a 
fuel "). Indeed, it is implicit in this EPA 
statement of why commercial chemical products 
are solid wastes when burned for energy 
recovery that the commercial chemical product 
has been legitimately recycled. Contrary to the 
government's argument, this EPA comment has 
nothing to do with whether a particular manner 
of burning for energy recovery is legitimate or 
sham. 

2. 
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Alternatively, the government suggests that 
natural gas condensate is a commercial chemical 
product (albeit an unlisted one), and, under the 
EPA's policy treating unlisted commercial 
chemical products like listed commercial 
chemical products, is a solid waste even if it is 
legitimately burned for 
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energy recovery. This argument fails for several 
reasons. 

First, only listed commercial chemical 
products are considered solid wastes when 
burned to recover energy, see 40 C.F .R. Sec. 
261.2 (Table 1) (1992), and natural gas 
condensate is not listed. See id. Sec. 261.33. We 
recognize that the EPA has stated that it is 
"implicit" in the statutory and regulatory scheme 
that the "status" of "non-listed commercial 
chemical products ... would be the same as those 
listed in Sec. 261.33--[t]hat is, they are not 
considered solid wastes when recycled except 
when they are recycled in ways that differ from 
their normal manner of use." 50 Fed.Reg. 
14,216, 14,219 (Apr. 11, 1985). However, such 
an implicit construction of the regulations is 
certainly not clear from the regulations 
themselves. To the contrary, the regulations 
define "commercial chemical products" by 
reference to a specific list of materials, see 40 
C.F.R. Sec. 261.33 (1992), which suggests that 
non-listed materials are not subject to regulation 
as commercial chemical products. 

In addition to natural gas condensate not 
being listed as a commercial chemical product, 
the government's own expert testimony at trial 
belies the government's contention on appeal 
that natural gas condensate is a commercial 
chemical product. The EPA has defined 
"commercial chemical product" as "a chemical 
substance which is manufactured or formulated 
for commercial or manufacturing use which 
consists of the commercially pure grade of the 
chemical, any technical grades of the chemical 
that are produced or marketed, and all 

formulations in which the chemical is the sole 
active ingredient." 40 C.F.R. Sec. 261.33(d) 
(comment) (1992). The government's expert 
testified that natural gas condensate is an 
unintended by-product of the transportation of 
natural gas through pipelines. Notably, the 
government never asserted below that natural 
gas condensate was a commercial chemical 
product; rather, the government responded to 
Defendant's motion to dismiss by claiming that 
natural gas condensate "is a by-product of a 
manufacturing process." In light of the 
government expert's description of natural gas 
condensate and the government's contention 
below that natural gas condensate is a by­
product, the government cannot seriously argue 
that natural gas condensate is manufactured or 
formulated for commercial or manufacturing 
use. 

The government's characterization of 
natural gas condensate as a commercial 
chemical product cannot be reconciled with 
other EPA interpretations of the regulatory 
definition of solid waste. Notably, the EPA 
stated that burning commercial chemical 
products for energy recovery is never the normal 
use of such products. 50 Fed.Reg. 618 (Jan. 4, 
1985). Accordingly, commercial chemical 
products which are burned for energy recovery 
are always considered solid wastes. See 40 
C.F.R. Sec. 261.2 (Table 1) (1992). If natural 
gas condensate is a commercial chemical 
product, as the government's argument suggests, 
it would always be a solid waste when burned 
for energy recovery. Yet, this very same EPA 
comment cites natural gas condensate as an 
example of an off-specification fuel which is not 
considered to be a waste when burned for energy 
recovery. Id. at 630 n. 18. The EPA specifically 
qualified its statement that burning commercial 
chemical products for energy recovery is never 
their normal manner of use by "assuming [that] 
these materials are [not] a commercial fuel." Id. 
at 618. Thus, the government's construction is 
inconsistent with the EPA's interpretation. 

Finally, to support its suggestion that 
natural gas condensate is an unlisted commercial 
chemical product, the government directs us to a 
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1991 EPA comment which characterizes natural 
gas condensate as an "off-specification 
commercial chemical product that has some 
BTU value." 56 Fed.Reg. 7184 (Feb. 21, 1991). 
In this comment, the EPA specifically stated that 
"if ignitable off-specification natural gas 
condensate is burned as motor fuel... such 
material[ ] [is] solid and hazardous waste[ ] and 
subject to subtitle C controls ... because the 
mode of burning is not at all like these materials' 
original intended use." Id. According to the 
government, this statement "simply added 
further clarification to 
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the distinction already in the regulations and 
accompanying Federal Register notices." 9 

We do not read the 1991 comment as a 
mere clarification of an already existing EPA 
regulatory policy. For reasons already stated, the 
classification of natural gas condensate as an 
unlisted commercial chemical product is 
inconsistent with the EPA's earlier statement 
concerning the status of natural gas condensate. 
See 50 Fed.Reg. 630 n. 18 (Jan. 4, 1985). The 
1991 comment clearly amended the EPA's 
policy with respect to natural gas condensate so 
as to bring Defendant's conduct within the 
purview of the regulatory scheme underlying the 
instant criminal charges. Given that the conduct 
at issue occurred in 1987, to permit the 
government to rely on the 1991 comment would 
run afoul of the Due Process Clause. See Cox v. 
Louisiana, 379 U.S. 559, 568-72, 85 S.Ct. 476, 
482-85, 13 L.Ed.2d 487 (1965). 

In short, other than a 1991 EPA comment 
which we view as inapplicable to this case 
because it substantively amended the EPA's 
interpretation of the regulations well after the 
date of the charged offense, the government's 
argument that natural gas condensate is a solid 
waste if it is "used in a manner which was not 
the original intended manner or normal intended 
use for that material within the industry" has no 
support in the statutory or regulatory scheme. 

t; taste',;; 
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On the other hand, Defendant's argument is 
consistent with the statutory and regulatory 
scheme, and is clearly supported by the EPA's 
statement that natural gas condensate when 
burned for energy recovery is not a solid waste. 
In light of this construction of the regulatory 
scheme by the EPA, we agree with Defendant 
that, under the EPA's interpretation of the 
regulations in effect as of 1987, natural gas 
condensate is not a hazardous waste subject to 
RCRA regulation when it is burned for energy 
recovery, which includes burning it as 
automotive fuel. IO 

B. 

Defendant claims that, because natural gas 
condensate burned for energy recovery is not a 
RCRA hazardous waste, counts 2, 3, 4 and 7 
were "fatally defective as a matter of law" and 
"should have been dismissed before trial." We 
disagree. Each of these counts alleged that the 
natural gas condensate was a hazardous waste. 
Whether the natural gas condensate was a 
RCRA hazardous waste was dependant on the 
factual question of whether the natural gas 
condensate was burned for energy recovery. A 
district court may not resolve evidentiary issues 
on a motion to dismiss. See United States v. 
Knox, 396 U.S. 77, 83 n. 7, 90 S.Ct. 363, 367 n. 
7, 24 L.Ed.2d 275 (1969); United States v. 
Kilpatrick, 821 F.2d 1456, 1462 n. 2 (10th 
Cir.1987), affd sub nom. Bank of Nova Scotia 
v. United States, 487 U.S. 250, 108 S.Ct. 2369, 
101 L.Ed.2d 228 (1988). Therefore, the district 
court did not err in denying Defendant's pre-trial 
motion to dismiss these counts. 

C. 

Defendant also argues that the district court 
erred by denying his motion for a judgment of 
acquittal on counts 2, 3, 4 and 7, due to the 
government's failure to prove that the natural gas 
condensate was RCRA hazardous waste. The 
government's theory at trial was that the natural 
gas condensate was 
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sold as automotive fuel--i.e. burned for energy 
recovery--and the government even presented 
evidence to this effect. There is no evidence in 
the record before us that the natural gas 
condensate was used or disposed of in any 
manner other than for energy recovery. In light 
of our reasoning that natural gas condensate is 
not a RCRA hazardous waste when burned for 
energy recovery, to the extent that counts 2, 3, 4 
and 7 required the government to prove that the 
natural gas condensate was hazardous waste, the 
evidence is insufficient as a matter oflaw. 

1. 

Count 2 charged a violation of 42 U.S.c. 
Sec. 6928( d)(1) which prohibits "knowingly 
transport[ing] or caus[ing] to be transported any 
hazardous waste identified or listed under ... 
subchapter [III of RCRA] to a facility which 
does not have a permit.... " (emphasis added). 
Clearly, this count required the government to 
prove that the natural gas condensate was a 
RCRA hazardous waste, and the district court 
instructed the jury to this effect. Because the 
government failed to prove that the natural gas 
condensate was a RCRA hazardous waste, the 
government's proof with respect to count 2 was 
insufficient as a matter of law. 

2. 

Count 3 charged a violation of 42 U.S.c. 
Sec. 6928(d)(3) which prohibits "knowingly ... 
mak[ing] any false material statement or 
representation in any ... record, report ... or other 
document filed, maintained, or used for purposes 
of compliance with [RCRA] regulations ... . " 42 
U.S.c. Sec. 6928(d)(3). The government relied 
upon the falsification of the manifest 
accompanying the natural gas condensate 
shipment to support count 3. The district court 
did not instruct the jury that it had to find that 
natural gas condensate was a hazardous waste to 
convict on this count, but did instruct the jury 
that the manifest is a "document[ ] used for 
purposes of compliance with applicable laws." 
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SCGC erroneously believed (which we 
understand) that the natural gas condensate was 
a hazardous waste and, therefore, prepared a 
manifest for the shipment. SCGC was only 
required to ship the natural gas condensate under 
a RCRA manifest if it was, in fact, hazardous 
waste. See 40 C.F.R. Sec. 262.20(a) (1992) ("[a] 
generator who transports, or offers for 
transportation, hazardous waste for offsite 
treatment must prepare a [m]anifest"). Similarly, 
EkoTek was only required to ensure compliance 
with the manifest if the natural gas condensate 
was hazardous waste. See id. Sec. 263.20(a) 
("[a] transporter may not accept hazardous waste 
from a generator unless it is accompanied by a 
manifest"); id. Sec. 265.71 ( a) (interim status 
treatment, storage and disposal facilities must 
certifY receipt of "hazardous waste accompanied 
by a manifest"). Because the natural gas 
condensate was not a hazardous waste, the 
manifest was not required "for purposes of 
compliance with [RCRA] regulations." 42 
U.S.c. Sec. 6928(d)(3). Therefore, the 
government's failure to prove that natural gas 
condensate was a hazardous waste renders its 
proof on count 3 insufficient as a matter of law. 

3. 

Count 4 was also charged under 42 U.S.C. 
Sec. 6928(d)(3), and it was based on the 
falsification of EkoTek's operating log to 
indicate that the natural gas condensate had been 
received at EkoTek when, in fact, it had been 
diverted to the Barstow gas station. As an 
interim status treatment, storage, and disposal 
facility, EkoTek was required to keep a written 
operating log. See 40 C.F.R. Sec. 265.73(a) 
(1992). Thus, unlike the manifest at issue in 
count 3, the operating log at issue in count 4 was 
a document "maintained ... for purposes of 
compliance with [RCRA] regulations." 42 
U.S.C. Sec. 6928(d)(3). 

To convict Defendant under Sec. 
6928(d)(3), the government was required to 
prove that the false entry into EkoTek's 
operating log was "material." 42 U.S.c. Sec. 
6928(d)(3). Materiality is a question of law. See 
Kungys v. United States, 485 U.S. 759, 772, 108 
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S.Ct. 1537, 1547, 99 L.Ed.2d 839 (1988) 
(construing 8 U.S.C. Sec. 1451(a)); United 
States v. Harrod, 981 F.2d 1171, 1176 (lOth 
Cir.1992) (construing 18 U.S.C. Sec. 1001), cert. 
denied, --- U.S. ----, 113 S.Ct. 2350, 124 
L.Ed.2d 259 
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(1993). For purposes of Sec. 6928(d)(3), 
materiality depends on whether the statement or 
omission "will have a tendency to influence 
Agency action." H.R.Rep. No. 198, 98th Cong., 
2d Sess. 55 (l983), reprinted in 1984 
U.S.C.C.A.N. 5576, 5614; see also United States 
v. Brittain, 931 F.2d 1413, 1415 (lOth Cir.1991) 
(applying similar standard to 18 U.S.C. Sec. 
1001). 

While EkoTek was required to keep an 
operating log, it was only required to record 
receipt of hazardous wastes in the log. See 40 
C.F.R. Sec. 265.73(b) (1992). However, whether 
the natural gas condensate was hazardous waste 
depended on how it was ultimately disposed, 
and regulatory authorities would not necessarily 
know that the natural gas condensate was to be 
burned for energy recovery and, therefore, not a 
hazardous waste. Indeed, SCGC treated the 
natural gas condensate as a RCRA hazardous 
waste, albeit erroneously, by accompanying the 
shipment with a RCRA manifest. Because of the 
false entry made in the EkoTek operating log, 
regulatory authorities may not have been alerted 
to an unaccounted for shipment of material with 
the potential to be hazardous waste thereby 
preventing an investigation into the matter. The 
false statement in the operating log concealed 
the actual disposition of the natural gas 
condensate and, therefore, had a tendency to 
forestall any regulatory agency investigation. 
Thus, the government's failure to prove that the 
natural gas condensate was hazardous waste 
does not render the false statement immaterial. II 

4. 

r 
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Count 7 charged a violation of 18 U.S.C. 
Sec. 1341, which prohibits using the mail for the 
purpose of executing "any scheme or artifice to 
defraud, or for obtaining money or property by 
means of false or fraudulent pretenses, 
representations, or promises .... " 18 U.S.C. Sec. 
1341. While the elements of this crime certainly 
did not require the government to prove that the 
natural gas condensate was RCRA hazardous 
waste, the government's theory, as charged in 
the indictment, was that Defendant devised a 
scheme to defraud SCGC of money by 
contracting to "properly transport, store, treat 
and dispose of, hazardous waste" in 
consideration of payment by SCGC and then 
failing to provide for the proper transportation, 
storage, treatment, and disposal of the hazardous 
waste. The government's theory necessarily 
depended on proof that the natural gas 
condensate was hazardous waste. Accordingly, 
the evidence supporting count 7 is insufficient as 
a matter of law. 12 

D. 

With respect to counts 2, 3, 4 and 7 
Defendant also claims that the district court's 
instruction to the jury concerning whether 
natural gas condensate was hazardous waste was 
erroneous, and that the district court erred by not 
allowing him to present expert testimony 
concerning the regulatory status of natural gas 
condensate in order to refute the government's 
expert. In light of our holding that counts 2, 3 
and 7 must be reversed due to the government's 
failure to prove that the natural gas condensate 
was hazardous waste, 
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we address this argument only with respect to 
count 4. 

As our earlier discussion indicates, the 
district court's instruction was erroneous because 
it defined natural gas condensate as hazardous 
waste unless used in its originally intended 
manner or in a manner nonnally intended in the 
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industry. Moreover, in light of our construction 
of the regulatory definition of hazardous waste, 
there was no need for either the government or 
Defendant to present expert testimony 
concerning natural gas condensate's norn1al 
manner of use within the petroleum industry. 
Nonetheless, an erroneous jury instruction or an 
erroneous evidentiary ruling requires reversal 
only if the error is prejudicial. See United States 
v. Caro, 965 F.2d 1548, 1555 (10th Cir.1992) 
(jury instruction); United States v. Jefferson, 925 
F.2d 1242, 1255 (10th Cir.) (evidentiary ruling), 
cert. denied, --- U.S. ----, 112 S.Ct. 238, 116 
L.Ed.2d 194 (1991). See generally 
Fed.R.Crim.P. 52 ("[a]ny error ... which does not 
affect substantial rights shall be disregarded"). 
Given our earlier reasoning that count 4 did not 
require the government to prove that the natural 
gas condensate was hazardous waste, the 
district's court's erroneous instruction and any 
error in allowing the government's expert 
testimony did not prejudice Defendant. 

III. 

Count 8 stems from the storage of the 
seventeen drums of A very Label waste and the 
twelve drums of Reynolds Metals waste in the 
EkoTek's east warehouse. This count charged a 
violation of 42 U.S.c. Sec. 6928(d)(2)(B) which 
prohibits "knowingly... stor[ing] ... hazardous 
waste ... in knowing violation of any material 
condition or requirement of [a RCRA] permit." 
42 U.S.c. Sec. 6928(d)(2)(B). This count was 
also charged and the jury was instructed under 
an aiding and abetting theory. 18 U.S.C. Sec. 2. 
On appeal, Defendant contends that the evidence 
was insufficient to prove that the material in the 
twenty-nine drums was hazardous waste and that 
he possessed the requisite knowledge. \3 

Defendant also contends that the jury instruction 
concerning knowledge was erroneous. 

A. 

In reviewing the sufficiency of the 
evidence, we view the evidence in a light most 
favorable to the government to determine 
whether "any rational trier of fact could have 
found the essential elements of the crime beyond 
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a reasonable doubt." Jackson v. Virginia, 443 
U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 2789, 61 L.Ed.2d 
560 (1979); United States v. Brittain, 931 F.2d 
1413, 1420 (10th Cir.1991). The jury may draw 
reasonable inferences from the proven facts, and 
credibility determinations are properly within 
the jury's province. Jackson, 443 U.S. at 319, 99 
S.Ct. at 2789; United States v. Garcia, 994 F.2d 
1499, 1504 (10th Cir.1993). 

1. 

Count 8 required the government to prove 
that the material was hazardous waste identified 
or listed under subchapter III of RCRA. See 42 
U.S.c. Sec. 6928(d)(2)(B). RCRA regulations 
define "hazardous waste" as solid waste which 
either exhibits a characteristic of hazardous 
waste or is listed in the regulations. 14 40 C.F.R. 
Sec. 261.3 (1992). The government's theory at 
trial was that the A very Label waste was 
characteristic waste because it had a flash point 
of less than 140? F, see id. Sec. 261.21(a)(1), 
and that the Reynolds Metals waste was both 
characteristic waste due to its ignitability, see 
id., and listed waste--i.e. MEK. See id. Sec. 
261.33(t). 

Defendant's primary contention is that the 
government failed to present any reliable test 
data concerning the A very Label or Reynolds 
Metals waste. As to the test results from Marine 
Shale Processors which indicated a flash point of 
below 140? F, Defendant accurately points out 
that they were not based on an EPA-approved 
test method 
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for ignitability 15 and the samples were taken 
from a composite of the material sent to it by the 
broker. Defendant also notes that the test results 
from Marine Shale Processors describe the 
Reynolds Metals material as "paint" and as a 
liquefied mixture containing water and MEK, 
while the manifest that originally accompanied 
the Reynolds Metals waste described the 
material as "non-pumpable sludge." Defendant 
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points to evidence of a test conducted in 
February 1988 by Gray Laboratories which 
indicated that the spray material contained in the 
Reynolds Metals waste had a flash point of 179? 
F. Finally, with respect to the A very Label 
waste, Defendant points to a document prepared 
in April 1988 by the broker in which he refers to 
the material as "UV ink waste" and a Waste 
Profile Sheet for "waste ink" prepared by an 
Avery Label employee which indicates a flash 
point of 150? F. 

While an EPA-approved test of the material 
would have been persuasive evidence as to 
whether the material was hazardous waste, the 
government was not required to prove this 
element through test data. See United States v. 
Bay tank, Inc., 934 F.2d 599, 614 (5th Cir.1991) 
(evidence was sufficient to prove drums 
contained hazardous waste even though the 
government took no drum samples). Moreover, 
whether the material tested by Gray was the 
same material in the Reynolds Metals waste was 
contested at trial as the government presented 
test results for the spray material which 
indicated that it had a flash point of 100? F. See 
United States v. Dee, 912 F.2d 741, 746 (4th 
Cir.1990) (defendant's test results indicating that 
material had flash point exceeding 140? F were 
not conclusive as there was evidence of 
irregularity of testing procedure), cert. denied, 
499 U.S. 919, 111 S.Ct. 1307, 113 L.Ed.2d 242 
(1991). Regardless of the flash point of the 
Reynolds Metals waste, there was evidence that 
it contained MEK which is a listed hazardous 
waste. 16 See United States v. MacDonald & 
Watson Waste Oil Co., 933 F.2d 35, 41 (lst 
Cir.1991) (fact that soil was contaminated with 
non-hazardous chemicals in addition to listed 
hazardous waste would not render soil non­
hazardous waste). Further, the fact that the 
broker referred to the A very Label waste as "UV 
waste ink," and an A very Label employee 
conducted a test on some unknown "waste ink" 
which indicated a flash point of 150? F does not 
render the government's evidence insufficient as 
a matter of law. See United States v. Greer, 850 
F.2d 1447, 1452 (l1th Cir.1988) (evidence was 
sufficient for jury to find that material was listed 
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hazardous waste despite manifest indicating that 
the material was "waste solvent"). In short, the 
absence of reliable test data and presence of 
some conflicting evidence in the record does not 
render the government's proof insufficient as a 
matter of law. 

The government proved that the material 
was hazardous waste through the testimony of 
the A very Label and Reynolds Metals 
representatives and the hazardous waste broker. 
Both representatives identified the manifests 
which indicated that the materials were 
hazardous wastes. The Reynolds Metals 
representative testified that the waste included 
MEK which is a hazardous waste regardless of 
its ignitability when combined with other 
materials. The A very Label representative 
identified the specific composition of the waste 
as solvent ink, ultraviolet curer ink and cleaning 
solvent. The Material Data Safety Sheets for 
solvent inks used by A very Labels in 1987 
indicated a flash point of well below 140? F. See 
Dee, 912 F.2d at 746-47 (evidence was 
sufficient for jury to find that material was 
characteristic hazardous waste where Material 
Safety Data Sheet and another document 
prepared by defendant indicated a flash point of 
below 140? F). Moreover, the A very Label 
representative testified that the fact that it was 
mixed with the relatively 
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involatile ultraviolet curer ink would have little 
effect on the waste material's ignitability. The 
broker testified that he recognized the A very 
Label waste as solvent ink due to its smell. This 
evidence is sufficient for a reasonable jury to 
find that the material at issue in count 8 was 
RCRA hazardous waste. See Bay tank, 934 F.2d 
at 614 ("documents, incl uding drum inventories, 
a hazardous waste log, and internal memoranda, 
as well as the testimony at trial, all amply 
demonstrate" that drums contained hazardous 
waste); Greer, 850 F.2d at 1452 (bill of lading 
identifying material as listed waste, testimony 
that material smelled like waste, and evidence 

EXHIBIT 4- - 12 -

PAGE /~ OF Ol? 



u.s. v Self. 2 F.3d ·107'j (C.i\.'10 

that traces of the chemical had been found at the 
dump site was sufficient for the jury to find that 
the material was the listed hazardous waste). 
The fact that there may have been other 
conflicting evidence does not render the 
evidence insufficient as the jury's very function 
is to resolve conflicting evidence. 

2. 

Defendant also claims that the evidence 
was insufficient to establish that he had the 
requisite knowledge for a criminal violation 
under Sec. 6928( d)(3). Specifically, Defendant 
argues that there was no evidence that he knew 
the twenty-nine drums of A very Label and 
Reynolds Metals waste were stored in the east 
warehouse or that they contained RCRA 
hazardous waste, nor did the evidence show that 
he knew that storage of these wastes in the east 
warehouse violated EkoTek's RCRA permit. 

There was substantial evidence that 
Defendant knew hazardous waste was being 
stored in the east warehouse in violation of 
EkoTek's RCRA permit. Testimony from both 
Miller and the EkoTek employee responsible for 
unloading and storing drums of hazardous waste 
and keeping the inventory clearly established 
that Defendant directed the storage of hazardous 
waste in the east warehouse. Miller also testified 
that he specifically discussed this illegal storage 
practice with Defendant. Defendant signed the 
RCRA permit applications which did not seek 
authorization to store hazardous waste in the east 
warehouse. Furthermore, in a RCRA criminal 
prosecution, "[t]he government may prove guilty 
knowledge by circumstantial evidence." United 
States v. Hayes Int'l Corp., 786 F.2d 1499, 1504 
(lith Cir.1986). See also United States v. 
Speach, 968 F.2d 795, 797 (9th Cir.1992). In the 
present case, Defendant was responsible for the 
day-to-day management of EkoTek and oversaw 
all the bills. There was evidence that Defendant 
helped prepare the letter soliciting hazardous 
waste from generators and brokers and that from 
his office he could see drums of waste being 
stored in the east warehouse. Moreover, 
testimony established that Defendant ordered the 
doors closed, and in one instance assisted in 
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closing the doors to the east warehouse after 
being informed that inspectors were visiting 
EkoTek. See United States v. Morehead, 959 
F .2d 1489, 1503 (evidence that defendant 
attempted to evade police supported inference of 
defendant's knowledge of illegal activity), affd 
sub nom. United States v. Hill, 971 F.2d 1461 
(lOth Cir.1992) (en banc). This evidence is 
sufficient to prove that Defendant knew 
hazardous waste was being stored in the east 
warehouse and knew that such storage violated 
EkoTek's RCRA permit. 

Nevertheless, Defendant argues that the 
evidence is insufficient for the jury to infer that 
Defendant knew of the east warehouse storage 
of the specific twenty-nine drums at issue in 
count 8. Defendant relies on the First Circuit's 
language in MacDonald & Watson, to support 
his claim that the evidence regarding his 
knowledge of the specific twenty-nine drums 
was insufficient. In MacDonald & Watson, the 
court recognized that "[s]imply because a 
responsible corporate officer believed that on a 
prior occasion illegal transportation occurred, he 
did not necessarily possess knowledge of the 
violation charged." 933 F.2d at 55. However, the 
MacDonald & Watson court was not addressing 
the sufficiency of the evidence. Rather, the court 
was addressing the propriety of a particular jury 
instruction which allowed the jury to find that 
the defendant had the requisite knowledge of the 
illegal transportation of hazardous waste solely 
by virtue of his position as a responsible 
corporate officer. Id. at 50-55. While the 
MacDonald & Watson court reversed a 
conviction 
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for knowingly transporting hazardous waste to 
an unpermitted facility because of the erroneous 
"responsible corporate officer" instruction, the 
court expressly recognized in a RCRA criminal 
prosecution that "knowledge may be inferred 
from circumstantial evidence, including position 
and responsibility of defendants ... as well as 
information provided to those defendants on 
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prior occasions." Id. at 55. Accord United States 
v. Johnson & Towers, Inc., 741 F.2d 662, 670 
(3d Cir.1984) ("knowledge" in a RCRA criminal 
prosecution "may be inferred by the jury as to 
those individuals who hold the requisite 
responsible positions with the corporate 
defendant"), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1208, 105 
S.Ct. 1171,84 L.Ed.2d 321 (1985). Thus, while 
knowledge of prior illegal activity is not 
conclusive as to whether a defendant possessed 
the requisite knowledge of later illegal activity, 
it most certainly provides circumstantial 
evidence of the defendant's later knowledge 
from which the jury may draw the necessary 
inference. Cf. Fed.R.Evid. 404(b) (prior bad act 
evidence admissible to prove knowledge). 

In Greer, the Eleventh Circuit held that the 
evidence was sufficient to prove that the 
defendant knowingly disposed of hazardous 
waste despite the fact that there was no evidence 
that the defendant told his employee to dump the 
particular load of hazardous waste at issue. 850 
F .2d at 1451-52. Rather, the evidence showed 
that the defendant told the employee to "handle" 
the load of waste, and the defendant had 
approved of dumping the waste in the past. Id. 
Similarly, in Dee, the Fourth Circuit held that 
evidence that the defendant was in charge of 
operations at the facility, had originally ordered 
hazardous waste to be stored in an unpermitted 
area of the facility, and repeatedly ignored 
warnings about the hazardous condition of the 
materials and the improper storage yet took no 
action to comply with the RCRA was sufficient 
to show that Defendant directed the illegal 
storage. 912 F.2d at 747. 

In our view, the evidence in this case was 
sufficient for the jury to infer that Defendant 
knew of the storage of the A very Label and 
Reynolds Metals waste in the east warehouse 
and knew that such storage violated EkoTek's 
RCRA permit. There was direct evidence that 
Defendant had knowledge of prior illegal 
storage, and Defendant directed his employee to 
store hazardous waste in the east warehouse. 
The jury could infer from Defendant's 
overseeing of the bills that he knew about the 
particular waste at issue in count 8. Certainly, 
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the government may "prove a defendant had 
actual knowledge of a material and operative 
fact by proving deliberate acts committed by the 
defendant from which actual knowledge can be 
logically inferred." United States v. Uresti­
Hernandez, 968 F .2d 1042, 1046 (10th 
Cir.1992); see, e.g., United States v. Langston, 
970 F.2d 692, 706 (10th Cir.), cert. denied, --­
U.S. ----, 113 S.Ct. 439, 121 L.Ed.2d 358 
(l992); cf. United States v. Ochoa-Fabian, 935 
F.2d 1139, 1141-42 (lOth Cir.1991) (approving 
of deliberate ignorance instruction which 
permits jury to infer guilty knowledge based on 
proof "beyond a reasonable doubt of a conscious 
purpose to avoid enlightenment"), cert. denied, -
-- U.S. ----, 112 S.Ct. 1565, 118 L.Ed.2d 211 
(l992). 

Even if we were not convinced that there 
was sufficient evidence for the jury to infer that 
Defendant actually knew about the illegal 
storage of the A very Label and Reynolds Metals 
waste, we can affirm Defendant's conviction on 
an alternative ground. Defendant overlooks the 
fact that count 8 was charged, and the jury was 
instructed, under an aiding and abetting theory, 
and the jury was also instructed on a Pinkerton 
theory. See Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 
640,647-48,66 S.Ct. 1180, 1184,90 L.Ed. 1489 
( 1946) (criminal conspirator is criminally 
responsible for substantive crimes of 
coconspirators committed during the course of 
and in furtherance of the conspiracy which are 
reasonably foreseeable). See also United States 
v. Russell, 963 F.2d 1320, 1322 (lOth Cir.), cert. 
denied, --- U.S. ----, 113 S.Ct. 280, 121 L.Ed.2d 
207 (1992). Defendant's conviction on count 8 
can be alternatively affirmed under either of 
these theories. 

To prove that Defendant aided and abetted 
the illegal storage charged in count 8, the 
government is required to prove that someone 
committed the underlying substantive 
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offense, Langston, 970 F.2d at 705 n. 12; United 
States v. Rodgers, 419 F.2d 1315, 1317 (lOth 
Cir.1969), and that Defendant "share[ d] in the 
intent to commit the offense ... [and] participated 
in some manner to assist its commission." 
United States v. Smith, 838 F.2d 436, 441 (lOth 
Cir.1988) (citing United States v. Fischel, 686 
F.2d 1082, 1087 (5th Cir.1982)), cert. denied, 
490 U.S. 1036, 109 S.Ct. 1935, 104 L.Ed.2d 407 
(l989). Miller admitted at trial that EkoTek 
received the waste from A very Label and 
Reynolds Metals, and that he understood it to be 
"manifested hazardous waste." Miller further 
admitted that it was EkoTek's standard practice 
at this time to store drums of hazardous waste in 
the east warehouse. Testimony from an EkoTek 
employee established that Miller, like 
Defendant, had specifically directed the 
employee to store hazardous waste in the east 
warehouse. Finally, Miller admitted knowing 
that storage of hazardous waste in the east 
warehouse violated EkoTek's RCRA permit. 
This evidence is sufficient to establish that 
Miller violated Sec. 6928(d)(2)(B) by storing the 
A very Label and Reynolds Metals waste in the 
east warehouse. Defendant's direction to his 
employee to store hazardous waste in the east 
warehouse and his specific discussion with 
MiIler about the iIlegality of this practice is 
sufficient evidence to establish that Defendant 
shared the requisite intent. Moreover, Defendant 
participated in the offense, not only by directing 
the illegal storage, but by personally attempting 
to avoid its detection by the inspectors. Thus, 
regardless of whether the evidence would be 
sufficient for the jury to infer that Defendant had 
knowledge of the illegal storage of the twenty­
nine drums at issue in count 8, the evidence is 
abundantly sufficient to find that Defendant 
aided and abetted Miller's commission of the 
offense. 

The evidence of MiIler's commission of the 
substantive offense also supports Defendant's 
conviction under a Pinkerton theory. The 
indictment clearly indicated that Miller was a 
coconspirator, albeit an unindicted one, and 
clearly charged that the illegal storage of 
hazardous waste in the east warehouse as an 

object of the conspiracy. Defendant does not 
even challenge on appeal the sufficiency of the 
evidence to support his conspiracy conviction. 
Accordingly, given that Miller's acts relating to 
the storage of the A very Label and Reynolds 
Metals waste were in the course of and in 
furtherance of the conspiracy, Defendant can be 
held criminally responsible for these acts. 

B. 

Defendant also claims that the district 
court's jury instruction concerning Defendant's 
knowledge that the material was hazardous 
waste was erroneous. The district court 
instructed the jury as follows: 

That on or about the dates alleged in the 
Indictment, the defendant knowingly stored or 
commanded and caused others to store 
hazardous waste. The defendant need have no 
specific knowledge of the particular hazardous 
characteristics of the material in question, only 
that it was hazardous waste and not a benign or 
innocuous material such as water. 

Defendant objected to this instruction 
claiming that the instruction should require the 
jury to find that Defendant knew the waste was 
an identified or listed hazardous waste under 
RCRA. Defendant reasserts this same argument 
before us. 

We review the propriety of tendering an 
individual jury instruction de novo. United 
States v. Harmon, 996 F.2d 256, 257 (lOth 
Cir.1993) (citations omitted). We examine the 
jury instructions as a whole to determine 
whether the jury was provided with an accurate 
statement of the applicable law. Id. (citations 
omitted). We will only reverse a conviction due 
to an erroneous instruction if the error was 
prejudicial when viewed in light of the entire 
record. United States v. Caro, 965 F.2d 1548, 
1555 (lOth Cir.1992). 

Defendant points to the language of the 
statute which proscribes "knowingly ... stor[ing] 
... any hazardous waste identified or listed under 
this subchapter ... in knowing violation of any 
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material condition or requirement of [a RCRA] 
permit." 42 U.S.C. Sec. 6928(d)(2)(B) (emphasis 
added). According to Defendant, because the 
statute expressly requires knowledge that the 
storage violates the permit, and the permit only 
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regulates RCRA hazardous waste, the statute 
necessarily requires proof of the defendant's 
knowledge that the material is hazardous waste 
identified or listed under RCRA. 

Whether 42 U.S.C. Sec. 6928(d)(2)(B) 
requires proof that the defendant knew the 
substance at issue was identified or listed 
hazardous waste under RCRA appears to be an 
issue of first impression. However, several 
circuits have given narrower constructions of the 
knowing requirement in other RCRA criminal 
provisions. The Fourth, Fifth and Eleventh 
Circuits have held that Sec. 6928( d)(2)(A), 
which prohibits knowingly treating, storing or 
disposing of hazardous waste without a permit, 
does not require proof of the defendant's 
knowledge that the materials are listed or 
identified as hazardous waste under RCRA 
regulations. See United States v. Goldsmith, 978 
F.2d 643, 645 (11 th Cir.1992); Bay tank, 934 
F.2d at 613; Dee, 912 F.2d at 745. Similarly, the 
Eleventh Circuit has also held that Sec. 
6928( d)(1), which prohibits knowingly 
transporting hazardous waste to an unpermitted 
facility, does not require proof of the defendant's 
knowledge that the material was hazardous 
waste within the meaning of RCRA regulations. 
See Goldsmith, 978 F.2d at 645; Hayes, 786 
F.2d at 1503. These circuits, as well as the Third 
and Ninth Circuits in the context of Sec. 
6928( d)(2)(A), have held that the government 
need only prove that Defendant knew the 
material was hazardous in that it was potentially 
harmful to persons or the environment. See 
Goldsmith, 978 F.2d at 646; Bay tank, 934 F.2d 
at 613; Dee, 912 F.2d at 745; United States v. 
Hoflin, 880 F.2d 1033, 1039 (9th Cir.1989), 
cert. denied, 493 U.S. 1083, 110 S.Ct. 1143, 107 
L.Ed.2d 1047 (1990); Greer, 850 F.2d at 1450; 
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Johnson & Towers, 741 F.2d at 666 (construing 
Sec. 6928(d)(2)(A)). 

These courts have generally relied on the 
Supreme Court's reasoning in United States v. 
International Minerals & Chern. Corp., 402 U.S. 
558, 91 S.Ct. 1697, 29 L.Ed.2d 178 (1971). 
International Minerals involved a prosecution 
under 18 U.s.c. Sec. 834(f) (repealed 1979) for 
knowingly violating an Interstate Commerce 
Commission regulation which required shipping 
papers to describe hazardous materials. The 
defendant argued that, because he was not aware 
of the particular regulation, he could not have 
knowingly violated it as required under the 
terms of the criminal statute. Id. at 560, 91 S.Ct. 
at 1699. The Court held that the defendant's lack 
of knowledge of the regulation was no defense. 
See id. at 562, 91 S.Ct. at 1700. ("[t]he Act ... 
does not signal an exception to the rule that 
ignorance of the law is no excuse"). The Court 
reasoned that "where ... obnoxious waste 
materials are involved, the probability of 
regulation is so great that anyone who is aware 
that he is in possession of them or dealing with 
them must be presumed to be aware of the 
regulation." Id. at 565, 91 S.Ct. at 1701-02. 
Courts which have applied International 
Minerals' reasoning to the knowing requirement 
of RCRA's criminal provisions have generally 
reasoned that persons dealing with materials, 
which by their very nature are potentially 
dangerous, are presumed to know the regulatory 
status of the material, see United States v. 
Sellers, 926 F.2d 410, 416 (5th Cir.1991); Dee, 
912 F.2d at 745, or that to permit a defendant to 
claim that he or she did not know the material 
was identified or listed as a RCRA hazardous 
waste would effectively approve of a mistake of 
law defense which is generally not viable in a 
criminal prosecution. See Bay tank, 934 F.2d at 
612; Dee, 912 F.2d at 745. 

Notwithstanding International Minerals' 
reasoning and the application of this reasoning 
to the knowing requirement of RCRA's criminal 
provisions by every circuit that has addressed 
the issue, Defendant argues that we should 
follow the Supreme Court's reasoning in 
Liparota v. United States, 471 U.S. 419, 105 
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S.Ct. 2084, 85 L.Ed.2d 434 (l985). In Liparota, 
the Supreme Court held that 7 U.S.c. Sec. 
2024(b)(1), which prohibited the knowing 
acquisition or possession of food stamps in any 
manner not authorized by the statute or 
regulations, required proof, not only of the 
defendant's knowledge of his acquisition or 
possession of the food stamps, but also of the 
defendant's know ledge that his possession or 
acquisition of the food stamps was not 
authorized by the regulation. Id. at 425, 105 
S.Ct. at 2088; accord United States v. O'Brien, 
686 F.2d 850, 853 (lOth Cir.1982). Liparota 
does not control this 
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case. The Liparota Court distinguished 
International Minerals because the statute at 
issue in Liparota did not involve "a type of 
conduct that a reasonable person should know is 
subject to stringent public regulation and may 
seriously threaten the community's health and 
safety." 471 U.S. at 433, 105 S.Ct. at 2092. 
Given that RCRA is a public welfare statute 
which was designed "to protect human health 
and the environment," see 42 U.S.C. Sec. 
6924(a) (West Supp.1993); United States v. 
Colorado, 990 F.2d 1565, 1569-70 - (lOth 
Cir.1993), the Liparota Court's reasoning, in 
light of its recognized distinction of 
International Minerals, is inapposite. See 
Bay tank, 934 F.2d at 613; Hayes, 786 F.2d at 
1503. 

We recognize that Sec. 6928(d)(2)(B) 
requires proof that the storage was "in knowing 
violation" of the RCRA permit, and the RCRA 
permit only governs storage of RCRA hazardous 
waste. We do not believe, however, that this 
particular knowing requirement makes 
knowledge of the regulatory status of the 
material a prerequisite to conviction under Sec. 
6928(d)(2)(B). Rather, the second "knowing" 
requirement of Sec. 6928(d)(2)(B) ensures that a 
good faith belief that a permit allows a particular 
manner of treatment, storage or disposal of 
hazardous waste, when in fact it does not, is a 
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defense to a criminal charge. See H.R.Conf.Rep. 
No. 1444, 96th Cong., 2d Sess. 37 (1980), 
reprinted in 1980 U.S.C.C.A.N. 5019, 5036 
("This section is intended to prevent abuses of 
the permit system by those who obtain and then 
knowingly disregard them.") It does not 
eliminate the presumption, applicable to every 
other RCRA criminal prOVISIOn and to 
regulatory statutes in general which concern 
dangerous substances, that persons handling 
such materials know of their regulatory status. 
Accordingly, Defendant's claim that the district 
court should have instructed the jury that it must 
find that Defendant knew the material at issue in 
count 8 was identified or listed as hazardous 
waste under RCRA regulations is not persuasive. 

On appeal, Defendant broadens his 
contention that the instruction was erroneous by 
arguing, not only that the instruction failed to 
require the government to prove that Defendant 
knew the material was RCRA hazardous waste, 
but also that it allowed the jury to convict 
merely by finding that Defendant knew the 
material was "not a benign or innocuous 
material such as water." Because Defendant did 
not raise this particular objection below, we 
review only for plain error. See Sellers, 926 F .2d 
at 417. 

While the government was not required to 
prove that Defendant knew that the material was 
identified or listed as hazardous waste under 
RCRA regulations, the government was required 
to prove that Defendant knew the material was 
hazardous in that it had the potential to be 
harmful to persons or the environment. See 
Goldsmith, 978 F.2d at 645-46; Bay tank, 934 
F.2d at 613; Hoflin, 880 F.2d at 1039; Greer, 
850 F.2d at 1450. Here, the district court's 
instruction specifically required the jury to find 
that Defendant knew the material was 
hazardous. However, the instruction did not 
define hazardous as having the potential to harm 
other persons or the environment, but merely 
told the jury that it meant a non-benign or non­
innocuous material, and gave water as an 
example of a benign or innocuous material. 
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The Eleventh and Ninth Circuits have 
approved of an instruction regarding knowledge 
which requires the jury to find that "the 
defendant knew that the stored material had the 
potential to be harmful to others or to the 
environment, in other words, that it was not an 
innocuous substance like water." See Goldsmith, 
978 F.2d at 645; Hoflin, 880 F.2d at 1039. 
While we agree with this instruction and find it 
preferable to the instruction given in this case, 
the instruction here was not an erroneous 
statement of the law. The instruction specifically 
required the jury to find that Defendant knew the 
material was hazardous waste. Thus, it is unlike 
the erroneous instruction in Dee which required 
the jury to find only that Defendant knew the 
materials were chemicals without also requiring 
a finding that Defendant knew the materials 
were hazardous. 912 F.2d at 745. As a result, 
even though the instruction in this case may 
have been incomplete by failing to inform the 
jury that Defendant must know the material had 
the potential to be harmful to others or the 
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environment, this omission was not so obvious 
as to rise to the level of plain error. See Sellers, 
926 F .2d at 417 (no plain error in failing to 
instruct the jury that the government was 
required to prove that the defendant knew that 
the substance he disposed of was potentially 
hazardous or dangerous to persons or the 
environment). 

IV. 

Finally, Defendant argues that his 
conviction on count 1 for conspiracy to violate 
CAA, RCRA and CW A must be set aside 
because the verdict may have been based upon a 
legally insufficient overt act or means. Count 1 
charged Defendant with conspiring with 
EkoTek, Inc. and other unidentified 
coconspirators (1) to violate CAA, specifically 
42 U.S.c. Sec. 7413(c)(l), by burning solvents, 
used oil and hazardous waste in violation of 
EkoTek's state air permit; (2) to violate RCRA, 

specifically 42 U.s.C. Secs. 6928(d)(l), 
6928( d)(2), 6928( d)(3), by storing the A very 
Label and Reynolds Metals waste in unpermitted 
areas of the facility, by transporting the natural 
gas condensate to an unpermitted facility and 
falsifying the manifest and the operating log, 
and by illegally storing and treating 5,000 
gallons of corrosive waste in March 1987; and 
(3) to violate the CW A, specifically 33 U.S.C. 
Secs. 1317( d), 1319( c)(1), 1319( c )(2), by 
discharging pollutants from the EkoTek facility 
into the public sewer system. We have already 
determined that the government's theory with 
respect to the natural gas condensate charges 
was erroneous, and, therefore, the government 
failed to meet its burden of proof with respect to 
two of the four substantive RCRA counts. 
Additionally, the district court granted 
Defendant's motion for a judgement of acquittal 
with respect to substantive counts which related 
to the improper storage and treatment of the 
corrosive wastes. Defendant claims on appeal 
that because the jury could have based his 
conviction on one of these acts his conspiracy 
conviction must be reversed. 

In Yates v. United States, 354 U.S. 298, 77 
S.Ct. 1064, 1 L.Ed.2d 1356 (1957), the 
defendants were convicted of conspiracy to 
violate the Smith Act, 18 U.S.C. Sec. 2385, by 
advocating the overthrow of the government and 
by organizing persons to advocate the overthrow 
of the government. The Supreme Court held that 
the allegation that the defendants conspired to 
organize persons was barred by the statute of 
limitations. Id. at 312, 77 S.Ct. at 1073. The 
Court specifically rejected the government's 
argument that the conspiracy conviction could 
be affirmed on the basis of the advocating 
allegation. Id. at 311, 77 S.Ct. at 1073. The 
Court observed that the jury instructions did not 
clearly require the jury to find that the 
defendants conspired to both advocate and 
organize. Id. Moreover, the Court noted that the 
jury was required to find an overt act, and there 
was "no way of knowing whether the overt act 
found by the jury was one which it believed to 
be in furtherance of the 'advocacy' rather than 
the 'organizing' objective of the alleged 
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conspiracy." Id. at 311-12,77 S.Ct. at 1073. As 
the Court stated, "[i]n these circumstances ... the 
proper rule to be applied is that which requires a 
verdict to be set aside in cases where the verdict 
is supportable on one ground, but not another, 
and it is impossible to tell which ground the jury 
selected." Id. at 312, 77 S.Ct. at 1073 (citations 
omitted). See also Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 
862,881, 103 S.Ct. 2733, 2745, 77 L.Ed.2d 235 
(1983) ("a general verdict must be set aside if 
the jury was instructed that it could rely on any 
of two or more independent grounds, and one of 
those grounds is insufficient, because the verdict 
may have rested exclusively on the insufficient 
ground"). 

In Griffin v. United States, --- U.S. ----, 112 
S.Ct. 466,116 L.Ed.2d 371 (1991), the Supreme 
Court limited Yates' holding to situations in 
which one of the possible bases of conviction 
was legally insufficient as opposed to factually 
insufficient. Id. at ---- - ----, 112 S.Ct. at 470-72. 
See also United States v. Pace, 981 F.2d 1123, 
1130 (lOth Cir.1992), cert. denied, --- U.S. ----, 
113 S.Ct. 1401, 122 L.Ed.2d 774 (1993). In 
Griffin, the jury returned a general verdict 
finding the defendant guilty of conspiracy to 
defraud the United States by impairing the 
efforts of the Internal Revenue Service to 
ascertain income taxes and impairing the efforts 
of the Drug Enforcement Administration to 
ascertain forfeitable assets. --- U.S. 
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at ----, 112 S.Ct. at 468. While there was 
sufficient evidence to prove that the defendant 
conspired to defraud the IRS, the government 
conceded that the evidence was insufficient to 
prove that the defendant conspired to defraud the 
DEA. Id. at ----, 112 S.Ct. at 468. The Griffin 
Court distinguished Yates on the grounds noted 
above and recognized the precedent on which 
Yates relied was limited to cases in which one of 
the grounds which the jury might have based the 
conviction was constitutionally prohibited. Id. at 
---- - ----, 112 S.Ct. at 470-72. See Cramer v. 
United States, 325 U.S. 1,65 S.Ct. 918, 89 L.Ed. 
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1441 (1945) (possible ground of convIctton 
violated Article III, Sec. 3 requirement of "two 
Witnesses to the same overt Act" for conviction 
of treason); Williams v. North Carolina, 317 
U.S. 287, 63 S.Ct. 207, 87 L.Ed. 279 (1942) 
(possible ground of conviction violated Full 
Faith and Credit Clause); Stromberg v. 
California, 283 U.S. 359, 51 S.Ct. 532, 75 L.Ed. 
1117 (1931) (possible ground of conviction 
violated First Amendment). The Griffin Court 
held that the government's failure to prove one 
of the unlawful objectives of the conspiracy did 
not require reversal of the defendant's 
conspiracy conviction. --- U. S. at ---- - ----, 112 
S.Ct. at 472-73. Thus, after Griffin, a general 
verdict on a conspiracy count charging 
disjunctive objectives must be reversed if the 
jury could have based its verdict on a legally or 
constitutionally infirm objective; however, 
factual insufficiency of one or more of the 
objectives does not require reversal as we will 
presume that the jury rejected the factually 
inadequate theory and convicted on an 
alternative ground for which the evidence was 
sufficient. See Pace, 981 F.2d at 1130 (affirming 
conviction for distributing methamphetamine or 
amphetamine even though there was a "total 
lack of evidence" that defendant distributed 
amphetamine). Accordingly, we must reverse 
Defendant's conspiracy conviction if any of the 
objectives were legally insufficient. See United 
States v. Garcia, 992 F.2d 409, 416 (2d 
Cir.1993). 

We need go no further than consider the 
objectives relating to the diversion of the natural 
gas condensate as two of them--i.e. transporting 
natural gas condensate to an unpermitted facility 
and falsifying the manifest--are legally 
insufficient. We recognize that we have already 
held that these counts were not legally 
insufficient in the sense that Defendant's pretrial 
motion to dismiss should have been granted. 
However, our reasoning was based on the fact 
that the counts properly charged all the elements 
of the crimes and the issue of whether natural 
gas condensate was a hazardous waste depended 
on the factual issue of how the natural gas 
condensate was ultimately disposed. The 
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government proceeded to trial on an erroneous 
theory that the natural gas condensate was 
hazardous waste unless it was used in a manner 
normally intended by the industry or in its 
original intended manner. The district court 
instructed the jury on this erroneous theory. 
Because the government proceeded on an 
erroneous theory, the government case with 
respect to these counts suffered from a failure of 
proof. Nonetheless, because of the government's 
erroneous theory and the district court's 
erroneous instruction, these objectives were 
legally insufficient as well. 

The Griffin Court recognized this very 
distinction. As the Court stated, "the term 'legal 
error' means a mistake about the law, as opposed 
to a mistake concerning the weight or factual 
import of the evidence." Here, both the 
government and the district court were mistaken 
about the law, as burning natural gas condensate 
as automotive fuel does not fit within the 
regulatory definition of hazardous waste and, 
therefore, Defendant's actions were not within 
the statutory definition of the crime. This 
renders two of the three RCRA objectives of the 
conspiracy legally insufficient. "[W]hether ... the 
action fails to come within the statutory 
definition of the crime" constitutes "legal error" 
and is controlled by Yates. See Griffin, --- U.S. 
at ----, 112 S.Ct. at 474. Because the jury was 
erroneously instructed on the question of 
whether the natural gas condensate was 
hazardous waste, this is not the case where we 
can "assume that jurors ... reject[ed] the 
'factually inadequate theory.' " Pace, 981 F .2d at 
1130 (citing Griffin, --- U.S. at ----, 112 S.Ct. at 
474). Cf. Walther v. Lone Star Gas Co., 952 
F.2d 119, 126 (5th Cir.1992) (applying Griffin 
and holding that "[b]ecause the district court's 
instruction on 
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statistical proof was legally correct, although not 
factually supported, there was not reversible 
error"). Rather, this is the case in which "a 
particular theory of conviction ... is contrary to 

law." Griffin, --- U.S. at ----, 112 S.Ct. at 474. 
Therefore, Defendant's count 1 conspiracy 
conviction must be reversed. See id.; Yates, 354 
U.S. at 312,77 S.Ct. at 1073. See also Pace, 981 
F.2d at 1130 ("[a] disjunctive charge may result 
in jury error when one of the alternatives is 
legally inadequate"). 

V. 

Defendant's convictions on counts 1, 2, 3 
and 7 are REVERSED. Defendant's convictions 
on counts 4 and 8 are AFFIRMED. The case is 
REMANDED to the district court for 
proceedings consistent with this opinion. 

1 RCRA also defines "solid waste" to include "any 
garbage, refuse, [and] sludge from a waste treatment 
plant, water supply treatment plant, or air pollution 
control facility .... " 42 U.S.C. Sec. 6903(27). There is 
no contention that natural gas condensate is any of 
these types of materials. 

2 The regulations also define "discarded material" to 
include "any material which is ... [c]onsidered 
inherently wastelike." 40 C.F.R. Sec. 261.2(a)(2)(iii) 
(1992). It is undisputed that natural gas condensate is 
not an inherently waste like material. 

3 A material is also abandoned if it is "[d]isposed of," 
40 C.F.R. Sec. 261.2(b)(1) (1992), or "[a]ccumulated, 
stored, or treated (but not recycled) before or in lieu 
of being abandoned by being disposed of, burned or 
incinerated." Id. Sec. 261.2(b)(3). The determination 
of whether a material is a solid waste by virtue of 
being disposed of leads us in circles in that the 
statutory and regulatory definitions of "disposal" 
depend in part on whether the material is a solid 
waste. See 42 U.S.C. Sec. 6903(3); 40 C.F.R. Sec. 
260.l0 (1992); see also Reading Co. v. City of 
Philadelphia, 823 F.Supp. 1218, 1235-37 
(E.D.Pa.1993); Zands v. Nelson, 779 F.Supp. 1254, 
1261-62 (S.D.Ca1.l991). Nevertheless, it is 
undisputed that Defendant did not cause the natural 
gas condensate to be "discharge[d], deposit[ ed], 
inject[ed], dump[ed], spill [ed], leak[ed], or plac[ed] 
... into or on any land or water." See 42 U.S.C. Sec. 
6903(3); 40 C.F.R. Sec. 260.10 (1992). Therefore, 
Defendant did not dispose of the natural gas 
condensate. Similarly, there is no contention that the 
natural gas condensate was "[a]ccumulated, stored, or 
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treated (but not recycled) before or in lieu of being 
abandoned by being disposed of, burned or 
incinerated." Id. Sec. 261.2(b )(3). 

4 The regulations also consider certain materials 
recycled when the material is "[u]sed in a manner 
constituting disposal," 40 C.F.R. Sec. 261.2(c)(I) 
(1992), "[r]eclaimed," id. Sec. 261.2(c)(3), or 
"[a]ccumulated speculatively." Id. Sec. 261.2(c)(4). It 
is undisputed that the natural gas condensate was not 
used in a manner constituting disposal, see supra note 
3, reclaimed, see 40 C.F.R. Sec. 261.1(c)(4) (1992), 
or accumulated speculatively, see id. Sec. 
261.1(c)(8). 

5 The remaining types of materials which, when they 
are recycled by being burned for energy recovery, are 
considered solid wastes are "[s]pent materials," listed 
or characteristic "[s]ludges," listed "[b]y-products," 
listed "[c]ommercial chemical products," and "[s]crap 
meta!." 40 C.F.R. Sec. 261.2 (Table 1) (1992). 
Natural gas condensate is clearly not a spent material, 
sludge, or scrap metal as defined by the regulations. 
See id. Sec. 261.1(c)(I) (defining "spent material" as 
"any material that has been used and as a result of 
contamination can no longer serve the purpose for 
which it was produced without processing"); id. Sec. 
260.10 (defining "sludge" as "any solid, semi-solid, 
or liquid waste generated from a municipal, 
commercial, or industrial wastewater treatment plant, 
or air pollution control facility exclusive of the 
treated effluent from a wastewater treatment plant"); 
id. Sec. 261.1(c)(6) (defining "scrap metal" as "bits 
and pieces of metal parts ... which when worn or 
superfluous can be recycled"). Moreover, the 
government, in this case, has never relied on, nor 
does it direct us to, anything in the regulations 
indicating that natural gas condensate is either a 
listed commercial chemical product, see id. 261.33, 
or a listed by-product, see id. Secs. 261.31,261.32. 

6 In its 1983 proposed rule defining "solid waste," 
only listed by-products were considered solid wastes 
when recycled. See 48 Fed.Reg. 14,481 (Figure 4) 
(Apr. 4, 1983); see also 50 Fed.Reg. 629 (Jan. 4, 
1985). However, the 1985 final rule "determined that 
all by-products ... are solid wastes when burned as 
fuels or used to produce a fue!." 50 Fed.Reg. 629 
(Jan. 4, 1985). In adopting this final rule, the EPA 
stated that by-products are "unlike commercial fuels" 
and are "significantly different in composition from 
fossil fuels." Id. Distinguishing between by-products 
and fossil fuels, the EPA noted that by-products "are 
waste-like because they are residual materials 
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containing toxic constituents not ordinarily found in 
fossil fuels." Id. It was in this context that the EPA 
singled out natural gas condensate as an example of 
an off-specification fuel that is not a by-product. Id. 
at 630 n. 18. 

7 At the government's request, the district court gave 
an instruction defining hazardous waste in this 
manner. At trial, the government offered expert 
testimony that natural gas condensate does not have a 
normal intended use within the petroleum industry, 
and the district court did not allow Defendant to 
present expert testimony to the contrary. 

8 The EPA has recognized that the "nature of the 
device in which the wastes are being burned ... could 
be significant" to whether "particular burning 
operations are within the scope of the recycling 
exemption." Id. However, the question here is not 
whether the natural gas condensate was exempted 
from regulation as a "recyclable material," see 40 
C.F.R. Sec. 261.6(a)(2)(ii) (1992), but whether the 
natural gas condensate was a solid waste as defined 
under 40 C.F.R. Sec. 261.2 (1992) and, therefore, 
subject to regulation in the first place. Section 
261.6(a)(2)(ii), setting forth the recycling exemption, 
specifically limits the exemption to "[h]azardous 
wastes burned for energy recovery in boilers and 
industrial furnaces that are not regulated under 
subpart 0 of part 264 or 265 of this chapter .... " Id. 
Sec. 261.6(a)(2)(ii). Notably, Sec. 261.2, which 
defines solid waste, does not require that material be 
burned in a boiler or industrial furnace to be burned 
for energy recovery and, therefore, recycled. 
Moreover, when the EPA noted that its 1983 sham 
recycling policy would control the question of 
whether a material was burned or incinerated and, 
therefore, abandoned or burned for energy recovery 
and, therefore, recycled, the EPA specifically 
characterized the policy as being based on the energy 
level of the waste being burned. See 50 Fed.Reg. 630 
(Jan. 4, 1985). 

This is not to say that the nature of the device in 
which the material is burned is completely irrelevant 
to whether the material is recycled by being burned 
for energy recovery or abandoned by being burned or 
incinerated. High energy materials burned in an 
incinerator may not be considered to be recycled 
because an incinerator's capacity to retrieve the 
energy from the material is limited. Alternatively, 
low-energy materials burned in a boiler or industrial 
furnace may not be considered to be recycled due to 
their limited energy value. In either case, the EPA 
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considers such materials to be burned for destruction. 
In this case however, we have a high energy material­
-natural gas condensate--burned in the internal 
combustion engines of automobiles. While some 
internal combustion engines are better than others at 
retrieving the energy value from fuel to power 
vehicles, no one can seriously argue that an internal 
combustion engine does not have the capacity to 
recover energy from fuel. 

9 In the district court, Defendant sought to offer the 
testimony of Marcia Williams, former Director of the 
EPA's Office of Solid Waste, that this language was 
added to the 1991 comment at the behest of the 
prosecutors in this case and for the sole purpose of 
undermining the defense. Ms. Williams testimony 
was not offered, however, after the government 
agreed not to rely on the language in the 1991 
comment. Although the government's argument on 
appeal does not directly rely on the 1991 comment, 
the government's claim that the 1991 comment 
"simply added further clarification to the distinction 
already in the regulations and accompanying Federal 
Register notices," indirectly relies on the comment in 
an attempt to give credence to the government's 
otherwise meritless argument. 

10 Defendant also argues that the government's 
construction of the statute and regulations fail to 
provide fair warning of criminal conduct, and SCGC 
and the industry generally treat natural gas 
condensate as a product rather than a waste. We 
construe both of these arguments as alternative 
grounds for reversal which Defendant raises in the 
event that we agree with the government's 
construction of the regulatory definition of solid 
waste. Because we agree with Defendant's 
construction of the statute and regulations, we do not 
address either of these arguments. 

II In United States v. Radetsky, 535 F.2d 556 (10th 
Cir.), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 820, 97 S.Ct. 68, 50 
L.Ed.2d 81 (1976), overruled in part by United States 
v. Daily, 921 F.2d 994, 1004 (10th Cir.1990), cert. 
denied, --- U.S. ----, 112 S.Ct. 405, 116 L.Ed.2d 354 
(1991), we held that a physician's false claims for 
Medicare reimbursement were not "material" because 

r: 
fastc 

the claims were for drugs that were not compensable 
under medicare and, therefore, were "incapable of 
inducing payments." 535 F.2d at 571. RCRA's 
regulatory scheme is very different from the 
Medicare scheme at issue in Radetsky. Unlike the 
drugs at issue in Radetsky, whether the natural gas 
condensate was subject to RCRA regulation was 
dependant on the ultimate disposition of the natural 
gas condensate, and Defendant, as well as SCGC, 
treated the natural gas condensate as if it was within 
RCRA's regulatory authority. Thus, unlike the 
physician's false statement in Radetsky, Defendant's 
false statement here had a tendency to influence the 
agency's action. 

12 Defendant also claims with respect to count 7 that 
the indictment failed to properly charge and the 
government failed to prove a deprivation of a 
tangible property right as required under McNally v. 
United States, 483 U.S. 350, 107 S.Ct. 2875, 97 
L.Ed.2d 292 (1987). Given our holding that count 7 
must be reversed due to insufficient evidence of the 
scheme to defraud as alleged in the indictment, we 
need not address this argument. 

13 It is undisputed that EkoTek's RCRA permit did 
not authorize it to store hazardous waste in the east 
warehouse and that this is a material condition of the 
permit. 

14 Unlike Defendant's argument with respect to the 
natural gas condensate, there is no dispute that these 
substances were solid wastes as defined under 40 
C.F .R. Sec. 261.2 (1992). 

15 RCR:A~s" definition of ignitable characteristic 
waste, with respect to liquid, is based on whether the 
waste has a flash point of less than 140? F "as 
determined by a Pensky-Martens Closed Cup Tester 
... or a Setaflash Closed Cup Tester ... or as 
determined by an equivalent test method approved by 
the Administrator .... " 40 C.F.R. Sec. 261.21(a)(1) 
(1992). 

16 Defendant's own witness who performed the test 
on the spray material admitted that, if it were mixed 
with MEK, it would have a "very low flash point." 
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RESOURCE CONSERVATION AND RECOVERY ACT - LiabiljtyundertheAct - Where a facility, in good 
faith, advises the Agency that it is managing a particular hazardous waste and later determines, based upon 
laboratory analysis and legal investigation, that the waste is not and never was the listed waste previously identi­
fied, is not liable for the imposition of a civil penalty for its failure to comply with the requirements of the act 
relative to such waste. 

INITIAL DECISION 

Introduction 
As evidenced by the attached Accelerated Decision which is hereby incorporated and made a part of this Initial 
Decision based upon stipulations of fact and briefs filed in regard thereto, an Accelerated Decision on the ques­
tion of liability of the Respondent for two of the four violations set forth in the original complaint was made on 
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July II, 1985. Following the issuance of that decision, the parties were unable to agree on the amount an appro­
priate penalty to be assessed and therefore a hearing on the sole issue of the amount of the penalty to be as­
sessed, if any, was held in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania on November 14, 1985. 

Based upon testimony produced at that hearing and as amplified in its post-hearing briefs, the Respondent raises 
for the first time a threshold issue of liability under the Act which must be addressed before proceeding with a 
determination of the appropriate penalty, if any, to be assessed in this matter. 

The Respondent takes the position that the hazardous waste which is the subject of this proceeding is not, in 
fact, a hazardous waste and that when it identified it as such in its Part A application and revised Part A applica­
tion, was operating under an honest belief that the waste in question was a hazardous waste. Subsequent invest­
igations have now convinced it that the waste is not a hazardous waste and, therefore, its management is not sub­
ject to the provisions of the Act nor the regulations promulgated pursuant thereto. 

The waste in question is identified in the regulations as K049 which is described as "slop oil emulsion solids 
from the petroleum refining industry". Coviously this definition, which appears in the table associated with 40 
C.F.R. 261.32, is not particularly illuminating and in order to discover exactly what this waste is one must refer 
to the listing background document for the petroleum refining industry. A copy of this document was provided 
to the Court by the Respondent. Reference thereto reveals that "slop oil emulsion solids" are the skimmings 
from an API separator. It generally consists of a three-phase mixture of oil, water and a third emulsified layer. 
The oil is returned to crude storage, the water discharged to the wastewater treatment system, while the emulsion 
(oil, water and solids) becomes a process waste stream. A typical combination of the waste stream by weight is 
40 per cent water, 43 per cent oil, and 12 per cent solids. Among the solids are the heavy metals chromium and 
lead, for which the waste is listed. 

Reference to the appropriate regulations reveals that a solid waste can become a hazardous waste in one of two 
ways. One, the waste may be a "listed hazardous waste" and by that it is meant that the source of the waste is de­
scribed and any waste generated by that particular industrial or manufacturing process is deemed by the Agency 
to be a hazardous waste because of the constituents traditionally contained therein, which are considered by the 
Agency to be hazardous for some reason. The other way in which a solid waste may be deemed to be hazardous 
:s if it is a "characteristic waste" and by that it is meant that the waste exhibits one of the described characterist­
ics set forth in the regulations, such as ignitability, corrosivity, reactivity and toxicity. As indicated above, the 
hazardous waste in question is a listed hazardous waste because of the manufacturing process from which it is 
generated. In this case, it is the skimmings from an API separator. The waste in this case did not come from that 
source but rather came from settled material which accumulated in the bottom of oil storage tanks owned by the 
Respondent. This material consists of oily debris, such as, sand, grass, dirt, and organic material settling to the 
00ttom of the tank. The debris in question is only generated when the process tanks are cleaned and this only oc­
curs when the tanks are taken out of service for some reason. 

Why the Respondent ever assumed that the waste in question was slop oil emulsion solids certainly escapes this 
writer since its source is no way related to the skimmings from an API separator. As indicated from a reading of 
the listing document, the primary reason why this material is considered by the Agency to be a hazardous waste 
is that it is assumed to contain the constituents of chromium and lead. Prior to the institution of this action, the 
Respondent, at the direction of the State of West Virginia, had some of this material analyzed and it was determ­
;ned that it did not contain either hexavalent chromium or lead in sufficient concentrations as to render it hazard­
ous for any purpose. This result is not unexpected when one realizes that the Respondent does not use either 
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hexavalent chromium or lead in its processes, unlike a refiner whose end product is gasoline. In this case, the 
Respondent only manufactures motor oil and lubricants from crude oil and does not manufacture gasoline. 

In any event, the Respondent identified this material as the listed hazardous waste K049 and for all practical 
purposes treated it as such in its operation. The Complainant's answer to this allegation is that: 'Therefore, 
whether the material generated by Quaker State in November 1982 is a hazardous waste is not relevant to the vi­
olations or the imposition of civil penalties. The Respondent chose this course of action when it decided to add 
the storage tanks as part of its RCRA-regulated facility. It must face the consequences of that decision and 
should not be allowed to shift the focus of this proceeding from the tanks to their contents ."(Complainant's reply 
brief at p. 2.) The Complainant also take, the position that if the Respondent doesn't think the material in ques­
tion is a hazardous waste it should file a de-listing petition and have it removed as a hazardous waste to be man­
aged at its facility and until such a petition is filed and acted upon favorably by the Agency, the material must be 
considered, for all purposes, to be a hazardous waste. As to that last argument, the Respondent testified that in 
the course of filing a de-listing petition for some of its other hazardous wastes, it, upon further inquiry and ad­
vice , decided to remove the K049 waste from its de-listing petition since it takes the posture that the material 
:-ever was K049 in the first place and, therefore, it is not necessary to file a de-listing petition for it. 

I am of the opinion that the Complainant's arguments in regard to this threshold issue are rather circuitous and 
do not focus on the end result that must necessarily follow if this Court should rule that the material in question 
is not, in fact, a hazardous waste. The Complainant apparently takes the position that if a facility operator mis­
takenly designates a waste on its property as a hazardous waste, it must forever live with that decision even 
though subsequent facts reveal that identifying it as such was an honest mistake and that the material is not and 
,lever was a hazardous waste as defined by the regulations. 

The purpose of filing a de-listing petition is an attempt by a facility operator to convince the Agency that the 
constituents contained in its listed waste, although coming from the type of process which the regulations de­
scribe, does not, in fact, contain the toxic or hazardous constituents which caused the Agency to list the material 
as hazardous in the first place. A de-listing petition, as I understand the regulations, is only appropriate where 
the listed waste is generated by the type of process that the regulations identify, but that due to the particular 
:nanufacturing or operating methods employed by the facility they do not contain the constituents which caused 
the waste to be listed. In this case, the material does not have as its source of generation the process which the 
'egulations describe, i.e., the skimmings from an API separator. This material is not and was never generated 
from that source and its inclusion as an identified listed waste by the Respondent was an obvious error. The re­
cord is silent as to why the Respondent chose to identify its waste in that fashion, but testimony elicited at the 
,;earing seems to suggest that in making these notifications, the plant managers, who are not trained environ­
~1ental specialists, elected to identify them as such without consulting corporate Headquarters personnel or any 
'lational trade association which has at its disposal significant resources to aid people in the refining industry. In 
any event, the Respondent identified this material as K049 and made a good-faith effort, as the record reveals to 
i:andle it as required by the hazardous waste regulations. Complainant's arguments missed the point that if, in 
.cact , this material is not and never was a listed hazardous waste, no possible violations of RCRA could stand 
si nce the material is not subject to any regulation . 

The Complainant's position seems to be that if a facility mistakenly identifies a waste managed by its facility as 
a hazardous waste, it must live with that decision forever more even though subsequent evaluations determine 
[hat the material should never have been listed in the first place. The Complainant would require that once such 
an honest mistake was made, the facility operator must go through some formal Agency process in order to have 
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its handling of that particular material excluded from the operation of the Act and its regulations. I find this ap­
proach to be unduly rigid and illogical. 

40 C.F.R. 262.11 provides an alternative way of dealing with situations such as this and it seems to be particu­
larly applicable here . The section states that the person who generates a solid waste, as defined in the Act, must 
determine if that waste is a hazardous waste by using the described methods . The section then goes on to de­
scribe some things that the generator must do and Part C states that "if the waste is not listed as a hazardous 
waste in Subpart D of 40 C.F.R. Part 61, he must determine whether the waste is identified in Subpart C of 40 
C.F.R. Part 61 by either; I) testing the material according to described methods, or 2) "applying knowledge of 
:he hazardous characteristics of the waste in light of the materials or the processes used". Since the waste in 
cuestion does not appear to fit any of the defined listed hazardous wastes associated with the petroleum industry, 
[he facility owner may take the position that it is not a hazardous waste based on his knowledge of the material 
and the processes used . If a facility owner decides to utilize that methodology, which seems appropriate here, he 
cakes the risk that subsequent analysis of the waste may prove that his threshold determination was in error and 
.he would then be subject to substantial penalties for failing to handle and manage the material as a hazardous 
waste . If, however, subsequent analysis of the material in question substantiates the facility owner's original 
contention, then it is excluded as a hazardous waste for purposes of RCRA. That situation seems to precisely fit 
The circumstances as they have developed in this case. Given the fact that this Respondent processes 
?ennsylvania crude oil, which by its nature contains very few impurities or hazardous constituents, and further 
?iven the fact that the facility uses neither lead nor hexavalent chromium in its processing could have allowed 
the Respondent to make a determination that the material was not hazardous and treated it as such. In this case, 
subsequent analysis of this material did demonstrate that it does not contain the identified toxic constituents in 
sufficient concentrations to make it subject to regulation under RCRA. Despite the above, the Respondent in this 
case, out of caution and perhaps a lack of specialized knowledge of the inner workings of the regulations, chose 
to treat this material as if it were a hazardous waste and placed it in secure containers with the ultimate intention 
of having it shipped off site for disposal in a regulated waste storage facility . 

Under the circumstances in this case, it occurs to me that the Respondent's conduct in regard to this material was 
certainly consistent with one who wanted to take every precaution to assure itself that no harm to man or the en­
vironment would occur and chose to take the conservative approach and handle this material in a way which is 
mandated by the regulations as though it were, in fact, a hazardous waste. Certainly , the Respondent should not 
be punished for its honest mistake and its zeal in electing to abide by what it perceived to be applicable regula­
i.i ons and requirements in regard to the material in question. 

Based on the entire record before me, I am of the opinion that the solid waste in question is not, in fact, a haz­
ardous waste as defined by the regulations either as to its source of generation under the listing requirements nor 
as to its constituents by their characteristics . Having determined that the material in question is not K049 and is 
1'ot , in fact, a hazardous waste of any description, there is no necessity to make a determination as to what pen­
alty would be appropriate since there is no violation of RCRA. 

Conclusion 
d ased on the record before me, I am of the opinion that a proposed order in the form and substance set forth be­
,ow should issue. 

ORDERI.ENll 
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I . The complaint in this matter is hereby dismissed. 

2. The Respondent is directed to amend its Part A application in regard to K049 in a manner consistent with this 
opinion. 

Thomas B. Yost 
Administrative Law Judge 

FN I 40 C.F.R. 22.27(c) provides that this Initial Decision shall become the Final Order of the Administrator 
\\ ithin 45 days after its service upon the parties unless (1) an Appeal is taken by a party to the proceedings, or 
(2) the Administrator elects, suasponte, to review the Initial Decision. 40 C.F.R. 22.30(a) provides that such Ap­
peal may be taken by filing a Notice of Appeal within twenty (20) days after service of this Decision. 

Attachment 1 

ACCELERATED DECISION 

This matter was instituted by the issuance of the Complaint and Compliance Order on September 28, 1984. Fol­
lowing attempts to settle and the exchange of the pre-hearing information, the parties advised that they had pre­
;Jared a stipulation of relevant facts and wished to submit the question of liability to the Court on briefs pursuant 
~o 40 CFR § 22.20. If liability is found, a hearing on the question of the amount of the penalty would be held 
later. The above-mentioned stipulation is attached hereto as Exhibit A and is incorporated herein as findings of 
·act. 

The Complaint assessed penalties for four (4) violations, but in its brief, the Agency advised that is was not pur­
suing the violation concerning storing a hazardous waste not identified in Respondent's initial Part A applica­
tion , to wit: slop oil emulsion solids (waste # K049). The Agency's position on this violation apparently stems 
from the fact that the revised Part A application filed by the Respondent, relative to this waste, was misplaced 
by the Agency and did not reach the specific office which deals with such matters . 

Discussion of Yiolations 

The first violation alleged cites the Respondent with increasing its design capacity without first receiving ap­
J~oval therefor from the Regional Administrator, in violation of 40 CFR § 270.72(b) . 

As described in the stipulation, due to an industry slump, the Respondent shut down its refinery in November of 
i 982 and decided that this would be a good time to clean out its tanks. This exercise generated a larger amount 
·) f K049 than usual and the Respondent was forced to increase its storage capacity of the material since it could 
Jot dispose of it within the 90-day exemption period allowed by the regulations. The misplaced revised applica­
,jon advised the Agency of this fact and not only added K049 as a stored waste, but also indicated that it was in­
creasing its storage capacity form 20,000 gallons to 50,000 gallons. 

The Agency takes the position that such activity violates 40 CFR § 270.72(h) which requires that no such in­
crease be instituted without prior approval of the Regional Administrator. The Respondent argues that its activit­
es in regard to K049 are governed by § 270.72(a) which only required that a facility file a revised application 

and no prior approval is required by that subsection. The Respondent points out that the provisions of § 

270.72(b) only applies to "increases in the design capacity of processes used at the facility" and that its actions 
in this matter did not involved any increases in the capacity of processes used at the facility. Respondent further 
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argues that if the Agency's position is correct than any time a new waste is added to a facility's list of handled 

materials, some now capacity must also be added and thus subsection (b) would always apply. If this were so, 
then such prior approval should have been included in subsection (a) . Since it was not, the intent of the regula­
tions obviously was not to require prior approval for the storage of a new hazardous waste (see Respondent's ini­
ti al brief at pp. 5 and 6). This argument is not valid. One can easily envision situations where new wastes are to 

be handled which involve no increase in storage or treatment capacity. For example , a metal plater who chooses 
',0 change from a cadmium to a nickle process. He must file a revised Part A application, but since this change 
:·wolves no capacity increases, prior approval is not required. Another analogy is where the operator of an incin­
erator decides to accept a new waste which is compatible with his existing equipment. He must notify under § 

270.72(a), but since no increase in capacity is involved, no prior approval is required. 

The regulations do not define "processes", but reading all of § 270.72 together one sees that increasing storage 
capacity is an increase in the capacity of a process. See § 270.72(c) which states that "changes in the processes 

for the treatment, stora~e, or disposal of hazardous waste ... " need prior approval. (Emphasis supplied.) Clearly, 
the definition of " processes", as used in the RCRA regulations, is substantially broader than that which is tradi­
tionally used in other environmental applications. 

Accordingly, I am of the opinion that the Respondent did violate 40 CFR § 270.72(b) by not getting prior ap­

xoval when it increased its storage capacity for K049. 

The next violation cited has to do with the Respondent's failure to amend its closure plan within 60 days of the 
submission of the revised Part A application in contravention of 40 CFR § 265.112(b). That subsection states 
[hat: 

"The owner or operator may amend his closure plan at any time during the active life of the facility. (The 
active life of the facility is that period during which wastes are periodically received.) The owner or operat­
or must amend the plan whenever changes in operating plans or facility design affect the closure plan, or 
whenever there is a change in the expected year of closure of the facility. The plan must be amended within 
60 days of the changes." 

II is admitted that no revision to the closure plan was made by the Respondent until some 256 days after the 
change and then only when advised to do so by state officials. 

'''he Respondent argues that no revision was necessary since its original closure plan adequately dealt with 
K049, The language in the original plan to which Respondent refers is as follows: 

"All slop oil emulsion solids which are generated during closure of the facility will be disposed of off-site at 
an EPA-approved disposal site ." 

As they say in West Virginia, "That dog won't hunt!" As the Agency correctly points out, it is the storage facil­
!l:,' itself, i.e., the tanks, which must be addressed in the closure plan. The disposition of their contents is another 
'latter. Clearly, the above-quoted language utterly fails to discuss how the tanks will be handled during closure. 

i am, therefore, of the opinion that the Respondent violated 40 CFR § 270,72(b) by failing to amend its closure 
!}ian. 

','he last violation in issue here involves the failure of the Respondent to submit a closure plan to the Agency for 

.cview and public comment prior to transferring K049 from three tanks to three other tanks in contravention of 
40 CFR § 265.112(c) . 

This issue can be re-stated as follows : Did the transfer of K049 from three tanks to three other tanks constitute 
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"partial closure" thus triggering the requirements of the above-cited regulation? I think not. In its revised Part A 
application, the Respondent identified six tanks as constituting its storage facility for K049. When an inspection 
revealed a valve on one of the three tanks then being used to store the waste had a hair line crack which caused a 
small leak, the Respondent transferred the contents of that tank along with two others, to three of the other tanks. 
\Vhy the contents of three tanks were transferred rather than only that from the leaking tank is not explained. 
The three old tanks were cleaned and the rinse material was also placed in the new tanks. The three "old" tanks 
"emain on the Respondent's premises for future use. 

40 CFR § 260.10 defines partial closure as the closure of a discrete part of a facility. As an example, the regula­
t.ion cites the closure of a trench, a unit operation, a landfill cell, or a pit while other parts of the same facility 
continue in operation. The failure of the regulation to mention tanks or similar containers is, in my opinion, not a 
mere oversight but rather a conscious recognition that mobile and secure containers, such as tanks or drums, 
should be viewed in a different fashion than that accorded trenches, pits or landfills where the hazardous waste 
is placed in the earth thus providing the substantial likelihood of contamination of the environment. This is not 
' 0 say that tanks and similar containers are exempt from closure requirements, rather, I am saying that one must 
exercise some modicum of common sense and judgement when dealing with them in the regulatory sense. 

~' nder the circumstances of this case, I am of the opinion that the transfer of the waste from one set of tanks to 
another does not constitute partial closure of the emptied tanks. In this case, such action constituted merely good 
maintenance practice. The fact that the Respondent revised his Part A application to eliminate the three old tanks 
from service, at the insistence of a state official does not alter my opinion. It may be that at some time in the fu­
[Ure one of the "new" tanks might spring a leak and one of the old tanks be brought back into use. Must a clos­
"i re plan be filed to commemorate this event? I think not. 

I am, therefore, of the opinion that under the facts of this case, and this case only, the act of transferring the con­
~nts of a waste from one set of tank(s) to another does not constitute closure of the emptied tanks. 

Conclusion 

Based upon the preceeding discussion, I find that the Respondent: (l) violated 40 CFR § 265 .112(a)(3) by in­
creasing its designed storage capacity without receiving prior approval; and (2) violated 40 CFR § 265.112(b) by 
.ailing to amend its closure plan to include provisions for the tank storage facility. I find no violation in regard 
"0 the transfer of the contents of the waste K049 from one set of tanks to another without filing a closure plan 
:elative to such action. 

ORDER 

The parties will have until July 26, 1985 to attempt to settle this matter. Counsel for the Complainant shall file a 
report on that date which advises the Court as to whether or not the matter has been settled, whether settlement 
IS iikely and, if not, suggest dates and places for the holding of the Hearing on the question of the amount of the 
:)enalty to be assessed . 

. ,'homas B. Yost 

Administrative Law Judge 

Attachment 2 

EXHIBIT ~ 
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Stipulation of Facts 

J. Respondent is a Delaware corporation doing business in the State of West Virginia and is a "person" under 
Section 2 of Chapter 20, Article E, of the Code of West Virginia (hereinafter referred to as the West Virginia 
Code and by Section only), Section 1004(15) of the Resource, Conservation and Recovery Act ("the Act"), 42 

U.S.c. §6903(15), and regulation 40 C.F.R. §260.1O. 

2. Respondent owns and operates an oil refinery located at 201 Barkwill Street, St. Marys, West Virginia. Re­
spondent's principal product at this refinery is motor oil. 

3. As part of its business, Respondent is an "owner" and "operator" of an "existing hazardous waste manage­
ment facility" and engages in the "storage" of "hazardous waste" as those terms are defined in 40 C.F.R. 
§260.10. 

"':'. Respondent submitted to the United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), in a timely manner, a 
"otification of Hazardous Waste Activity, as required by Section 301O(a) of the Act, 42 U .S.C. §6930(a). Re­
spondent's Notification stated that the Respondent's facility handled hazardous wastes, including K049, slop oil 
emulsion solids. 

:'. Respondent has considered oily wastes accumulated at the bottom of process tanks to be slop oil emulsion 
solids, a listed hazardous waste. This waste is generated only when process tanks are cleaned and the residue is 
removed from the bottom of the tanks. 

6. Respondent submitted to EPA, in a timely manner, a Part A permit Application for its hazardous waste facilit­
ies (the facility), as required by 40 C.F.R. §270.1O. Respondent was assigned EPA 1.0. No. WVD004337135 . 

-; . The facility qualified for interim status as defined by Section 3005(e) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §6925(e), and reg­
~I1ation 40 C.F.R. §270.70. EPA sent the Respondent an acknowledgement of this status on August 6,1981. 

is. Respondent's initial Part A permit Application, dated November 17, 1980, indicated that the facility included 
' lOrage tanks (process code S02) with a total design capacity of 20,000 gallons. EPA's August 6,1981 letter ac­
I' nowledged this information. 

':1 . The initial Part A permit Application did not list K049, slop oil emulsion solids, as a hazardous waste stored 
,' r treated at the St. Marys facility since no slop oil emulsion solids were being generated at that time and plans 
·.\e re to properly manifest and dispose of this waste in less than 90 days . 

. U. In November, 1982, an extensive tank cleaning project resulted in the collection of a large amount of slop oil 
r lTIulsion solids at Respondent's facility . 

. I . It became apparent to Respondent that this material would not be disposed of within the permissible 90 days 
"orage period, and on January 20,1983 Respondent contacted Paul Montney, an employee of the EPA, for ad­

ice on handling the waste. 

! 2. Acting on this advice, Respondent submitted a revised Part A permit Application to the EPA Region III, on 
February 7, 1983 adding K049, slop oil emulsion solids , as a new hazardous waste not previously identified in 
Dart A of the permit Application. 
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13. The Respondent sent the revised Part A permit Application by certified mail to the West Virginia Depart­
ment of Natural Resources (DNR) and the U. S. EPA. The Respondent sent EPA's letter to P. O. Box 1460, Phil­
adelphia, PA, the address established for Part A submissions in 1980. The Respondent received certified mail re­
ceipt No. 9333242538, which showed that the Region III EPA mail room received the letter February 16,1983. 

; 4. The revised Part A permit Application added K049 to the wastes handled by Respondent's facility and 
amended the facility drawing to identify the location of 6 new storage tanks. The addition of these tanks raised 
the facility's total design capacity from 20,000 to 50,000 gallons. 

i 5. The Facilitie's Management Section, Waste Management Branch, Hazardous Waste Management Division of 
EPA, did not receive Respondent's February 7, 1983, Part A revision. That Section would have processed and 
~lcted upon the amended Part A Application had it been received. 

6. From the time of the Respondent's submittal of its Part A revision in February, 1983, to the filing of EPA's 
complaint on September 28, 1984, the parties had no communication concerning the Part A revision or any other 
aspect of Respondent's hazardous waste activities at the St. Marys facility . 

• 7. The Respondent used the additional tanks to store slop oil emulsion solids at the facility beginning in late 
1982 or early 1983. 

; 8. During an inspection November 21, 1983, Richard Mirth, the Respondent's Plant Engineer, and an Inspector 
'.vi{h the West Virginia DNR, Division of Water Resources, discovered that a valve on one of the tanks used to 
,!ore slop oil emulsion solids had leaked. This was reported to Don Stanley, a West Virginia DNR RCRA In­
spector. 

:9. Mr. Stanley inspected the facility on November 23,1983 and again on December 12, 1983 as part of West 
Virginia's RCRA Program. 

2u. During his November 23, 1983 inspection, Mr. Stanley observed that a container holding approximately one 
gailon of amber liquid was located directly below a four-inch valve one of three tanks marked "Hazardous 
Waste." He observed that the soil adjacent and under the valve was stained. He did not observe any leakage dur­
ing [he inspection. 

:' I. During his November 23, 1983 inspection, Mr. Stanley was advised of Respondent's intent to transfer the 
s'op oil emulsion solids from 3 tanks marked "Hazardous Waste" to the 3 other tanks also on the premises, and 
that the tanks would be emptied, rinsed, and the rinse liquids placed with the slop oil emulsion solids. Mr. Stan­
ley voiced his approval of these actions. 

n. During his December 12, 1983 inspection, Mr. Stanley asked Richard Mirth, Respondent's Plant Engineer, to 
:;ave the stained soil sampled and analyzed to determine whether it had been contaminated by the leaking fluid. 

n. Mr. Mirth took a soil sample and had it analyzed by IHI Kemron of Williamstown, West Virginia. The ana­
::: si s showed the chromium content to be 1,000 mg/kg and the lead content to be 49 mg/kg. The extractable level 
' or those substances was less than 0.01 mg/I for chromium and less than 0.05 mg/l for lead, below the E. P. tox­
. ::ty levels specified in the RCRA regulations . Mr. Mirth provided the laboratory results to Mr. Stanley via tele­
p!1One and to Robert L. lelacic of the West Virginia DNR's Hazardous Waste/Ground Water Branch by letter 
deted February 27,1984. 
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24. On December 21,1983, Mr. Stanley informed Mr. Mirth that Quaker State had failed to amend its closure 
plan within 60 days of February 7, 1983, the date on which it submitted its revised Part A permit Application 
adding the six tanks for the storage of K049 slop oil emulsion solids. 

25. Quaker State's closure plan, as it existed prior to the submission of the revised Part A permit Application on 
February 7, 1983 contained the statement, "All slop oil emulsion solids which are generated during closure of 
the facility will be disposed of off-site at an EPA approved disposal site." 

1.6. On December 22, 1983, acting on Mr. Stanley's advice, Respondent amended its closure plan to make specif­
ic reference to the addition of the 6 tanks used to store K049 slop oil emulsion solids . 

27. Mr. Stanley also advised Respondent that the 3 tanks being removed from immediate service should be de­
.,ered from Respondent's revised Part A permit Application. On March 8 , 1984, EPA received a letter from Re­
';;ondent dated February 27, 1984 removing 3 of the 6 tanks used to store slop oil emulsion solids from the Part 
A Application . 

?8. The 3 tanks deleted from the revised Part A permit Application remain on the facility premises. 

20. At no time did Mr. Stanley advise Respondent to submit its closure plan to the EPA. 

30. The Regional Administrator, EPA Region III, did not approve the Respondent's increase in design capacity 
reflected in Quaker State's February 2, 1983, Part A revision since the appropriate Agency employees never re­
ceived it. 

31. Slop oil emulsion solids is a listed hazardous waste pursuant to 40 C.F.R. §261.32. Laboratory analysis of 
Respondent's slop oil emulsion solids indicates that it does not contain hexavalent chromium and contains a 
minimum amount of lead . 

. ') 2. The Respondent did not submit its closure plan to EPA for review and public comment 180 days prior to re­
""oving the 3 tanks as part of the regulated facility . 

. ~3. Since November, 1982 Respondent has made no change in its operations at the St. Mary's facility that would 
affect the quantity or types of hazardous wastes generated, handled or stored at that facility. 

Marrin Harrell 

Assistant Regional Counsel for 

': he United States 

:-~;; vironmental Protection Agency 

841 Chestnut Building 

? i-,iiadelphia, PA 19107 

.\(ary R. White, Esquire 

: ;;r Respondent 

EXHIBIT ~ 
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addition. the requirflment provides tbat 
inst.rllctiol)!; cannot sbow through the 
front of the fonns when scanned. 
photocopied or fa.xed. If the paper 
wdght b too light and/or the ink color 
of the Instructions is too dtlrk. tht' 
instnH .. tionl:' might bh>ed through the 
Ii'(mt of tbe copies. If thl:' ink color is too 
light. it may not be 1''8ible to 'waste 
lwndl<:'N tJwt may be filling out tbe 
uHmife~t in dimly lit f>ituat.ions (e.g., 
inside of a truck). Rt'gistrtlots must 
ddermine th., appropriate ink color and 
the wxtpnt of scret'ning of t.he ink. if 
needed, to minimize bll:'ed throuSh but 
ensure legibility. 

The speciflcatjons .1t § 26:!.2t(t) leave 
" n lllnber of decisions to the 
l'egist.ranr.~·ii di~cr!:'tion that f>hould b(, 
fui:ther ciarifi"d. Thpse indud(' the 
foliowi 11g: 

Pap";' typ" ·. Regi5tnmts may "elect the 
appfopriat" type of pap,'r t<:> llt':e for their 
nl<!llih'~L As pro\'ided t1t 
~ 2G2.2ildli2}(iJ. EP;\. defia"f:' "pt1per 
type" to include the manufacturer of Ult' 
pap;,'r and grad(. of paper. EPA bas 
found that paper manufacturers 
gen"rally provid(:' a rang(:' of paper 
Brude;;. Th.,se grad(>:; may be O1or(:' or 
less appropritllt' for a six-part form. For 
example, the highest quality paperl' are 
generally the brightest (whitetlt). and 
h",nce, h,Uldwritten and typed imprintf> 
am W"lwrdlly most legibLe on them. In 
,lJditicn, the highest quality ctlrbo1l1ess 
[){lp"r~ Iwrm"lly contain the highest 
,UlJOlmt ()f coatinl:(, which results in t1 
mor!,' efft'!..liv(,' tr,;nsmissioll of inlprint 
from cup'.' t o copy. EPA belie\'es it is 
import.m! to hold regiSl.rilDts to th(.ir 
p"'F",r Iyp'" gd,,'ction. as provided under 
e;; 2fU.2'J[t:1. 5,) that they do not. switcb 
p"p('r tYl)P,; sllbseclul:'nl. to approval of 
thdr l(ll:'llS, unlesf> they seek EPA 
approvd of tbu ch8ng~ under 
§ 262.21(h)(:3). 

In HcLLr.ion. some papers may contain 
d r"ngp cf recvcled con tent. All 
comn;e;lto",: (~n the propotled rule 
be]i,,,''''! EP f\ should take tbe If:'ad on 
,,'ncc)\;r;<gins the \I~e of recycled paper. 
In filct. ,;n" COIlllnenter reconunended 
that EP.-~ n'qllire registrant.: to usp 
1'"JcyckJ p."pI,'f f'Jr manifest forms. EPA 
hilS not r.,.,bm t.his l'ecolIUnendation. 
wbich 8""" b",voud the scope of today's 
rulemnking. EPA noh'f>, however. that it 
has deVeloped guid(:'lines for federal 
procUrtJInt:llt of r(:,cycled-content paper 
\meitH' St,ction 6002 of RGRA. and section 
505 of EXtJcutive Ord(~r 13101. Under 
thHHe guidf'iilles. h"PA requires 
proGUI'iag agend!:'~ to buy uncoated 
printin)4 Cif,d 'writing grade pappr". such 
a~ tho"" u;;"d for manifpst fonllt', 
containiJlg ,lQ'\) POllt-consumer fiber. 
Trw ag,'ncy urge,; regi.;t.rants to consider 

for thp mallifpst recycled paper that 
mel:'ts the I'pecifications at § 26:!.21(f). 

Paper weigbt. Papt'r weight has 
several implications for Ule manifest. 
Lighter paper is genert111y tilinner. and 
tlll:'refore. it is oo~ier to make 
impressions copy-to-copy. However. if 
paper is too ligbt. it is prone to tearing 
in normal us!:' (f'.g .. tearing in an 
automatic-feed Gopier or wben 
detaching t1 cop,,: from tht:> manifest). 
Registrants must select a paper weigbt 
for eadl copy of the foml that conwys 
hand\'llTitten and typed impressions 
onto all six copil:'s, but that is also 
durable enough to withstand normal 
use. 10 evaluating existing manifest 
forms, EPA has found a n umber of fonns 
with varyiug papt1r weights tbat 
transmit impressions eff.,ctiYl:'ly. Oth!:'r 
forms consist of Pdper that is too heavy 
to produce legible bottom copies. We 
altW have found form...:; with paper that 
i..:; too fragile and t.ears pat;jJy. B,'(;ause of 
th" wide range of pap"r w!:'ights Ulat 
result in legible bottom copietl of tlle 
manife"t. EPA has refrained from 
prescribing a paper weight and Jeav(:'s 
this decision to the registrant. Howpver, 
EPA believes it if:' importtlnt 1.0 hold 
regi~trants to their paper weight 
selection, as providpd undpr § 262.21{e), 
so that thl:'y do not switch paper weights 
subsequent to approval of their fonns. 
unletls tlley seek EPA approval oJ the 
chan~es under ~ 262.21(h)(3). 

Ink color of tilt' manifest instructions. 
:\." described earlier. tbe in~tructions on 
the back of the m>lnife .. "t must 1)B light 
enough so that they do not; (1) Show 
through on t.he fro;lt (e.!! .. printed in 
bld(.k ink in a light poougb screen to 
appear as light gray so that photocopiers 
and .. cannEl"" do not pick up th .. text); 
or. (2) interfere with the transmission of 
the inltlge from copy to copy (.a-S .. from 
copy 4 to c.'Opy 5) wben the manifetlt is 
filled out. Thp instructions also must be 
legiblp. 

EPA htls not prellcribed an ink color 
or ink darkness. W(:' recognize that the 
approprit1te ink color tlud darklle5f:' will 
depend on. tlt the l..-a..;r. the paper wt>ight 
of dtlch (;"py. B",(:(luse we do not 
pr"scribe paper weight, w<> do not 
prpscribe ink color or darkness. 
However, w(:' hold r<:,gitltrtlnts to their 
ink color. all provided wlder ~ 262.21(e). 
so that tbey do not s\-\'Uch ink colors 
subsequent to approval of their Jonns. 
unletls t11(:,y seek EPA appl'oval of the 
changes under § 262.21(h)(3}. 

Binding JIlethod o!JIlanifest copit;>';. 
Some manifest fomls are currently 
printed on continuous forms with side 
perforations. Others att' printed on 
indhidut11 tonus (unit sets), which are 
typically bound on top. Continuous 
forms f<t"neraJlY are intpnd(:'d for use 

with contin uous fped printers (such a...:; 
imptlct printers). whereas llnit sels are 
t1ppropriate for typpwriterl' and manunl 
completion. Because SOlne users prefer 
one type of binding or the otber, \W 

belie\'e it would bp too constraining lo 
require only on(:' type. Th(:'reforp. we 
If'ave the binding of the fonn to 
rf'gistrant discn,tion. However. we are 
cocncl:'fll!:'d tbat. ~ome rtlgistrants migbt 
choost> to crimp I]lt' sheet.s together bu t 
not glue them. thereby increasing tbe 
likelihood of t11(:, pages inadvert.ently 
separating during normal use. In 
addition, some registrants might bind 
top boulld fomls without. a stuh by 
"edge gluing." The edge gluing method 
i~ typically used for fomls tbat. ha\'e few 
pages. but could conceivably be tried for 
a SLx-part fonn. Edge-glued fomls arp 
llnaccepttlble for Dlanifetlt purposes and 
are nol allowed be.;ause tbe sheets 
bef;ome loosp when one ply is fpmoved. 
Tberdore. the rule provides t.hat "cQpief:' 
must bt, bound togeUler by one Qr more 
common stub1' thnt real'onablv enf>ure 
that they will not l)Bcomp detacbE.-d 
iuadwrtently duriug normal use." 
AlUlOUgh we do not prescribe a binding 
method, we hold regitrtrtlllts to the 
binding method of their approved 
fonns. all pwdded wlder § 263.21(e). so 
that the\' do not switch met.hods 
subseql;pnt to EPA approval, unlest< 
they seek EPA approval of the changes 
under ~ 262.21(h)(3). 

TV. Rejected Loud and Container 
Residup Shipmt>nts 

.'\.1. Rejer-ted Load and Contain,!T 
Re,;ici!JI" Bhipmelltb~lntroductioll. In 
thp Ma~' 2001 NPR!vI. we proposed to 
improve the traddng of certain 
problplllatic ba2Ardoll" wa~t.. "hi prn .. ntg 
known as "rpjected loads" or "container 
rl:'sidues" by addinj;( data elements to 
the manHes't form f~r idelltifying 
rpjected 'wastes and residues and by 
clarifying the manifetlt requirempnts and 
pro(;(:'dures for tracking thooe wastes. In 
tIlf' proposal. we discutltled container 
residue as "the hazardoull waste that 
rl:'mains in containers such as drums 
and in veh.icles UB6d for transport (such 
as tanker cars or box cars) after most of 
the contents of the container have been 
removed.'- TheRe rellidues rot1V bp 
difficult to rpmove because th~ contents 
may havp congealed and the receiving 
facility may not have tile equipment to 
completely PnIpty the container. As a 
result. tbe containpr may contain more 
waste that] the regulatory. th.rpf>hold 
allows for meeting the RCRA definition 
of "empty," that is, IDorethan 3'i" oftl 
ht1zardous wastp in a containpr lpss th.m 
or equal to 119 gtlllons, or more tilan 
0.;1':';' of a hazardous wa..'lte in a 
container grpalt,r t.han 119 galloos, and 
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additi(Jll(l1 fIO/HIO daVIi to locatt' IlU 

alh'rnate facility. Fir~t. tbe 90/HI0 day 
tilnefrarnb "lm"ch (.xi;;ts under tll(> 
<lxi~tin8 40 CJ'R 26:!.34 accmnulation 
provisions. and we do not belit'vt' wt' 
han' ;;llfficient record to support a 
shorter time fraIm>. Second. gi ven thllt 
the 8cm6rator will have to make new 
8rrang(,'ments witb Il hauler to trllnsport. 
the wdste off·sito and arrange with an 
alternate facilitv to receive tJlf.> 
shipment. it ha~ e;;sontiaHy begun a new 
"vent. Therefore. the contingencies and 
timing "ff"c;ting the original time frame 
no longbr applies to tht' ret.urned 
shipl1wnr Based on these factors. 
toduy·..; nIt,,, grants generators .ll) 
ildditioHili 90/180 davs to sf.>nd the 
waste ,.,hi pmellt t.o al; nlternate facility. 

5. CUlIL'llcmt Analysis and Final 
Staging of Wa"te of the Rejecting 
Fa cilit\·. Tll genclnlL commenters 
8upportod our proposal. but some 
express~'d COllcern that. the qualitative 
term ,·timtJlv manner" has too broad a 
range of im~rpwtatiQn. since tbe tenn is 
not de,,,:l,, defined. EPA agrees with 
t1:e6'~ commenters and has thus revised 
Ii 264.7::(d)(1) to include a default 
timefram." uf 60 daHl. Conuuenters 
difft'lx,d fin th" length of time that EPA 
should grant. a f(~iecting facility 1.0 stnge 
t.he rf+"ctt,d load or container residue 
t:;hi pm"",; , Several CQlIUllente~ 
suggestt>d that EPA grant tbe rejecting 
h\cilit.j ,Jej days 1.0 st.age the rejected 
waste 0,- ('ontainer rf.>~idue so that tbev 
could f('c()Il(;ile t.he problem shipment 
with the g,,'norat.or. forward it to nn 
alt.Hrniite 'j'aciIHv or rC:'tufll it to tJle 
generaL,,!. Thd;'~' COmD.1C:'nl.e.rs stated that 
without ,,,:equatC:' time. the rejecting 
hlcilitv.J()u!d have no chQice but to 
r"turr: ,;'" shipnlent. to tbe generator, 
Ot h dl' cCJ:] cUbnters suggested shorter 
tim"frc,Lk.C;. ranging from 10 to 30 days. 
pointlns Oed. that tIl<.' TSDF can return 
t.he was,'" to the g(~nf:'rntor if th('y can nQt 
locate 'iE c,hernat.e facility. 

:\ft<',1' '::1,dyzing cOlruntlnts. EPA 
bf'lif'\'('~ GO days if! t::ufiici{'nt time for 
the ::·oj ','.:1 :::;:; TSDF 1.0 consultwitlJ the 
genera:, . .'L locate an alternnte facilitv 
~nd fon' ',ld the shipment or rerum'it to 
the 3eu,.'ator. While we unde.rstand tlJat 
thdf(c it' ,,(':',le precedent for a 90-day 
acc lUnu ~i, • lOll period for generators 
when tL,\' initiallv nccLlInulate their 
wastes , .. ;,~jti:'. we' beliC:'ve tbat. tllere are 
di;;tinSl,i>;Ling ieBtures which we 
b",!ievp , "r' port a 60·dny limit. on 
sl<iging il ff:'jecting TSDF. First. there 
ert' \'ery management controls on 
temporu, ~ 3taging of rejected wastes by 
TSDFs. ,,,;, opposed to the detailed 
technic", n'quiremeots tlJat apply to 
gtmerato,~ accmuula.tion wlder 40 CFR 
262.34(,.j. Since tbere dre fC:'w 
requir.-nr.c,uts imposed 011 TSDF staging. 

we believe that a shortt'r time period for 
temporary !!taging of rejected 'wilstes if! 
appropri'lte, particularly given tbat such 
wastes may be rejected because the 
TSDF lacks ilutborization 10 manage 
them undC:'r its RCRA permit. Second. 
TSDFtl rejt'Gting wailte are usually mucb 
more familiar with the waste 
management ind usl.ry than arf:' 
generators. TSDFs deal with waste 
trall~porters and otlJer waste 
luanagement facilitif:'!! as a matter of 
r..oursC:'. so the logistic.s of arrnllging tlJe 
forwarding 0'1' return of temporarily 
staged wastes should not raise difficult 
issues for tllf:' TSDF. Finnllv. in most 
r..ases. tll<:' rejf:'ct.ing TSDF c~n ret.urn thC:' 
stnsed waste to the. generator. if it is not 
abl" to find an alternate facility. We 
hnve. also revised the regulation to 
clarih' tllat tht1 TSDF does not n€'ed. 
permiSSion to' return tbe shipment to the 
generator. 

'Va are aware that some states 
currently allow TSDFs to stage rejected 
waste shipments at their facility. but by 
regulntion or by permit restrict the 
shlging times to significantly less tlJan 
60 days. We acknow le.dge that a staging 
timeframe of less than 60 da:-.·s (e..g .. 10 
or :30 days) may be adt'qunte time in 
some. in..,lances. HQwever. basC:'d on 
comments. Wf:' b"lieve that ~Gheduling 
dHficulties. preparation of new wash' 
profilC:'s. Qr other unforseen 
circunJ!!tances rna\' aris" tbat could 
requirC:' TSDFs to st.age a rt'jected wdste 
or residue for a Ilumbt-r of wef.>ks. In 
such illstdncC:'~. tl shorter timeir-dJU'" 
would not nfford tht' TSDF ndequate 
time to r€'condlt' tJu:' l'€'jected. shipment 
or residue. We belif:'ve the detault 60-
dny time limit will prQvidC:' rf:'jectill8 
facilities sufJldent tinl'" to reconcile 
such shipments and forward tlJem to' an 
alternate facilil~·. 

V. FinalliJllnanifl~sted Waste Reporting 
Re(luirenwnts 

In the Ma\' :!001 NPRl\f. EPA. 
proposed to'revise the unmanifested 
wast", reporting requir€'ment at 
§ § 264.76 for pemlitted fdcilities and 
26S.76 for interim status facilititls. 
Sections 264.76 and 265.76 currenth 
require TSDFs to subntit nil ' 
wlmauifested waste report to tlle 
Regional Admillioltrator on EPA form 
S700-13B v.'itllin 15 davs nfter tllf:'V 
have rf:'r..aive.d Il waste shipment without 
a manifest. SpecificaH~ .. the propo~al 
removC:'d tbe reguirf:'mf>nt that the TSDF 
use EPA form 8700-1.1B to submit its 
uomanifested report. dnd proposed thdt 
tJl€' TSDF submit either a typf:'d. 
htllldwritt<m or t:lectronic. not.e. The 
typed. handwrittf:'n or electronic note 
must be legible. and must contain tlJe 
following infomlation: (a) Tbe EPA ill 

NlUllber. nnme and addret;" of th€' 
facility: (bJ The date. tlJe facility reeeivf:'d 
tht? wash'; (e) The EPA ill Nwnber. 
nam". and address of tlle generntor and 
thf.> trantlportt1r. if avnilablt'; (d) A 
descri ption and the quantity of t'acb 
unmanifested hazardous watlte tbe 
facility rf:'ce.ived; le) The metlJod of 
treiltment. storage. or disposal for each 
hazardous "vast!:'; (f) The certification 
Signed by I.hC:' owner 0'1' operator of the 
facility Qr his authoriz"d repres(·ntntive; 
and 19) A brief f.>xplanation of wby the 
Wa!!t(, was llumanifested. if known. 

Wf:' explained in the proposal thnt the 
umnaniff.>Stf:'d requirements the Agency 
,nJnollllced in tbe fanuar\' 28. 198;l FR 
tbilt it was deleting EPA form 8700-laB 
dnd its predect'!,!!Qr. EPA form a700-B. 
which had appearC:'d ill tlJe. May 19. 
1980 FR. Altllough both fonDS Wf:'r" 
linh,d to anllual repQrting requirelDents 
at that time and were supposed to be 
adapted for wunanifested wnste 
repolting. WC:' d€'leted them due to tlJe. 
change from annual to bif:'nnial 
reporting. We never publishC:'d a n~ ... 
fonn for wllIlallifested waste reporting 
and the form now required for biennial 
reporting. EPA form l:JOO-AIB. 
"Hazard au..., W,lste Report Instructions 
and Forms." is not. adaptable for 
llllmanifested WdSte rt'porting. AltllOligh 
we never publish€.-d a replacement form 
for reporting urunanifested wa..~te. the 
regulation,; still required this form 
wbich is g,,>nerally wlavailable to thost? 
sf.>ekin~ a copy. 

Tht' final rule retains the propo..'!"d 
mIDlanifest.ed rC:'porting requirements at 
40 CPR 264.76 and 265.76. Cornnlenters 
g€'neraUy supported our uumanifested 
repolting approach, However. sevt>ral 
conune.ntt:rs t:;xpres8ed r.onceru or rai.....,~d 
sUBS""tion .. .; 011 the proposf:'d proced ures 
for mIDlanifdst"d wastt'!! f(.porL ... :\ 
nUIllbt'r of conunellteril sugge!'ted tbat 
EPA Nwi!'e tbe manift-!'t so that an 
unmdnif€'!!tC:'d l'''port CQuid be 
·'u11submitt.ed'· using n manifest (f'.S" 
Ullin.,;: a check box). While we appreciate 
this suggt?stion. EPA does not believe 
th<lt it if' a workable option. One 
commenter expressed concern tlJat the. 
proposed procedures did not ofiC:'r a 
standard reporting approach. which 
could lead to data quality problems. The 
CfJl1JIUenter suggested tllat TSDFs 
pro\'ide a report using r..ompany 
It'tterhend nnd iligned. by a company 
official. We do not agree v.'itb t.he 
suggestion and are not convinced that 
ddt" entry proble.ms may result from Hlf.> 
proposed approach. 

VI. Administration and Enfor('..emt~ut of 
These Regulatory Chan~es in Ibe Stales 

:\, UnilorJ1l .1.pplicahilif)F oj'Rf:\-i8t>d 
Manite!>'1 Requirelllent" in All States. In 
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JI'"IENDF.TORY SECTION (Amending Order 97 -03, f:'led 1/12/98, effect:. ve 
::::/1.::::/98) 

WAC 173-303-017 Recycling processes involving solid waste. 
(1.) The purpose of this section is to identify those materials that 
are and are not solid wastes when recycled. Certain materials, as 
described in subsection (:) of this section, would not typically be 
considered to involve waste management and are exempt from the 
requirements of this chapter. All recycling processes not exempted 
by subsection (::::) of this section are subject to the recycling 
re q uirements of WAC 173-303-1:0. 

(2) General categories of materials that are not solid waste 
':.Then recycled. 

(a) Except as provided in subsectic'n (3) of this section, 
materials are not solid wastes when they can be sho·wn to be 
recycled by being: 

(i) Used or reused as ingredients in an industrial process to 
make a product provided the materials are not being reclaimed; or 

(ii) Used or reused as effective substitutes for commercial 
products; or 

(iii) Returned to the original process from which they are 
generated, without first being reclaimed or land disposed. The 
material must be returned as a substitute for fee:istc·ck materials. 
In cases where tI:e ori·gir.al process tc ',.;hieI: the material is 
returned is a secondary process, the ma~erials must be ma~aged such 
tbat there is no placement on the land. 

(b) Except as provided in subsection (3) of this section, the 
department has determined that the following materials when used as 
described are not solid wastes: 

(i) Pulping liquors (e.g., black liquor) that are reclaimed in 
a pulping liquor recovery furnace and then reused in the pulping 
process; 

(ii) Spent pickle liquor which is reused in wastewater 
t ::-eatmer.t at a facility holding a national pellutant discharge 
el~mina::ion system (NPDES) perm': t, r.::.:" ''''hieh is being accumulated, 
s~ored, or treated before such reuse; 

(iii) Spent sulfur:ic ac':ci used. tc produce virgir. sl1l:ur:"c 
ac::~d .. 

(3) The following materials are solid wastes, even if the 
recycling involves use, reuse, or return to the original process 
(as described in SUbsection (2) (a) of this section): 

(a) Materials used in a manner constituting disposal, or used 
to produce products that are applied to the land; or 

(b) Materials burned for energy recovery, used to produce a 
::: '.'e1, or contained in fuels; or 

(c) Materials accumulated speculatively as ·:iefi~ed ir.. WAC ::'73-
::. · ~I 3 - J 1 6 ( 5) (d) (i i); 0 r 
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describe the signal(s) to be used to begin evacuation, evacuation 
routes, and alternate evacuation routes. 

(4) Copies of contingency plan. A copy of the contingency 
plan and all revisions to the plan must be: 

(a) Maintained at the facility; and 
(b) Submitted to all local police departments, fire 

departments, hospitals, and state and local emergency response 
teams that may be called uporc to provide emergency services. 

(5) Amendments. The owner or operator m'.lst review and 
ihnediately amend the contircgency plan, if necessary, whenever: 

(a) Applicable regulations or the facility permit are revised; 
(b) The plan fails in an emergency; 
(c) The facility changes (in its design, construction, 

ope ration, maintenance, or other circumstances) in a way that 
materially increases the potential for fires, explosions, or 
releases of dangerous waste or dangerous waste constituents, or in 
a way that changes the resporcse necessary in an emergency; 

(d) The list of emergency coordinators changes; or 
(e) The list of emergency equipment changes. 

N~ENDATORY SECTION (Amending Order 03-10, filed 11/30/04, effective 
1/1/0 5) 

WAC 173-303-370 Manifest system. (l) Applicability. The 
reqUirements of this section apply to owners and operators who 
r2ceive dangerous waste from off-site SOUrces. If a facil" ty 
rece ives dangerous waste accompanied by a man" fest, the owner, 
ope rator, or his/her agerct must sign and date the man ~ fest as 
indicated in subsectiorc (:) of this section to certify that the 
da.ngerous waste covered by the man~ fes"C. was received, that the 
danaerous waste was received except as noted in the discrepancy 
soace of the manifest, or that the dangerous waste was rejected as 
noted in the manifest discrepancy space. 

(::~) If a facility receives dangerous waste shipment 
accompanied by a manifest, the owner «(or).L. operator, 0::: «(tri-s) 
cneir agent, must: 

(a) Sign and date, by hand, each copy of the manifest ((te 
ce_ tifil that the danger"\:l~ wa~te covered b~' tl.e !uall':"fe!.t ~a~ 

.Leceived»)i 
(b) Note any ( (~igLifical1t) ) discreparccies «it. the 

LA!" fe~tf » .las «de .~cribed») defined in subsectio n «-t4-T) (5) (a) 
c ~ this section((T»~ on each copy of the manifest; 

(c) Immediately give the transporter at least one copy of the 
i (0':"glied» manifest; 

(d) Within thirty days ((after tLe) of delivery, send a copy 
c~ the manifest to the generator; and 

(e) Retain at the facility a copy of each manifest for at 
least three years from the date of delivery. 
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(3) If a facility receives hazardous waste imported -From a 
-" o reign source, the receiv1 ncr facility must mail a coPy of the 
man;fest to the following address within thirtv days of delivery: 
In ternational Compliance Assurance Division, OFA/OECA (2254A), u.s. 
En v ironmental Protection Agencv, Ariel Rios Building, 1:00 
PEnnsylvania Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20460 . 

.ill If a facility receives, from a rail or water (bulk 
s h i pment) transporter, dangerous waste which is accompanied by a 
manifest or shipping paper containing all the in:ormatio~ required 
en the manifest (excluding the EPA/state identification numbers, 
generator's certification, and signatures), the owner or operator, 
(Jr bis or her agent, must: 

(a) Sign and date each copy of the manifest or shipping paper 
. _ c ertify that the dangerous 'oITaste covered by the manifest or 
snipping paper was received; 

(b) Note any significant o:.screpancies in the manifest or 
sb ipping paper, as described in subsection «#7-» ..i.§l of this 
se c tion, cn each copy of the manifest or shipping paper; 

(c) Immediately give the rail or water (bulk shipment) 
transporter at least one copy of the manifest or shipping paper; 

(d) Within thirty days after the delivery, send a copy of the 
s"'-- gned and dated manifest or a signed and dated CODY of the 
s h ipping paper (if the manifest has not been rece i ved within thirty 
-ciavs after del i very l to the generator ( ( . Howe ve~, if the mdnifes t 
"5 Lot ~eceived lIIithin thirt~ da~.~ aiter the delive '1, the. ownEr 0 

'~l_ ~raeoy, or hi~ agent, lntlst ~end a copy of the ~igned and dated 
,0; :1' pping paper to the generator»; and 

(e) Retain at the facility a copy of each shipping paper and 
ranifest for at least three years from the date of delivery. 

«T+t» ..i.§l Manifest discrepancies. 
(a) Manifest discrepancies are~ 
(i) Significant «dis ..... l.epanc":'es» dif+e ~ence5 (as defined 'n 

,bJ of this subsection) between the quant~ty 0= type of dangerous 
~"3s te designated on the manifest or S11:"ppir-.g paper.L. an':l t11e 
quanti ty «err» and type of dangerous wa3te a facility actually 
'::"Ecei ves1.. 

(ii) Rejected wastes, wh~ch may be a full or partial shipment 
f ~ d anaerous waste that the TSDF cannot accept; or 

(iii) Container residues, which are residues that exceed the 
G,_~antity limits for "empty" conta; ners set -Forth in WAC 173-303-
.' ,-:. J (2) • 

J..l2..L Significant «di~crepa!Icie~» di -F-Ferences in quanti ty are ..... 
[ ;=r bulk waste, variatior:s greater than ten percent in T~eight «"f-o'r 
Ll~k quantities» «((e-:-g-:-» for example, tanker trucks, railroad 
L~n k cars, etc.) «,.--o-r»; for batch waste, any variations i.n piece 
cc:,unt ({fOI 110Ilbul1c qaalltities (i .e., a112 In155ing cOI.i.taillek 0 1 
r:ackage wotlld be a !!ignificant disc. epar..cy) } ) , such as a 
a: screpancy of one drum in a truckload. Significant 
; , .,;i ;!'crepa!1cie!!» differences in type are obvious «ph~sical o!. 

"-;euical» differences which can be discovered by inspection or 
', aste analysis «( (e . g., » such as waste solvent substituted for 
~.·'-;-=: te acid({r», or toxic constituents not reoorted on the manifest 
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or shipping paper. 
( (ibT)) .l£l. Upon discovering a significant ((d':'screpallCl'» 

d i fference in quantity or type, the owner or operator must attempt 
t o reconcile the discrepancy with the waste generator «and» or 
transporter. If the discrepancy is not resolved within fifteen 
day s after receiving the waste, the owner or operator must 
irrilllediately submit to the department a letter describing the 
discrepancy and attempts to reconcile it, and a copy of the 
manifest or shipping paper at issue. 

«-t5-)-» (d) (i) Upon rejecting waste or -identifying a containe"'" 
res·due that exceeds the guantity limits for "empty" containers set 
-"" c,r th in WAC 173-303-160 (~), the facility must consult with the 
generator prior to forwarding the waste to another facility that 
~?n manage the waste. If it 1S impossible to locate an alternative 
facility that can receive the waste, the facility may return the 
relected waste or residue to the generator. The facility must send 
t ne waste to the alternative facility or to the generator within 
~i xtv days of the rejection or the container residue 
;dentification. 

(ii) While the facility is making arrangements for forwarding 
rPlected wastes or residues to another facility under this section, 
.; -: must ensure that either the delivering transporter retains 
custody of the waste, or the fac i lity must provide for secure, 
temporary custody of the waste, pending delivery of the waste to 
tne first transporter designated on the manifest preoared under (e) 
c~ (f) of this subsection. 

(e) Except as provided in (e) (vii) of this sect'on, for full 
c~ oartial load reiections and residues that are to be sent off-
2~ te to an alternate facility, the facility is required to prepare 
2. ,:e''; manifest in accordance with WAC 173-303-180 and the following 
1!:.st'rl1ctions: 

(i) Write the generator's U.S. EPA/state ID number in Item 1 
c';: the new manifest. Write the generator's !:ame and mailing 
s~dress ~n Item 5 of the new man!fest. If the ma~l~ng address ~s 
c~ ~rerent from the generator's site address, then write the 
q~neratorrs site address in the designated space :cr Item 5. 

(ii) Write the name of the alternate desigr.ated facility and 
t)"e facility's U.s. EPA 10 number in the desig!:ated facil;ty block 
__ ,-t::em 8) of the new manifest. 

(iii) Copy the manifest tracking number found in Item 4 of the 
La manifest to the special handling and additional information 
t e ek of the new manifest, and indi cate that the shipment is a 
r~sidue or rejected waste from the previous shipment. 

(iv) Copy the manifest tracking number found in Item 4 of the 
",2';,·/ r.1anifest to the manifest reference numbe~ line in the 

5crepancy block of the old manifest (Item 18a) . 
(v) Write the DOT descript 1 0n for the relected load or the 

residue on Item 9 (U.S. DOT Descriptio!:) cf the new manifest and 
~ ~' te the container types, quantity, and volume(s) of waste. 

(vi) Sign the generator's/offeror's certification to certify, 
2 '~, the offeror of the shipment, that the waste has been properly 
k6ckaged, marked and labeled and is in proper condition for 
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c:.ransportation. 
(vii) For full load rej ections that are made while the 

t::ansporter remains present at the facil'; tv, the facility may 
~ ::)rward the rejected shipment to the alternate facility by 
c C'ffipletir.g Item 19b of the original man'; fest and suppl vina the 
.i :-: .parmation on the next destination OPaci Ii tv in the alternate 
~ ac~lity space. The facility must retain a copy 0& this manifest 
~o r its records, and then give the remair.ing copies of the manifest 
t") the transporter to accompany the shipment. If the origi nal 
~:anifest ; s not used, then the facility must use a new man; fest and 
c ")r.1plv'lIlith (e)(i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v), and (vi) of this 
c . .Jbsection. 

(f) Except as provided in (f) (vii) of thi s subsection, for 
.': eiected wastes and res i dues that must be sent back to the 
cenerator, the facilitv is required to prepare a new manifest in 
Q·::: c ordance wi th WAC 173-303-180 and the To11o'.oJina instructions: 

(i) Write the facility's U.S. EPA 1'1 numbe~ ~n -;tem 1 of the 
~ew manifest. Write the generator's name and mailing address in 
=~em 5 of the new manifest. lOP the mailina address is di&ferent 
~~om the generator's site address, then write the aenerator's site 
acdress in the designated space for Item 5. 

(ii) Write the name of the initial aenerator and the 
C':Jl e r ator's U.S. EPA ID number in the designated facility block 
'T t em 8) of the new manifest. 

(iii) Copy the manifest tracking number found in Item 4 of the 
~~,::i man i fest to the special handling and additional information 
t ·c·ck of the new manifest, and indicate 'Chat the shioment is a 
>?s "due or rejected waste from the previous shipment. 

( iv) Copv the manifest tracking number found in Item 4 of the 
", e ,,; manifest to the manifest reference number line .; n the 
~ ' s crepancy block of the old manifest (Item 18a). 

(v) Write the DOT description for the rejected load or the 
:_-= 3" due in Item 9 (U. S. DOT Description) of the new mani fest and 
,.,C te the container types, quantity, and volume (s) of waste. 

(vi) Sign the generator's/offeror's certi~ication to certify, 
c ;c. offeror of the shipment, that the waste has been properly 
G2c kaaed, marked and labeled and is in prope!:' condition for 
:- ·-;:o nsportation. 

(vii) For full load rejec'Cions that are made while the 
trans porter remains at t~e facility, the !ac' l itv mav retur~ the 
:: :.: - pment to the generator ·with the or-i ginal manifest by completing 
,,:.:::em 1 Sa and ISb of the manifest and supplying the generator's 
' ~Formation in the alternate facility space. The facility must 
,£:c' t ain a copy for ; ts records and then give the remaining copies of 
t:,e manifest to the transporter to accompany the shipment. If the 
c~" qinal manifest is not used, then the facility must use a new 
[ i'J-, ifest and comply with (f) (il, (ii), (iii), (iv), (v), and (vi) 
~~ chis subsection. 

(a) If a facility reiects a waste or ;dentifies a container 
Y2s ' d ue that exceeds the QUantity limits f o r "empty" containers set 
:" -.. 2: th i n WAC 173-303-1.60 ("') a""ter it has signed, dated, and 
~~:- u~ned a copy of the manifest to the delive-ina transporter or to 
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the generator, the facility must amend its COPy of the manifest to 
indicate the rejected wastes or residues in the discrepancy space 
of the amended manifest. The facility must also copy the manifest 
tracking number from Item 4 of the new manifest to the discrepancy 
space of the amended manifest, and must re-siqn and date the 
manifest to certify to the information as amended. The facility 
must retain the amended manifest for at least three years from the 
Q",te of amendment, and must within thi-rty days, send a COPy of the 
amended manifest to the transporter and generator that received 
cor=:-' es prior to their being amended . 

..l.ll Reasons for not accepting ·:iangerous waste shipment:s. The 
owner or operator may decide that a dangerous shipment should not 
be accepted by his facility. 

(a) The following are acceptable reasons for denying receipt 
c f a dangerous waste shipment: 

(i) The facility is not capable of properly managing the 
:- ::.:;e (s) of dangerous waste in the shipment; 

(ii) There is a significant discrepancy (as described in 
s~lbsection «i+T» J.a of tl:is section) between the shipment and 
-~e wastes listed on the manifest or shipping paper; or 

(iii) The shipment has arrived in a condition whicl: the owner 
_ _ operator believes would present an unreasonable hazard t':·, 
fac ~lity operations, or "Co facilit:y personnel handling the 
".?ngerous waste (5) (including, but not limited to, leaking or 
':-''3J1aged containers, and improperly labeled cont:ainers) . 

(b) The owner or operator may send the shipment on to the 
alternate facility designated on the manifest or shipping paper, or 
c)ntact the generator to identify another facility capable of 
r.andling the waste and provide for its delivery to that other 
fac~lity, unless, the containers are damaged to such an exten~, or 
~ne dangerous waste is in such a condition as to present a hazard 
to the public health or the environment in the process of further 
... : a'lsporta tion. 

(0) If the dangerous -waste ~h:'pment: Gannc~ leave Ll;.e fa':;il~ty 

~~r tl,e reasons described ir_ (b) c,f this subsection, then the o'..;ner 
c= operator must take those actior.s described in t:he cor.tingency 
p::"3.D, WAC 173-303-350 (3) (b) . 

( (+6+» .ill Within three working days of the receipt of a 
s ::-lipment subj ect to 40 CFR part :2 62, subpart H (which is 
:'.~,c:orporated by reference at WAC 173-303-230 (1)), the owner or 
c\;er3. tor of the facility must provide a copy of the tracking 
d:Jcument bearing all required signatures to the notifier, to the 
O=fice of Enforcement ar.d Compliance Assurance, Office of 
C~ ='npl iance, Enforcement Planning, Targeting and Data Division 
. -=' ~:2P..), Environmental Protection Agency, :...200 Pennsylvania Ave., 

~'1\'y \,oJashington, D.C. :0460, and to competent authorities of all 
.~= her concerned countries. 'I'he original copy of tt<e tracking 
::L cument must be maintained at the facility for at least three 
y~~rs from the date of signature. 

(8) A facility must determine whether the consignment state 
~-:,- a shipment regulates anv additional wastes (beyond those 
LC::CTulated federally) as hazardous wastes under ,ts state hazardous 
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'it.:c ste program. Facilities must also determine ' .... hether the 
cc nsignment state or generator state regui V'es the facility to 
submit any copies of the manifest to these states. 

]:.'·lENDATORY SECTION (Amending Order 03-10, filed 11/30/04, effective 
1. / l/05) 

WAC 173-303-380 Facility recordkeepinq. (1) Operating 
Lccord. The owner or operator of a facility must keep a written 
~'~::;2rating record at their facility. The following in::ormation must 
De recorded, as it becomes available, and maim:ained in the 
operating record until closure of the facility: 

(a) A description of and the quantity of each dangerous waste 
~eseived or managed on-site, and the method(s) and date(s) of its 
':: .c eatment, storage, or disposal at the facility as required by 
subsection (:) of this section, recordkeeping instructions; 

(b) The location of each dangerous waste within the facility 
ari d the quantity at each location. For disposal facilities, the 
18cation and quantity of each dangerous waste must be ::::ecorded on 
_ map or diagram of each cell or disposal area. Fo:::: all 
: a c ilities, this information must include cross-references to 
s pecific manifest document numbers, if the waste was accompanied by 
a manifest; 

(0) Records and results of waste analyses, waste 
~eL2::::minations (as required by 40 CFR Parts 264 and 265, Subpart 
~-: ), and trial tests required by WAC 173-303-300, General waste 
:?nalysis, and by 40 CFR sections ::64.1034, ::64.1.063, :64.1083, 
: 65.1034, :65.1063, 265.1084, 268.4(a), and :68.7. Note that data 
'Crom laboratory analyses for 40 CFR "'68.4 (a) and ..... 68.7 must meet 
t~e requirements of WAC 173-303-110; 

(d) Summary reports and details of all incidents that require 
=- E'lp lementing the contingency plan, as specified ':"'n WAC 173-303-360 
· : ){ k ); 

(e) Records and results of :"nspeotions as required by WAC 2.73-
~ j3 -320 (2) (d), General inspection (except such information need be 
\ep t only for five years); 

(f) Monitoring, testing, or analytical data, and corrective 
~ct ion where required by 40 CFR Part :65 Subparts F through Rand 
~e ctions ::65.1034 (c) through (f), 265.1035, :65.1063 (d) through 
ii, 265.1064, and :65.1083 through ~65.1090 for interim status 

:c&cilities (incorporated by reference at WAC 173-303-400 (3») I and 
~y WAC 173-303-630 through 173-303-695 and 40 CFR sections :64.1034 
' c) through (f), :64.1035, :64.:063 (d) through (i), 264.1064, and 
:6 4.1082 through :64.1090 for final status facilities (incorporated 
_~"/ 'eference at WAC 173-303-690, 173-303-691, and t 73-303-69:) . 

; '-:'·;::2 tr:.at data provided from laboratory analyses ::or WAC 173-303-
~J J(3) which incorporates by reference 40 CFR Part :65 Subparts F 
-.:,,, rough R, WAC 173-303-140 (4) (b), 173-303-395 (1), 173-303-630 

[ 129 ] ot OTS-1348.10 
EXHIBIT __ I_ 

:>AGE 7 OF 7 


